Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Langowska, A., Zawilak, M/, Sparks, T., Glazaczow, A., Tomkins, P. W. and Tryjanowski, P.

Published PDF deposited in Coventry University's Repository

Original citation:

Chen, X, Jiang, X, Yang, M, Gonzalez, U, Lin, X, Hua, X, Xue, S, Zhang, M & Bennett, C 2016, 'Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children' *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, vol 5, CD004685 http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004685.pub3

DOI 10.1002/14651858.CD004685.pub3 ISSN 1469-493X

Publisher: Cochrane Collaboration

Copyright © and Moral Rights are retained by the author(s) and/ or other copyright owners. A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge. This item cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the copyright holder(s). The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.



Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Chen X, Jiang X, Yang M, González U, Lin X, Hua X, Xue S, Zhang M, Bennett C

Chen X, Jiang X, Yang M, González U, Lin X, Hua X, Xue S, Zhang M, Bennett C. Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 5. Art. No.: CD004685. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004685.pub3.

www.cochranelibrary.com

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR THE MAIN COMPARISON	4
BACKGROUND	7
OBJECTIVES	8
METHODS	8
RESULTS	10
Figure 1	11
Figure 2	14
Figure 3	15
ADDITIONAL SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	27
DISCUSSION	36
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	39
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	40
REFERENCES	40
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	44
DATA AND ANALYSES	87
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks	
follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure	92
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks	
follow-up, Outcome 2 Primary outcome: adverse events	93
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks	
follow-up, Outcome 3 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only	94
Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1 Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks	
follow-up, Outcome 4 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.	95
Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium	
treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological	
cure	96
Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium	
treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Primary outcome: drug-related adverse events	97
Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium	
treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up, Outcome 3 Primary outcome: severe adverse events	97
Analysis 2.4. Comparison 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium	
treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up, Outcome 4 Secondary outcomes: proportion of participants with clinical	
cure only	98
Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Terbinafine, medium- (6-8 weeks) and long-term (10-12 weeks) treatment versus griseofulvin	
in Microsporum infections; 10-16 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and	
mycological cure	99
Analysis 3.2. Comparison 3 Terbinafine, medium- (6-8 weeks) and long-term (10-12 weeks) treatment versus griseofulvin	
in Microsporum infections; 10-16 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only	100
Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Terbinafine, short-term versus long-term for treating Trichophyton and Microsporum	
infections; 12-20 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.	101
Analysis 4.2. Comparison 4 Terbinafine, short-term versus long-term for treating Trichophyton and Microsporum	
infections; 12-20 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only	102
Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5 Terbinafine standard dose versus double dose in Microsporum infections; 20 weeks follow-up,	
Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure	103
Analysis 6.1. Comparison 6 Itraconazole (6 and 2 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton and Microsporum	
infections, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.	103
Analysis 6.2. Comparison 6 Itraconazole (6 and 2 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton and Microsporum	
infections, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only	104
Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)	i

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Analysis 6.3. Comparison 6 Itraconazole (6 and 2 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton and Microsporum infections, Outcome 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.	104
Analysis 7.1. Comparison 7 Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both 2 weeks) in Trichophyton infections, Outcome 1 Primary	
outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.	105
Analysis 7.2. Comparison 7 Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both 2 weeks) in Trichophyton infections, Outcome 2	
Secondary outcome: clinical cure only.	105
Analysis 7.3. Comparison 7 Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both 2 weeks) in Trichophyton infections, Outcome 3	
Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence	106
Analysis 8.1. Comparison 8 Ketoconazole (2-26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (2 to 26 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12-	
26 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.	106
Analysis 8.2. Comparison 8 Ketoconazole (2-26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (2 to 26 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12-	
26 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only.	107
Analysis 8.3. Comparison 8 Ketoconazole (2-26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (2 to 26 weeks) in Trichophyton infections;	
12-26 weeks follow-up, Outcome 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant	
adherence	107
Analysis 9.1. Comparison 9 Fluconazole (2-6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1	
Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.	108
Analysis 9.2. Comparison 9 Fluconazole (2-6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2	
Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only.	109
Analysis 9.3. Comparison 9 Fluconazole (2-6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up, Outcome 3	
Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence	109
Analysis 10.1. Comparison 10 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus terbinafine (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 weeks	
follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.	110
Analysis 11.1. Comparison 11 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12	
weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.	110
Analysis 11.2. Comparison 11 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12	
weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only.	111
Analysis 11.3. Comparison 11 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12	
weeks follow-up, Outcome 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.	111
Analysis 12.1. Comparison 12 Fluconazole low dose versus higher dose (1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 mg/kg/d) in Trichophyton	
infections; 4 months follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.	112
Analysis 13.1. Comparison 13 Fluconazole 3 weeks versus 6 weeks; 10 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome:	
complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure	112
APPENDICES	112
WHAT'S NEW	115
HISTORY	115
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	115
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	116
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	117
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	117
INDEX TERMS	118

[Intervention Review]

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Xiaomei Chen^{1a}, Xia Jiang^{1b}, Ming Yang², Urbà González³, Xiufang Lin², Xia Hua¹, Siliang Xue¹, Min Zhang¹, Cathy Bennett⁴

¹Department of Dermatology & Venereology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China. ²Center of Geriatrics and Gerontology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China. ³Unit of Dermatology, CL NICA GO&FER, Barcelona, Spain. ⁴Centre for Technology Enabled Health Research (CTEHR), Coventry University, Coventry, UK

^a Joint first author. ^b Joint first author

Contact address: Min Zhang, Department of Dermatology & Venereology, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, No. 37, Guo Xue Xiang, Chengdu, Sichuan, 610041, China. hxlily@163.com. lily666@medmail.com.cn.

Editorial group: Cochrane Skin Group.

Publication status and date: New search for studies and content updated (conclusions changed), published in Issue 5, 2016. Review content assessed as up-to-date: 23 November 2015.

Citation: Chen X, Jiang X, Yang M, González U, Lin X, Hua X, Xue S, Zhang M, Bennett C. Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 5. Art. No.: CD004685. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004685.pub3.

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Tinea capitis is a common contagious fungal infection of the scalp in children. Systemic therapy is required for treatment and to prevent spread. This is an update of the original Cochrane review.

Objectives

To assess the effects of systemic antifungal drugs for tinea capitis in children.

Search methods

We updated our searches of the following databases to November 2015: the Cochrane Skin Group Specialised Register, CENTRAL (2015, Issue 10), MEDLINE (from 1946), EMBASE (from 1974), LILACS (from 1982), and CINAHL (from 1981). We searched five trial registers and checked the reference lists of studies for references to relevant randomised controlled trials (RCTs). We obtained unpublished, ongoing trials and grey literature via correspondence with experts in the field and from pharmaceutical companies.

Selection criteria

RCTs of systemic antifungal therapy in children with normal immunity under the age of 18 with tinea capitis confirmed by microscopy, growth of fungi (dermatophytes) in culture or both.

Data collection and analysis

We used standard methodological procedures expected by Cochrane.

Main results

We included 25 studies (N = 4449); 4 studies (N = 2637) were new to this update.

Terbinafine for four weeks and griseofulvin for eight weeks showed similar efficacy for the primary outcome of complete (i.e. clinical and mycological) cure in three studies involving 328 participants with *Trichophyton* species infections (84.2% versus 79.0%; risk ratio (RR) 1.06, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.98 to 1.15; low quality evidence).

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

 $\textbf{Copyright} @ 2016 \textbf{ The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley \& Sons, Ltd. \\$

Complete cure with itraconazole (two to six weeks) and griseofulvin (six weeks) was similar in two studies (83.6% versus 91.0%; RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.05; N = 134; very low quality evidence). In two studies, there was no difference between itraconazole and terbinafine for two to three weeks treatment (73.8% versus 78.8%; RR 0.93, 95% CI 0.72 to 1.19; N = 160; low quality evidence). In three studies, there was a similar proportion achieving complete cured with two to four weeks of fluconazole or six weeks of griseofulvin (41.4% versus 52.7%; RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.05; N = 615; moderate quality evidence). Current evidence for ketoconazole versus griseofulvin was limited. One study favoured griseofulvin (12 weeks) because ketoconazole (12 weeks) appeared less effective for complete cure (RR 0.76, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.07; low quality evidence). However, their effects appeared to be similar when the treatment lasted 26 weeks (RR 0.95, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.07; low quality evidence). Another study indicated that complete cure was similar for ketoconazole (12 weeks) and griseofulvin (12 weeks) (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.57 to 1.39; low quality evidence). For one trial, there was no significant difference for complete cure between fluconazole (for two to three weeks) and terbinafine (for two to three weeks) (82.0% versus 94.0%; RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.01; N = 100; low quality evidence). For complete cure, we did not find a significant difference between fluconazole (for two to three weeks) (82.0% versus 82.0%; RR 1.00, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.20; low quality evidence).

This update provides new data: in children with *Microsporum* infections, a meta-analysis of two studies found that the complete cure was lower for terbinafine (6 weeks) than for griseofulvin (6-12 weeks) (34.7% versus 50.9%; RR 0.68, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.86; N = 334; moderate quality evidence). In the original review, there was no significant difference in complete cure between terbinafine (four weeks) and griseofulvin (eight weeks) in children with *Microsporum* infections in one small study (27.2% versus 60.0%; RR 0.45, 95% CI 0.15 to 1.35; N = 21; low quality evidence).

One study provides new evidence that terbinafine and griseofulvin for six weeks show similar efficacy (49.5% versus 37.8%; RR 1.18, 95% CI 0.74 to 1.88; N = 1006; low quality evidence). However, in children infected with *T. tonsurans*, terbinafine was better than griseofulvin (52.1% versus 35.4%; RR 1.47, 95% CI 1.22 to 1.77; moderate quality evidence). For children infected with *T. violaceum*, these two regimens have similar effects (41.3% versus 45.1%; RR 0.91, 95% CI 0.68 to 1.24; low quality evidence). Additionally, three weeks of fluconazole was similar to six weeks of fluconazole in one study in 491 participants infected with *T. tonsurans* and *M. canis* (30.2% versus 34.1%; RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.68 to 1.14; low quality evidence).

The frequency of adverse events attributed to the study drugs was similar for terbinafine and griseofulvin (9.2% versus 8.3%; RR 1.11, 95% CI 0.79 to 1.57; moderate quality evidence), and severe adverse events were rare (0.6% versus 0.6%; RR 0.97, 95% CI 0.24 to 3.88; moderate quality evidence). Adverse events for terbinafine, griseofulvin, itraconazole, ketoconazole, and fluconazole were all mild and reversible.

All of the included studies were at either high or unclear risk of bias in at least one domain. Using GRADE to rate the overall quality of the evidence, lower quality evidence resulted in lower confidence in the estimate of effect.

Authors' conclusions

Newer treatments including terbinafine, itraconazole and fluconazole are at least similar to griseofulvin in children with tinea capitis caused by *Trichophyton* species. Limited evidence suggests that terbinafine, itraconazole and fluconazole have similar effects, whereas ketoconazole may be less effective than griseofulvin in children infected with *Trichophyton*. With some interventions the proportion achieving complete clinical cure was in excess of 90% (e.g. one study of terbinafine or griseofulvin for *Trichophyton* infections), but in many of the comparisons tested, the proportion cured was much lower.

New evidence from this update suggests that terbinafine is more effective than griseofulvin in children with T. tonsurans infection.

However, in children with *Microsporum* infections, new evidence suggests that the effect of griseofulvin is better than terbinafine. We did not find any evidence to support a difference in terms of adherence between four weeks of terbinafine versus eight weeks of griseofulvin. Not all treatments for tinea capitis are available in paediatric formulations but all have reasonable safety profiles.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Antifungal medicines for treating children with ringworm

Background

Tinea capitis, or ringworm, is a fungal infection of the scalp caused mainly by two species of fungi called *Trichophyton* and *Microsporum*. It is common in children. Most fungal infections can be treated with antifungal creams applied directly to the skin (topical treatments).

However, because the fungal infection is found at the root of the hair follicles, where topical treatments cannot reach, tinea capitis always requires medication administered by mouth so that the treatment spreads throughout the entire body (systemic treatments). There are several different types of antifungal medicines available.

Review question

Which antifungal medicine is best for treating ringworm on the scalp in children?

Study characteristics

In November 2015, we searched for studies that used the gold standard design for clinical trials (randomised controlled trials) of antifungal treatments taken by mouth. We found 25 studies in which 4449 children under 18 years (4 studies with 2637 children were new to this update) had taken part.

Key results

With respect to complete cure (both cure of the infection and visible cure (i.e. fungal and clinical cure) low to moderate quality evidence suggests that newer treatments such as terbinafine, itraconazole and fluconazole are at least as good as griseofulvin, the usual treatment in children with tinea capitis caused by *Trichophyton* infections. However, new evidence in this update suggests that terbinafine may have better effects than griseofulvin for completely curing children with *T. tonsurans* infection. By contrast, in children with *Microsporum* infections, new evidence seems to indicate that griseofulvin is more effective than terbinafine.

Terbinafine, itraconazole and fluconazole appear to have similar effects in terms of the proportion of participants achieving complete cure, whereas ketoconazole appears to be less effective than griseofulvin for children with tinea capitis caused by *Trichophyton* species. However, the quality of this evidence is low. With some interventions, the proportion with complete clinical cure was in excess of 90% (e.g. one study of terbinafine versus griseofulvin for *Trichophyton* infections), but in many of the comparisons tested, the proportion cured was much lower.

The included studies reported on negative side effects, which were similarly mild and reversible for terbinafine, griseofulvin, itraconazole, ketoconazole and fluconazole. They included skin-specific effects such as itching as well as abdominal discomfort, headache and nausea.

Quality of the evidence

The quality of the evidence in this review was generally low to moderate, so further research is likely to have an important effect on our confidence in these results. Some evidence was even of very low quality. We still need more and better evidence to help us understand the effectiveness and adverse events of systemic antifungal drugs for tinea capitis in children.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR THE MAIN COMPARISON [Explanation]

Terbinafine versus griseofulvin for children with tinea capitis

Patient or population: children with tinea capitis Intervention: terbinafine Comparison: griseofulvin

Comparison: griseorulvi							
Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% Cl)	No of participants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments	
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk					
	Griseofulvin	Terbinafine					
Proportion of partic- ipants with complete cure Follow-up: 6-24 weeks	790 per 1000	837 per 1000 (774 to 908)	RR 1.06 (0.98 to 1.15)	328 (3 studies)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low ^{a,b}	This outcome was fo children infected with Trichophyton, terbinafine (2-4 weeks versus griseofulvin (6-4 weeks); short treatmen duration	
Proportion of partic- ipants with complete cure Follow-up: 10 weeks	378 per 1000	446 per 1000 (279 to 710)	RR 1.18 (0.74 to 1.88)	1006 (1 study)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Low ^{c,d}	This outcome was for children infected with Trichophyton (T. tom surans and T. violaceum) Terbinafine (6 weeks versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophy ton infections; medium treatment duration	
Proportion of partic- ipants with complete cure Follow-up: 10 weeks	354 per 1000	521 per 1000 (432 to 627)	RR 1.47 (1.22 to 1.77)	764 (1 study)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate ^c	This outcome was fo children infected with 2 <i>tonsurans</i> Terbinafine (6 weeks versus griseofulvin (6	

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

						weeks) in <i>Trichophy-</i> <i>ton</i> infections; medium treatment duration
Proportion of partic- ipants with complete cure Follow-up: 10 weeks	451 per 1000	411 per 1000 (307 to 560)	RR 0.91 (0.68 to 1.24)	242 (1 study)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low ^{c,e}	This outcome was for children infected with <i>T.</i> <i>violaceum</i> Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in <i>Trichophy-</i> <i>ton</i> infections; medium treatment duration
Proportion of partic- ipants with complete cure Follow-up: 10-16 weeks	509 per 1000	346 per 1000 (270 to 438)	RR 0.68 (0.53 to 0.86)	334 (2 studies)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate [∫]	This outcome was for children infected with <i>Microsporum</i> . Terbinafine medium- (6 to 8 weeks) and long- term (10 to 12 weeks) treatment versus grise- ofulvin
Proportion of partic- ipants with complete cure Follow-up: 24 weeks	600 per 1000	270 per 1000 (90 to 810)	RR 0.45 (0.15 to 1.35)	21 (1 study)	⊕⊖⊖⊖ Low ^{e,g}	This outcome was for children infected with <i>Microspo-</i> <i>rum</i> . Terbinafine short- term (4 weeks) versus griseofulvin
Adverse events at- tributed to the study drugs Follow-up: mean 10 weeks	83 per 1000	92 per 1000 (65 to 130)	RR 1.11 (0.79 to 1.57)	1549 (1 study)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate ^c	This outcome was for children infected with <i>Trichophyton</i> and <i>Mi- crosporum</i> Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks), medium treat- ment duration

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ы

Severe adverse events Follow-up: mean 10 weeks	6 per 1000	6 per 1000 (1 to 23)	RR 0.97 (0.24 to 3.88)	1549 (1 study)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate ^c	This outcome was for children infected with <i>Trichophyton</i> and <i>Mi- crosporum</i> Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks), medium treat- ment duration
	isk in the comparis		k across studies) is provi effect of the intervention		corresponding risk (and	its 95% confidence interval) is
CI: confidence interval; F GRADE Working Group g						
CI: confidence interval; F GRADE Working Group g High quality: Further res Moderate quality: Further Low quality: Further rese Very low quality: We are	rades of evidence earch is very unlike er research is likely earch is very likely very uncertain abo	to have an important imp to have an important imp out the estimate.	nce in the estimate of effe bact on our confidence in t act on our confidence in th ⁱ bias, the other two studie	he estimate of effect a e estimate of effect ar	nd is likely to change the e	
CI: confidence interval; F GRADE Working Group g High quality: Further res Moderate quality: Further Low quality: Further rese Very low quality: We are Downgraded one level b Downgraded one level for and 'appreciable benefit'	rades of evidence earch is very unlike er research is likely earch is very likely very uncertain abo ecause 1 of the 3 s or imprecision beca (1.25).	to have an important imp to have an important imp but the estimate. Studies was at high risk of suse the 95% confidence in	bact on our confidence in t act on our confidence in th bias, the other two studie nterval around the pooled e	he estimate of effect a e estimate of effect ar s were at unclear risk of	nd is likely to change the e	
CI: confidence interval; F GRADE Working Group g High quality: Further res Moderate quality: Further Low quality: Further rese Very low quality: We are Downgraded one level b Downgraded one level for and 'appreciable benefit' Downgraded one level b Downgraded one level b	rades of evidence earch is very unlike er research is likely earch is very likely very uncertain abo ecause 1 of the 3 s or imprecision beca (1.25). ecause the study w ecause l ² = 86% wl	to have an important imp to have an important imp out the estimate. Studies was at high risk of suse the 95% confidence in yas at unclear risk of bias hich indicated substantial	bact on our confidence in t act on our confidence in th bias, the other two studie nterval around the pooled e heterogeneity.	he estimate of effect a e estimate of effect ar s were at unclear risk of	nd is likely to change the e	
CI: confidence interval; F GRADE Working Group g High quality: Further res Moderate quality: Further Low quality: Further rese Very low quality: We are 'Downgraded one level b 'Downgraded one level b	rades of evidence earch is very unlike er research is likely earch is very likely very uncertain abo ecause 1 of the 3 s or imprecision beca (1.25). ecause the study w ecause l ² = 86% wh or imprecision beca	to have an important imp to have an important imp but the estimate. Studies was at high risk of suse the 95% confidence in vas at unclear risk of bias	bact on our confidence in t act on our confidence in th bias, the other two studie nterval around the pooled e I heterogeneity. Its was less than 300.	he estimate of effect a e estimate of effect ar s were at unclear risk of	nd is likely to change the e	

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright @ 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

BACKGROUND

This is an updated version of an original Cochrane review (Gonzalez 2007).

Description of the condition

Tinea capitis is the medical term for an infection of the scalp (also known as scalp ringworm) involving the skin and the hair (Higgins 2000). It is caused by fungi (dermatophytes), mainly by *Trichophyton* or *Microsporum* species that invade the hair shaft (Higgins 2000). The clinical hallmark is one or more patches of hair loss, sometimes with a black dot pattern (studded with brokenoff hairs), which may be accompanied by inflammation, scaling, pustules and itching (Chan 2004; Higgins 2000).

Tinea capitis is uncommon in adults and is mostly seen in preteen children from disadvantaged communities in countries of all income levels (Chan 2004; Ginter-Hanselmayer 2007). Over the past 30 years, the reported incidence of tinea capitis has increased significantly, as travel and migration have been associated with changes in epidemiology and in distribution of the species of fungi that are likely to cause tinea capitis (Aly 1999).

There are several species of dermatophytes characteristically associated with tinea capitis. *Trichophyton* infections are most common in Central America, the United States and in parts of Western Europe. Cases of *Microsporum* infections are mainly seen in South America, Southern and Central Europe, Africa and the Middle East (Havlickova 2008).

Tinea capitis is contagious and can be transmitted by humans, animals or objects carrying the fungus (Yu 2005). Carrier states also exist where the fungus is present on the scalp but there is no clinical infection (Pomeranz 1999). Although it is not life-threatening in people with normal immunity, if left untreated there may be persistent symptoms (Elewski 2000). The inflammatory form, kerion, can result in scarring alopaecia (hair loss), or permanent baldness (Elewski 2000).

Physicians should confirm the clinical diagnosis by identifying the presence of fungi within the hair shaft in hair samples viewed under the microscope, by growing the fungus from such samples in laboratory conditions (mycological diagnosis) or both (Higgins 2000). The main methods of collecting samples for microbiological diagnosis involve either scraping or brushing the scalp and plucking the affected hairs (Fuller 2003). Looking at the sample under a microscope is the fastest way to diagnose the infection, and if the result is positive, treatment can commence immediately (Fuller 2003). However, sometimes this method indicates someone does not have the condition even if they actually do. Culturing the scrapings is more sensitive and allows accurate identification of the organism involved; however, this method may take up to four weeks to provide a result (Fuller 2003; Gupta 1999). A Wood's light (filtered ultraviolet light) can be used to detect infections that fluoresce under this type of light such as M. canis and *M. audouinii*, but it is not helpful in diagnosing *T. tonsurans* tinea capitis (Elewski 2000).

Description of the intervention

The primary aim of treatment for tinea capitis is to achieve complete clinical (signs and symptoms) and mycological cure (culture negative) as quickly as possible with minimal adverse events. Most superficial fungal infections can be treated topically (treatment applied directly to the skin), but tinea capitis always requires systemic medication (which spreads throughout the entire body) because the fungal infection is found at the root of the hair follicles, where topical agents cannot reach (Higgins 2000). Topical medications are only used as adjuvant therapy alongside systemic treatments (Higgins 2000).

Tinea capitis mainly occurs in children, and there are potential problems with persuading them to take their medicine (Hay 2006). Factors enhancing adherence include an acceptable taste and a short course of therapy. The latter factor may be important in reducing the risk of adverse events.

Griseofulvin has traditionally been the most widely prescribed and commonly used antifungal treatment for tinea capitis in clinical practice (Bennett 2000; Friedlander 2000). The paediatric dosage of griseofulvin is 10 to 25 mg/kg/d for six to eight weeks (Blumer 1999). It is still a relatively inexpensive drug and has been used as the standard to evaluate many newer agents (Blumer 1999). However, it has a bitter, unpleasant taste and should be taken with meals for one to two months, which may affect adherence in children (Bennett 2000). The liquid form is not always available. Physicians increasingly consider treating tinea capitis with newer antifungal agents, such as ketoconazole, itraconazole, terbinafine or fluconazole (Friedlander 2000; Gonzalez 2007), but there is concern regarding the use of these drugs in children because of the possibility of rare but potentially serious side effects, such as liver toxicity or drug interaction (Blumer 1999). These newer agents are also expensive, which is an important consideration given that tinea capitis is endemic in some of the poorest communities in the world.

How the intervention might work

The main mechanism of action of griseofulvin is binding and inactivating the microtubular proteins that are essential for mitosis (cell division), thus arresting cell division of the fungal cell. Griseofulvin also inhibits nucleic acid synthesis and impairs synthesis of the fungal cell wall (Fuller 2014).

The mechanism of action of terbinafine involves inhibition of squalene epoxidase, which is a key enzyme in sterol biosynthesis in the fungal cell. This causes a deficiency in ergosterol within the fungal cell membrane, which results in damage to the fungi cell membrane (Abdel-Rahman 2005).

The mechanism of action of the azole antifungals (e.g. itraconazole and fluconazole) is inhibition of the cytochrome P450-dependent enzyme lanosterol 14-alpha-demethylase, which is essential for the conversion of lanosterol to ergosterol. Disruptions in the synthesis of ergosterol lead to damage in the cell membrane of fungi and damage to the fungal cell (Zonios 2008).

Why it is important to do this review

There is a choice between several systemic antifungal drugs for treating children with tinea capitis.

We wish to determine the comparative efficacy and safety profiles for these drugs. Furthermore, because of the worldwide distribution of this infection and the responsiveness of fungal species to different drugs, the cost implications may also be very important. We are also interested in comparing different lengths of treatment, because shorter courses of treatment, if effective, would be preferable to prolonged therapy, which may increase the risk of adverse events and the likelihood of non-adherence.

OBJECTIVES

To assess the effects of systemic antifungal drugs for tinea capitis in children.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

Randomised controlled trials (RCTs).

Types of participants

Children with normal immunity under the age of 18 years with tinea capitis confirmed by microscopy, growth of dermatophytes in culture or both.

Types of interventions

We considered studies of all regimens of any systemic antifungal drug interventions for tinea capitis using the following comparisons.

- Any systemic treatment versus no treatment or placebo.
- Comparison of two or more systemic therapies.

• Comparison of different doses and regimens of the same systemic therapy.

• Comparison of systemic versus topical therapies.

We anticipated that studies would not focus on some systemic antifungal agents, such as amphotericin B, flucytosine, caspofungin or miconazole, because of either a lack of antifungal spectrum of activity or a lack of acceptable toxicity in this population.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

1. The proportion of participants with complete cure, i.e., clinical and mycological cure. We defined complete clinical cure as resolution of itching and clinical signs, such as redness, scaling, and oedema. We defined complete mycological cure as negative results on microscopy, no growth in culture or both.

2. The frequency and type of adverse events.

Secondary outcomes

1. The proportion of participants with clinical cure only.

2. Measurement of recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period.

3. Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.

4. The time taken to cure.

Search methods for identification of studies

We aimed to identify all relevant RCTs regardless of language or publication status (published, unpublished, in press, or in progress).

Electronic searches

For this update, we revised all our search strategies in line with current Skin Group practices. We searched the following databases up to 23rd November 2015:

• The Cochrane Skin Group Specialised Register using the search strategy in Appendix 1.

• The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) 2015, Issue 10, in *The Cochrane Library* using the strategy in Appendix 2.

• MEDLINE via Ovid (from 1946) using the strategy in Appendix 3.

• EMBASE via Ovid (from 1974) using the strategy in Appendix 4.

• LILACS (Latin American and Caribbean Health Science Information database, from 1982) using the strategy in Appendix 5.

• CINAHL via EBSCO (Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature, from 1981) using the strategy in Appendix 6.

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. 8

Trial registers

We searched the following trial registers up to 30th November 2015 using the strategy in Appendix 7.

• The ISRCTN registry (www.controlled-trials.com).

• The US National Institutes of Health Ongoing Trials Register (www.clinicaltrials.gov).

• The Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (www.anzctr.org.au).

• The World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry platform (www.who.int/trialsearch).

• The EU Clinical Trials Register (https:// www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/).

Searching other resources

References from included studies

We handsearched the bibliographies of included and excluded studies for further references to relevant trials.

Unpublished literature

We sought information on unpublished and ongoing trials as well as grey literature via correspondence with authors of published studies and pharmaceutical companies. We consulted the Ringworm Committee of the European Confederation of Medical Mycology with regard to unpublished data.

Conference proceedings

We stated in the protocol that we would search the conference proceedings from major dermatology and mycology meetings. We were unable to search proceedings from mycology meetings, and we understand that the Cochrane Skin Group is searching some of the major dermatology meetings. We will search mycology meeting abstracts for an update of this review.

Adverse events

We asked pharmaceutical companies for surveillance data on adverse events.

Data collection and analysis

Some parts of the 'Methods' section of this review use text that was originally published in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011). We included 'Summary of findings' tables in our review to summarise the primary outcomes and assessed the quality of the body of evidence using the five GRADE considerations (study limitations, consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness and publication bias).

Selection of studies

For the original review, two authors (GB and UG) checked titles and abstracts identified from the searches. If study design was not clear from the abstract, then two authors (GB and UG) independently reviewed the full text of the study. The authors also decided which trials met the inclusion criteria and resolved any disagreement by discussion between the authors or referred to a third author (JT) when necessary. We listed the excluded studies and reasons for exclusion in the 'Characteristics of excluded studies' tables.

In this update, two authors (XC and MY) independently selected the studies using the same methods as before. We resolved discrepancies between XC and MY through discussion with XH.

Data extraction and management

For the previously published version of the review, at least two authors (TS and UG) extracted data independently using a predesigned data extraction form. We extracted reported data for cure rates for all evaluated drugs, paying particular attention to the doses and frequencies of treatment administration (including 'pulsed' regimens: administering the drug in waves with drug-free intervals). We used the extracted data to populate the Characteristics of included studies table. We resolved disagreements by discussion, and we attempted to obtain missing information from authors whenever possible.

In this update, two authors (XC and MY) independently extracted the information from the newly included studies, and another author (MZ) checked and compared the data extraction forms.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two authors (MY and XC) independently assessed the quality of included studies according to the methods recommended in Sections 8.9 to 8.15 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011). We resolved discrepancies between MY and XC by consulting another author (MZ).

In addition, we considered the following factors in order to address other potential biases: reporting of sample size calculation, definition of inclusion and exclusion criteria, reporting of type of fungi involved, baseline comparability and statement of funding resources.

• Low risk of bias: study appears to be free of other sources of bias.

• High risk of bias: had extreme baseline imbalance; has been claimed to have been fraudulent.

• Unclear risk of bias: insufficient information to permit judgement of 'high' or 'low'; had some drawbacks in either of the items listed above except for extreme baseline imbalance.

Measures of treatment effect

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

We expressed dichotomous data, such as proportion of participants achieving complete cure, as risk ratios (RR). We analysed these in Review Manager (RevMan) using the Mantel-Haenszel test, unless stated otherwise (Revman 2014). We reported all outcomes with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) if possible.

We reported data that could not be combined by meta-analyses narratively. We expressed the time taken to cure as a mean.

Unit of analysis issues

We did not consider internally controlled trials, such as those with cross-over and within-participant designs, because even with a washout period, they are inappropriate designs for systemic treatment (because effects of antifungal therapy may endure over the washout period, as most participants would experience a cure or at least some improvement in the first period of a cross-over study). For RCTs with multiple intervention groups, we combined groups to a single pair-wise comparison or split the shared group into two or more groups and included two or more independent comparisons, as recommended by Cochrane (Higgins 2011).

Dealing with missing data

We contacted the trial authors of Elewski 2008 and Foster 2005 by email on 9 January 2015 to ask for for missing data; however, we did not receive any response. For the previous version of the review, we sent an email (when an email address was available) to authors of published studies asking for unpublished, ongoing trials and grey literature. We also consulted the Ringworm Committee of the European Confederation of Medical Mycology about unpublished data. We did not receive any positive response.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We assessed statistical heterogeneity in the analyses results by inspecting the forest plots to detect non-overlapping CIs, and by implementing the I^2 statistic (with a value of at least 50% being interpreted as moderate to high levels of heterogeneity (Higgins 2011).

Assessment of reporting biases

We planned to perform funnel plots for publication bias if 10 or more studies contributed data. However, we could not carry this out because of the small number of included studies for each outcome.

Data synthesis

We used Revman 2014 to combine some outcomes. To estimate differences between treatments, we pooled trials that evaluated similar interventions using meta-analysis based on a random-effects model (Mantel-Haenszel method), if possible, to calculate a weighted treatment effect across trials.

For each trial, we calculated complete cure at follow-up based on the reported mycological and clinical results. Although we failed to specify the acceptable window for the timing in the primary outcome assessment in the original protocol, we decided during the course of the review to combine studies that recorded primary outcomes at 12 to 20 weeks on the basis that these are the range of time periods that best reflect clinical decision-making in practice. When necessary, we categorised the duration of treatment into three groups.

• Short term (closest to 2 weeks, but between 1 and 4 weeks).

• Medium term (closest to 6 weeks, but between 5 and 8 weeks).

• Long term (closest to 12 weeks, but between 9 and 14 weeks).

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

In the original protocol we planned to perform subgroup analyses where adequate information was given for severity of infection, geographical setting of the trial, and dermatophyte species, whose variation may play an important role in the response to treatment. To explore reasons for heterogeneity in the review, we performed subgroup analyses where the trial report gave adequate information, based on dermatophyte species variation and duration of treatment.

Sensitivity analysis

In the original protocol we planned to exclude some studies or subgroups in sensitivity analyses, but we did not perform any sensitivity analyses in this review.

RESULTS

Description of studies

Results of the search

The electronic database searches for this update yielded 85 studies after duplicates were removed. We discarded 79 studies after screening titles and abstract and examined the full text of the remaining 6 records. We excluded two further studies (Koumantaki-Mathioudaki 2005; Shemer 2013; see 'Characteristics of excluded studies'), and we identified four new studies for inclusion in this update (Deng 2011; Elewski 2008; Foster 2005; Khan 2011; see 'Characteristics of included studies'). We did not identify any other studies in our searches of ongoing trial registers or from other resources.

The original review identified 21 trials of systemic treatments for tinea capitis (Gonzalez 2007).

Please see Figure 1 for the study flow diagram.

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Figure I. Study flow diagram.

Included studies

mens of the same drug.

In total, we included 25 studies that randomised 4449 participants (Characteristics of included studies). We found no other trials that compared an active treatment to placebo. The trials compared different active treatments: either different drugs or different regi-

Design

All included studies were parallel group RCTs. Ten of them had a multi-arm design (Deng 2011; Foster 2005; Friedlander 2002;

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Gupta 2001; Haroon 1996; Kullavanijaya 1997; Lipozencic 2002; Memisoglu 1999; Solomon 1997; Talarico Filho 1998).

Sample size

Only six studies reported a sample size calculation (Elewski 2008; Foster 2005; Fuller 2001, Khan 2011; Lipozencic 2002; Ungpakorn 2004).

Regarding the sample size, we organised the studies into three distinct groups.

 Nine studies were small (N < 50) (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Dastghaib 2005; Hamm 1999; López-Gómez 1994; Martínez-Roig 1988; Rademaker 1998; Solomon 1997; Tanz 1985; Ungpakorn 2004).

• Eight studies were medium (N = 51 to 150) (Deng 2011; Gan 1987; Jahangir 1998; Khan 2011; Kullavanijaya 1997; Memisoglu 1999; Talarico Filho 1998; Tanz 1988).

• Eight studies were large (N > 150) (Elewski 2008; Foster 2005; Friedlander 2002; Fuller 2001; Gupta 2001; Haroon 1995; Haroon 1996; Lipozencic 2002).

Settings

The studies included in this review took place in many parts of the world.

Eight took place in Asia: four in Pakistan (Haroon 1995; Haroon 1996; Jahangir 1998; Khan 2011); two in Thailand (Kullavanijaya 1997; Ungpakorn 2004); one in China (Deng 2011); and one in Iran (Dastghaib 2005).

Five studies were carried out in Europe: one in Germany (Hamm 1999); one in Turkey (Memisoglu 1999); two in Spain (López-Gómez 1994; Martínez-Roig 1988); and one in the UK (Fuller 2001).

Two studies were from South America (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Talarico Filho 1998), five were completed in North America (Friedlander 2002; Gan 1987; Solomon 1997; Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988), and one study took place in New Zealand (Rademaker 1998).

Four of the studies were conducted in several locations: Gupta 2001 took place in the United States and South Africa; Lipozencic 2002, in Europe and South America; Elewski 2008 in the United States, Peru, the United Kingdom, Egypt, Russia and South Africa; and Foster 2005, in the United States, Guatemala, Chile, Costa Rica and India.

Participants

With regard to age, most of the participants of included studies were older than two years. Cáceres-Ríos 2000 and Talarico Filho 1998 included participants as young as one year. Another study involved participants as young as six months of age (Gupta 2001). The upper age limit in the majority of the trials was 16 years, although Haroon 1995 included participants ranging in age from

2 to 65 years. In that trial, 94 of the 105 participants were under 12 years of age, so we assumed all the participants were under 16 years of age and therefore analysed the whole population. Three other studies reported a total of four adults in their samples (Kullavanijaya 1997; Lipozencic 2002; López-Gómez 1994).

Fungal type

Each of the 25 studies reported the types of fungi cultured; some provided general percentages and reported exact proportions of the types of fungi within each arm. The Trichophyton species predominated over Microsporum species. T. tonsurans and M. canis were responsible for causing infection in the highest proportion of participants. T. tonsurans was the most commonly identified fungus in 11 studies (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Elewski 2008; Foster 2005; Friedlander 2002; Fuller 2001; Gan 1987; Ginsburg 1987; Khan 2011; Solomon 1997; Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988); T. violaceum was the predominant fungus in four studies (Deng 2011; Haroon 1995; Haroon 1996; Jahangir 1998); in one study, the proportions of *M. canis* and *T. tonsurans* were the same (Hamm 1999); and *M. canis* was the main fungus in five trials (Lipozencic 2002; López-Gómez 1994; Memisoglu 1999; Rademaker 1998; Talarico Filho 1998). Three trials identified the causative fungi, but their relative frequencies were not provided so it was impossible to determine the frequencies: T. tonsurans and M. ferrugineum were identified in one study (Kullavanijaya 1997), T. tonsurans and T. violaceum in another (Gupta 2001), and T. mentagrophytes and M. canis in a third study (Martínez-Roig 1988). In addition, one study failed to classify the causative species of fungi (Memisoglu 1999).

Interventions

The standard dose for griseofulvin used in trials is generally 10 to 20 mg/kg/d or 125 mg/d in participants weighing 10 to 20 kg; 250 mg/d in those weighing from 20 to 40 kg and 500 mg/d for those over 40 kg. Unless otherwise stated, the standard dosing for terbinafine studies was 62.5 mg/d in participants weighing from 10 to 20 kg; 125 mg/d from 20 to 40 kg, and 250 mg/d over 40 kg.

In total, we studied five different antifungal agents: griseofulvin, terbinafine, itraconazole, fluconazole and ketoconazole.

Comparisons

We evaluated a variety of regimens, including between-drug and within-drug comparisons. We considered griseofulvin to be the standard because it is the oldest agent, and 17 studies used it as a control. Of the 25 included studies, 17 compared griseofulvin as standard therapy with terbinafine (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Deng 2011; Elewski 2008; Fuller 2001; Gupta 2001; Haroon 1995; Khan 2011; Lipozencic 2002; Memisoglu 1999; Rademaker 1998), itraconazole (Gupta 2001; López-Gómez

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright 0 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

1994; Memisoglu 1999), ketoconazole (Gan 1987; Martínez-Roig 1988; Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988), or fluconazole (Dastghaib 2005; Foster 2005; Gupta 2001; Memisoglu 1999). Gupta 2001 and Memisoglu 1999 compared griseofulvin, itraconazole and fluconazole.

Ten studies compared terbinafine versus griseofulvin (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Deng 2011; Elewski 2008; Fuller 2001; Gupta 2001;Haroon 1995; Khan 2011; Lipozencic 2002; Memisoglu 1999; Rademaker 1998), two versus itraconazole (Gupta 2001; Memisoglu 1999) and two versus fluconazole (Gupta 2001; Memisoglu 1999). Seven studies compared different treatment duration regimens for terbinafine (Deng 2011; Friedlander 2002; Hamm 1999; Haroon 1996; Kullavanijaya 1997; Lipozencic 2002; Talarico Filho 1998), and one compared different doses (Ungpakorn 2004).

Three studies (Gupta 2001; López-Gómez 1994; Memisoglu 1999) compared itraconazole with other antifungals: three with griseofulvin (Gupta 2001; López-Gómez 1994; Memisoglu 1999), two with terbinafine (Gupta 2001; Memisoglu 1999) and two with fluconazole (Gupta 2001; Memisoglu 1999). Ketoconazole was compared with griseofulvin in four trials (Gan 1987; Martínez-Roig 1988; Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988).

Five trials studied fluconazole (Dastghaib 2005; Foster 2005; Gupta 2001; Memisoglu 1999; Solomon 1997); four with grise-ofulvin (Dastghaib 2005; Foster 2005; Gupta 2001; Memisoglu 1999), two with terbinafine (Gupta 2001; Memisoglu 1999), two with itraconazole (Gupta 2001; Memisoglu 1999), one by itself with varying doses (Solomon 1997), and one by itself with different durations of treatment (Foster 2005).

Outcomes

Primary outcomes

All but three studies reported the proportion of participants with complete cure, which was our pre-specified primary outcome (Martínez-Roig 1988; Rademaker 1998; Tanz 1985). Most of the studies reported complete cure at 12 to 16 weeks but three reported at 8 weeks (Dastghaib 2005; Deng 2011; Gan 1987), one at 10 weeks (Elewski 2008), one at 2 weeks, 4 weeks, 8 weeks and one year (Deng 2011), one at 3, 6 and 10 weeks (Foster 2005), one at 2, 4 and 6 weeks (Khan 2011), and two at 20 to 24 weeks (Fuller 2001; Ungpakorn 2004).

Three studies failed to report our other primary outcome: adverse events (Gan 1987; Kullavanijaya 1997; Solomon 1997).

Secondary outcomes

Fourteen studies reported the proportion of participants with clinical cure only, which was our first pre-specified secondary outcome (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Elewski 2008; Friedlander 2002; Gupta 2001; Hamm 1999; Haroon 1996; Lipozencic 2002;

López-Gómez 1994; Martínez-Roig 1988; Memisoglu 1999; Rademaker 1998; Solomon 1997; Talarico Filho 1998; Tanz 1988).

Only three studies reported recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period, which was our second pre-specified secondary outcome (Martínez-Roig 1988; Rademaker 1998; Solomon 1997).

Twelve studies reported the percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence, our third pre-specified secondary outcome (Deng 2011; Friedlander 2002; Fuller 2001; Gan 1987; Gupta 2001; Hamm 1999; Lipozencic 2002; López-Gómez 1994; Memisoglu 1999; Talarico Filho 1998; Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988).

Four studies reported the time taken to cure, our fourth pre-specified secondary outcome (Friedlander 2002; Gan 1987; Lipozencic 2002; Martínez-Roig 1988).

Follow-up

The follow-up period ranged from six weeks in Martínez-Roig 1988, Khan 2011 and Tanz 1985 to one year in Deng 2011. Although most studies had a 12-week follow-up period, five trials had longer follow-up periods ranging from 16 to 24 weeks (Fuller 2001; Kullavanijaya 1997; Lipozencic 2002; Solomon 1997; Ungpakorn 2004). In addition, two trials had a 10-week follow-up period (Elewski 2008; Foster 2005).

Other

Some of the studies did not provide detailed information on the clinical setting or baseline characteristics of sex, age and infection severity, or they did not report the comparability between arms or the duration of symptoms or signs. Rademaker 1998 did not compare the baseline characteristics at all, and two trials did not report the information on comparability (Martínez-Roig 1988; Solomon 1997). Finally, only five trials reported information about the severity of the infection (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Deng 2011; Elewski 2008; Gupta 2001; Tanz 1985). For the 25 studies, the most common reason for excluding a participant from the trial was treatment with any antifungal agent within one month prior to entering the trial.

Excluded studies

We provide details of the excluded studies in the 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table.

In this update, we excluded Koumantaki-Mathioudaki 2005 and Shemer 2013 because we found that neither of them were RCTs after reading the full texts.

The original review excluded 3 of the initial 24 trials of systemic treatments for tinea capitis because they evaluated the therapy for the inflammatory component (kerion) caused by tinea capitis infection (Ginsburg 1987; Honig 1994; Hussain 1999).

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Studies awaiting classification

One trial reported in a conference paper appeared to meet the inclusion criteria, but as we could not obtain further information, we could neither include or exclude it (Pather 2006). See Characteristics of studies awaiting classification.

Risk of bias in included studies

Please see Figure 2 for our judgements about each 'Risk of bias' item presented as percentages across all included studies and Figure 3 for the judgements about each domain for all the included studies.

Figure 2. Risk of bias graph: review authors' judgements about each risk of bias item presented as percentages across all included studies.





Figure 3. Risk of bias summary: review authors' judgements about each risk of bias item for each included study.

Allocation

Randomisation

All included studies stated or implied that treatment allocation was randomised; however, there were only four studies that reported an adequate generation method of randomisation: two used a computer-generated random number table (Fuller 2001; Martínez-Roig 1988), and two used a table of random numbers (Elewski 2008; Gan 1987).

Allocation concealment

Only two studies reported adequate allocation concealment (Elewski 2008; Foster 2005).

Blinding

Performance bias

Five included studies reported that participants or personnel were not blinded; therefore, we judged these studies to be at high risk of performance bias (Dastghaib 2005; Fuller 2001; Gan 1987; Rademaker 1998; Talarico Filho 1998).

We judged the other 20 studies as being at unclear risk of performance bias, either because they did not report blinding of participants or personnel (Hamm 1999; Haroon 1995; Jahangir 1998; Khan 2011), or because they did not describe the method of blinding (Deng 2011; Elewski 2008; Foster 2005; Friedlander 2002; Gupta 2001; Haroon 1995; Haroon 1996; Kullavanijaya 1997; Lipozencic 2002; López-Gómez 1994; Martínez-Roig 1988; Memisoglu 1999; Solomon 1997; Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988; Ungpakorn 2004).

Detection bias

Five included studies reported that outcome assessors were not blinded; therefore, we judged these studies to be at high risk of detection bias (Deng 2011; Fuller 2001; Gan 1987; Rademaker 1998; Talarico Filho 1998).

We deemed the other 20 studies to be at unclear risk of detection bias, either because they did not report blinding of outcome assessors (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Hamm 1999; Jahangir 1998; Khan 2011), or because they did not describe the method of blinding (Dastghaib 2005; Elewski 2008; Foster 2005; Friedlander 2002; Gupta 2001; Haroon 1995; Haroon 1996; Kullavanijaya 1997; Lipozencic 2002; López-Gómez 1994; Martínez-Roig 1988; Memisoglu 1999; Solomon 1997; Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988; Ungpakorn 2004).

Incomplete outcome data

Overall, after randomising 4449 people, 471 participants (10.6%) were lost. Only six studies performed intention-to-treat (ITT) analyses (Elewski 2008; Foster 2005; Friedlander 2002; Fuller 2001; Lipozencic 2002; Talarico Filho 1998).

We considered 14 studies to be at low risk of attrition bias because either less than 10% of participants dropped out, or because the drop-outs were between 10% and 20% but balanced in numbers across intervention groups (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Elewski 2008; Foster 2005; Gupta 2001; Hamm 1999; Haroon 1995; Haroon 1996; Jahangir 1998; Khan 2011; Kullavanijaya 1997; López-Gómez 1994; Martínez-Roig 1988; Talarico Filho 1998; Ungpakorn 2004).

We judged 10 studies to be at high risk of attrition bias because either more than 20% of participants dropped out, whether ITT analysis was performed or not (Friedlander 2002; Fuller 2001; Gan 1987; Lipozencic 2002; Solomon 1997; Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988), or the drop-outs were between 10% and 20% but ITT analysis was not performed (Dastghaib 2005; Deng 2011; Memisoglu 1999). Rademaker 1998 was at unclear risk of attrition bias, as it did not provide sufficient information on drop-outs to make a judgement.

Selective reporting

All included studies reported findings on all outcomes listed in the 'Methods' section; therefore, we judged all included studies as being at low risk of reporting bias. However, we did not have access to the original study protocols in any of the included studies.

Other potential sources of bias

Ninteen of the 25 included studies did not report the method of sample size calculation (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Dastghaib 2005; Deng 2011; Friedlander 2002; Gan 1987; Gupta 2001; Hamm 1999; Haroon 1995; Haroon 1996; Jahangir 1998; Kullavanijaya 1997; López-Gómez 1994; Martínez-Roig 1988; Memisoglu 1999; Rademaker 1998; Solomon 1997; Talarico Filho 1998; Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988).

Nine studies did not report the funding sources (Dastghaib 2005; Friedlander 2002; Gan 1987; Gupta 2001; Jahangir 1998; Khan 2011; Memisoglu 1999; Rademaker 1998; Solomon 1997).

Three studies did not report their inclusion or exclusion criteria (Hamm 1999; Kullavanijaya 1997; Rademaker 1998); two other studies did not report baseline comparability (Khan 2011; Tanz 1988). However, whether these factors introduced bias to the results remained unclear. We therefore judged these studies as being at unclear risk of other bias.

In addition, all but two of the included studies reported the proportion of different types of fungi (Kullavanijaya 1997;

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Martínez-Roig 1988). Most included studies recruited children infected with both *Trichophyton and Microsporum*. Lipozencic 2002 and Ungpakorn 2004 only recruited children infected with *Microsporum*, while Friedlander 2002, Gupta 2001, Jahangir 1998 and Solomon 1997 only recruited children infected with *Trichophyton*. Tanz 1985 recruited children infected with *Trichophyton*. Tanz 1985 recruited children infected with *Trichophyton*. Tanz 1985 recruited children infected with *Trichophyton*, Scopulariopsis, Penicillium and unidentified fungus. We list the details of type of fungi in each study in the 'Characteristics of included studies' tables.

Effects of interventions

See: Summary of findings for the main comparison Complete cure and adverse events for terbinafine versus griseofulvin in children with tinea capitis; Summary of findings 2 Complete cure for itraconazole versus griseofulvin in children infected with Trichophyton and Microsporum; Summary of findings 3 Complete cure for itraconazole versus terbinafine in children infected with Trichophyton; Summary of findings 4 Complete cure for ketoconazole versus griseofulvin in children infected with Trichophyton; Summary of findings 5 Complete cure for fluconazole versus griseofulvin in children with tinea capitis; Summary of findings 6 Complete cure for fluconazole versus terbinafine in children infected with Trichophyton; Summary of findings 7 Complete cure for fluconazole versus itraconazole in children infected with Trichophyton; Summary of findings 8 Complete cure for different durations of fluconazole in children infected with T. tonsurans and M. canis

Numbers given show the total numbers of participants included in the analysis. When it was possible to calculate an effect size, we reported this with the 95% confidence interval (CI). We used the P value of 0.05 as the cutoff value to determine statistical significance; when P values were below this threshold, we stated whether the result favoured the intervention group or the control condition. In the text below, we report an I² statistical value for heterogeneity as moderate or high if it exceeds 50%.

We have presented the results for our pre-specified outcomes below under the following 13 comparisons.

1. Terbinafine versus griseofulvin (short treatment duration).

2. Terbinafine versus griseofulvin in *Trichophyton* infections (medium treatment duration).

3. Terbinafine (medium- and long-term treatment) versus griseofulvin in *Microsporum* infections.

4. Terbinafine short- versus long-term.

5. Terbinafine standard dose compared to terbinafine double dose.

- 6. Itraconazole versus griseofulvin.
- 7. Itraconazole versus terbinafine.
- 8. Ketoconazole versus griseofulvin.
- 9. Fluconazole versus griseofulvin.
- 10. Fluconazole versus terbinafine.
- 11. Fluconazole versus itraconazole.
- 12. Fluconazole dosages (1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 mg/kg/d).

13. Treatment durations of fluconazole (short-term versus medium-term).

We have summarised the results of included studies that we could not combine in meta-analyses because of differences between studies in terms of design. We present the results of studies that could not be pooled in meta-analyses using data and information derived from the reports of individual studies.

We produced eight 'Summary of findings' tables for the first primary outcome of complete clinical cure (Summary of findings for the main comparison; Summary of findings 2; Summary of findings 3; Summary of findings 4; Summary of findings 5; Summary of findings 6; Summary of findings 7; Summary of findings 8). In Summary of findings for the main comparison we also reported our primary outcome of adverse events.

1. Terbinafine (2 to 4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 to 8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6 to 24 weeks follow-up

Eight studies assessed the efficacy of terbinafine used in the shortterm for 2 to 4 weeks as compared to griseofulvin (used for 8 weeks) (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Deng 2011; Fuller 2001; Gupta 2001; Haroon 1995; Khan 2011; Memisoglu 1999; Rademaker 1998).

Primary outcomes

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure, at 12 to 24 weeks follow-up

Five studies reported on complete cure (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Fuller 2001; Gupta 2001; Haroon 1995; Memisoglu 1999). This update did not identify any new studies addressing this outcome. A pooled analysis of the five studies found that the difference in the proportion of participants with complete cure between four weeks of terbinafine and eight weeks of griseofulvin was not statistically significant (73.6% versus 68.4%; RR 1.08, 95% CI 0.94 to 1.24; Analysis 1.1).

Trichophyton infections

Three studies included participants with *Trichophyton* infections (Fuller 2001; Gupta 2001; Haroon 1995). Haroon 1995 compared terbinafine for 4 weeks with 10 mg/kg/d of griseofulvin for 8 weeks in 105 participants, of whom 87.6% had *T. violaceum* tinea capitis. The proportion of participants with complete cure at week 12 was 93% (52/56) in the terbinafine group and 80% (39/49) in the griseofulvin group (RR 1.17, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.37; Analysis 1.1). Fuller 2001 recruited 210 participants and included 147 in the ITT analyses. *Trichophyton* infection accounted for 84.4% of the terbinafine group (N = 65) and 82.9% of the griseofulvin group (N = 58). At 24 weeks, the proportion of participants with complete

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

cure was 69.2% (45/65) in the terbinafine group and 67.2% (39/ 58) in the griseofulvin group (RR 1.03, 95% 0.81 to 1.31; Analysis 1.1)

Gupta 2001 compared 50 participants in each treatment group with infections caused by *T. tonsurans* and *T. violaceum*. In this trial, administration of terbinafine for 2 to 3 weeks was compared with microsize griseofulvin 20 mg/kg for 6 weeks. The proportion of participants with complete cure at week 12 was 94% (47/50) for the terbinafine group and 92% (46/50) for the griseofulvin treated group (RR 1.02, 95% CI 0.92 to 1.14; Analysis 1.1). In the pooled analysis of 328 participants with a confirmed *Trichophyton* infection, terbinafine for four weeks and griseofulvin

for 8 weeks showed similar efficacy in three studies (84.2% versus 79.0%; RR 1.06 95% CI 0.98 to 1.15; low quality evidence; Analysis 1.1; Fuller 2001; Gupta 2001; Haroon 1995; Summary of findings for the main comparison).

Microsporum infections

In Fuller 2001, the proportion of the 21 children with *Microsporum* infections who achieved complete cure in the terbinafine (for four weeks) group and the griseofulvin (for eight weeks) group were 27.2% (3/11) and 60.0% (6/10), respectively (RR 0.45, 95% CI 0.15 to 1.35; N = 21; low quality evidence; Analysis 1.1; Summary of findings for the main comparison).

Mixed Trichophyton and Microsporum infections

Cáceres-Ríos 2000 and Memisoglu 1999 included participants with Trichophyton and Microsporum infections but did not report results separately. In Memisoglu 1999, complete cure at the final follow-up visit (week 12) was 39% (15/39) for the group treated with four weeks of terbinafine compared with 44% (17/39) in the group treated with eight weeks of ultra microsized griseofulvin (RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.52 to 1.50; Analysis 1.1). There was a similar proportion of participants with complete cure within the subgroups infected with M. canis (48% of participants) and Trichophyton species according to the principal investigators of that study. The other study, Cáceres-Ríos 2000, evaluated terbinafine for four weeks versus microsized griseofulvin for 8 weeks in 50 participants from Peru and found a significant increase in complete cure with terbinafine (76%; 19/25) compared to griseofulvin (44%; 11/25) measured at 12 weeks (RR 1.73, 95% CI 1.05 to 2.83; Analysis 1.1). The causative organisms were T. tonsurans and M. canis, at 74% and 26%, respectively.

A pooled analysis of the two studies showed no significant difference between the groups (53.1% versus 43.8%; RR 1.24, 95% CI 0.64 to 2.42; Analysis 1.1).

Adverse events

Seven studies reported this outcome (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Deng 2011; Fuller 2001; Gupta 2001; Haroon 1995; Khan 2011; Memisoglu 1999), of which two were new studies added in this update (Deng 2011; Khan 2011).

Khan 2011 reported that the incidence of adverse events was comparable between the two groups, with none of participants showing serious side effects, except for nausea and mild abdominal discomfort. Deng 2011 reported one case of vomiting in the griseofulvin group and no side effects in the terbinafine group.

Drug-related adverse events

In the open study (Fuller 2001), 36 participants in the terbinafine group reported 57 adverse events (pruritus, urticaria, skin scaling), and 4 participants withdrew from the study due to adverse events (vomiting, dizziness, urticaria and weight loss). A total of 52 adverse events, predominantly abdominal discomfort and vomiting, were detected in 27 participants in the griseofulvin group, and 1 participant withdrew from the study due to abdominal pain, headache and vomiting. There was no significant difference regarding adverse events that might be attributed to either of the study drugs in the terbinafine (26/77) or griseofulvin (17/70) group (33.8% versus 24.3%, RR 1.39, 95% CI 0.83 to 2.34; Analysis 1.2).

Some studies reported good tolerability for terbinafine because there were no or few adverse events, and these had either an uncertain or no relationship to the treatment (Cáceres-Ríos 2000; Haroon 1995). Haroon 1995 reported tonsillitis, cutaneous infestations, raised hepatic enzymes, raised triglycerides and eosinophilia, and Memisoglu 1999 reported mild elevated triglycerides, with an uncertain relationship to the drug. The following adverse events were reported less commonly and may not have been caused by griseofulvin: skin infections, skin infestations, elevated hepatic enzymes, elevated serum triglycerides, elevated serum uric acid, anaemia, eosinophilia, leucocytosis and granulocytopenia (Haroon 1995; Memisoglu 1999). Gupta 2001 reported three gastric problems and three cases of nausea in the griseofulvin group. Griseofulvin was associated with a small number of adverse events in other trials.

Secondary outcomes

None of the included studies reported measurement of recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period or the time taken to cure.

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Three studies reported the proportion of patients achieving only a clinical cure (Deng 2011; Gupta 2001; Khan 2011); two were

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. new studies added in this update (Deng 2011; Khan 2011). We did not pool the data from these studies because of significant clinical heterogeneity, especially due to the various fungal types in different studies.

Deng 2011 compared the effects of terbinafine for two weeks, terbinafine for four weeks, and griseofulvin for treating participants infected with *T. violaceum* (55.1%), *A. vanbreuseghemi* (30.6%) and *T. tonsurans* (14.3%). Investigators found that the clinical cure in week 8 was 85.2% (23/27) in the 2-week terbinafine group and 84.2% (16/19) in the griseofulvin group (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.79 to 1.30; Analysis 1.3). The corresponding rate was 78.3% (18/23) in the 4-week terbinafine group and 84.2% (16/19) in the griseofulvin group and 84.2% (16/19) in the griseofulvin group (RR 0.93, 95% CI 0.70 to 1.24; Analysis 1.3). When the follow-up was extended to one year, all participants in the three groups achieved clinical cure.

Gupta 2001 reported that the proportion of participants with clinical cure was determined at the end of treatment (week four for terbinafine and week six for griseofulvin) showing better results in the griseofulvin group (70%, 35/50) than in the terbinafine group (40%, 20/50) (RR 0.57, 95% CI 0.39 to 0.84; Analysis 1.3).

Khan 2011 compared the effects of terbinafine for four weeks and griseofulvin for treating patients infected with *T. tonsurans* (75%) and *M. canis* (22%). The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at week six seemed to be higher in the terbinafine group than in the griseofulvin group, but the difference was not statistically significant (70% versus 55%; RR 1.27, 95% CI 0.96 to 1.69; Analysis 1.3).

Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Four studies reported on the percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence (Deng 2011; Fuller 2001; Gupta 2001; Memisoglu 1999), including one new study added to this update (Deng 2011). Deng 2011 reported no drop-outs in the terbinafine group and one in the griseofulvin group (5.3%, 1/19) (RR 0.13, 95% CI 0.01 to 3.08; Analysis 1.4).

The percentage of drop-outs was 35.9% (37/103) versus 24.2% (26/107) (RR 1.48, 95% CI 0.97 to 2.26 Fuller 2001); 4.0% (2/50) versus 8.0% (4/50) (RR 0.50, 95% CI 0.10 to 2.61 Gupta 2001); 10.2% (4/39) versus 17.9% (7/39) (RR 0.57, 95% CI 0.18 to 1.80; Memisoglu 1999) in the terbinafine and griseofulvin groups, respectively (see Analysis 1.4). Only one study reported no drop-outs from either treatment arm (Haroon 1995).

2. Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up

Primary outcomes

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Two studies reported on complete cure (Elewski 2008; Lipozencic 2002), including one new study added to this update (Elewski 2008). This study included 1549 participants and compared terbinafine (5 to 8 mg/kg for 6 weeks) with griseofulvin (10 to 20 mg/kg for 6 weeks) in children with tinea capitis. In this study, 49.3% of the participants were infected with *T. tonsurans*, 15.6% were infected with *T. violaceum*, and 15.1% were infected with *M. canis*.

Trichopyton tonsurans infections

In those infected with *T. tonsurans*, 52.1% (264/507) of participants in the terbinafine group versus 35.4% (91/257) in the grise-ofulvin group achieved a complete cure (RR 1.47, 95% CI 1.22 to 1.77; N = 764; moderate quality evidence; Analysis 2.1; Summary of findings for the main comparison).

Trichopyton violaceum infections

In those infected with *T. violaceum*, 41.3% (66/160) of participants in the terbinafine group versus 45.1% (37/82) in the grise-ofulvin group achieved a complete cure (RR 0.91, 95% CI 0.68 to 1.24; N = 242; low quality evidence; Analysis 2.1; Summary of findings for the main comparison).

The pooled data of participants infected with *Trichophyton* indicated that there was no significant difference between the terbinafine group and the griseofulvin group (49.5% versus 37.8%; RR 1.18, 95% CI 0.74 to 1.88; N = 1006; low quality evidence; Analysis 2.1; Summary of findings for the main comparison).

Adverse events

Drug-related adverse events

Both Elewski 2008 and Lipozencic 2002 reported this outcome. New evidence from Elewski 2008 indicated that 51.9% (541/ 1042) of participants in the terbinafine group and 49.1% (249/ 507) in the griseofulvin group reported an adverse effect during the study (RR 1.06, 95% CI 0.95 to 1.18). A total of 9.2% (96/1042) of participants in the terbinafine group and 8.3% (42/ 507) in the griseofulvin group had adverse events attributed to the study drugs (RR 1.11, 95% CI 0.79 to 1.57; N = 1549; moderate quality evidence; Analysis 2.2; Summary of findings for the main comparison). The most frequent adverse events, accounting for more than 5% in any group, were nasopharyngitis, headache, pyrexia, cough, and vomiting. These individual adverse events were also similar between the two groups.

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

In addition, Lipozencic 2002 reported "adverse events from 18.4% to 42.4% for the terbinafine treatment groups and 16.7% for the griseofulvin group". The most common adverse events, accounting for approximately 5% in any group, were fever, pharyngitis, infections (parasitic, viral and upper respiratory tract) and influenza-like symptoms. Terbinafine was well tolerated in all treatment groups, although two participants prematurely discontinued treatment. One suffering from urticaria was in the terbinafine 6-week group; and the other, suffering from asymptomatic and reversible neutropaenia, was in the terbinafine 10-week group. Both events resolved without sequelae. Somnolence and gastrointestinal disorders were also reported.

Severe adverse events

Severe adverse events were rare (0.6% in both groups; RR 0.97, 95% CI 0.24 to 3.88; N = 1549; moderate quality evidence; Analysis 2.3; Summary of findings for the main comparison).

Secondary outcomes

None of the studies comparing terbinafine (six weeks) to griseofulvin (six weeks) for *Trichophyton* infection reported recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period, percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence or the time taken to cure.

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

One new study reported the proportion of patients with a clinical cure only (Elewski 2008). In participants infected with *T. tonsurans*, the proportion of participants with clinical cure only at week 10 was 70% (355/507) in the terbinafine group and 57.2% (147/257) in the griseofulvin group (RR 1.22, 95% CI 1.09 to 1.38; Analysis 2.4). In participants infected with T. violaceum, the corresponding proportion was 65% (104/160) in the terbinafine group and 64.6% (53/82) in the griseofulvin group (RR 1.01, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.22; Analysis 2.4).

3. Terbinafine (medium (6 to 8 weeks) and long term (10 to 12 weeks) treatment versus griseofulvin in Microsporum infections; 10-16 weeks follow-up

Primary outcome

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Microsporum infections

We included two studies that reported data for participants infected with *Microsporum* (Elewski 2008; Lipozencic 2002). In Elewski 2008, a new study added in this update that included 1549 participants,15.1% were infected with *M. canis*. Of these, 27% (41/152) of participants in the medium-term terbinafine group versus 43.9% (36/82) in the griseofulvin group achieved complete cure (Elewski 2008) (RR 0.61, 95% CI 0.43 to 0.88; Analysis 3.1).

Another open study, Lipozencic 2002, assessed medium- to longterm treatment regimens of terbinafine versus griseofulvin. In this study, 98.5% of the 165 included participants were infected with *M. canis*, and the remainder were infected with *M. audouini*. A lower proportion of participants treated with medium-term terbinafine achieved complete cure (51.4%, 36/70) compared to those treated with griseofulvin (70%, 21/30), but the difference was not statistically significant (RR 0.73, 95% CI 0.53 to 1.02; Analysis 3.1). Long-term duration of treatment (10 or 12 weeks) resulted in the complete cure being higher in those in the griseofulvin group (70%, 21/30) compared to those in the terbinafine group (35%, 23/65) at 4 weeks after the end of treatment (RR 0.51, 95% CI 0.34 to 0.76; Analysis 3.1).

In participants infected with *Microsporum*, pooling the data from two studies for medium-term treatment (six or eight weeks) resulted in an increase in complete cure for those in the griseofulvin group compared to those in the terbinafine group at four weeks after the end of treatment (34.7% versus 50.9%; RR 0.68, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.86; N = 334; moderate quality evidence; Analysis 3.1; Elewski 2008; Lipozencic 2002; Summary of findings for the main comparison).

Adverse events

None of the studies (Elewski 2008; Lipozencic 2002) reported this outcome.

Secondary outcomes

Neither of the included studies comparing short- or long-term treatment with terbinafine versus griseofulvin for *Microsporum* reported on recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period or the time taken to cure.

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Two studies reported the proportion of participants with a clinical cure only (Elewski 2008; Lipozencic 2002), including one new study added to this update (Elewski 2008). According to Elewski 2008, in participants infected with *M. canis*, the proportion of participants with clinical cure only at week 10 was 39.5% (60/152) in the terbinafine group and 57.3% (47/82) in the griseofulvin group (RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.90; Analysis 3.2). In Lipozencic 2002 at 16 weeks, the proportion of participants infected with *Microsporum* with clinical cure only was 61.1% (22/36)

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

and 70.5% (24/34) in the groups treated with terbinafine for 6 and 8 weeks, respectively, and 60.6% (20/33) and 50% (16/32) in the groups treated with terbinafine for 10 and 12 weeks, respectively, compared to 80% (24/30) in the griseofulvin group. The control treatment (griseofulvin for 12 weeks) resulted in more cures compared with medium-term terbinafine treatment duration (6 to 8 weeks) (RR 0.82, 95% CI 0.64 to 1.05; Analysis 3.2) and long-term terbinafine treatment duration (10 to 12 weeks) (RR 0.69, 95% CI 0.52 to 0.92; Analysis 3.2), which was statistically significant in favour of griseofulvin. We pooled data from two studies (Elewski 2008; Lipozencic 2002) in a meta-analysis. In participants infected with *Microsporum*, the proportion of participants with clinical cure only was significantly lower in the medium-term terbinafine treatment group than in the griseofulvin group (RR 0.76, 95% CI 0.63 to 0.91; N = 334; Analysis 3.2).

Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Lipozencic 2002 reported on drop-outs as a surrogate to measure adherence. The percentage of drop-outs was 22.2% (8/36), 14.7% (5/34), 18.18% (6/33), 34.2% (12/32), and 23.3% (7/30), in the groups treated with terbinafine for 6, 8, 10, or 12 weeks and griseofulvin, respectively.

4. Terbinafine short-term versus long-term for treating Trichophyton and Microsporum infections; 12 to 20 weeks follow-up

Primary outcomes

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

One to two weeks versus four weeks

Four studies reported on complete cure (Friedlander 2002; Haroon 1996; Kullavanijaya 1997; Talarico Filho 1998). Metaanalysis showed that a four-week treatment duration of terbinafine was significantly better than one to two weeks (65.1% versus 48.6%; RR 0.73, 95% CI 0.62 to 0.86; Analysis 4.1).

Medium term (6 to 8 weeks) versus long-term (10 to 12 weeks)

Medium-term (six to eight weeks) treatment duration of terbinafine appeared to be better than long-term (10 to 12 weeks) treatment duration, but the difference was not statistically significant (51.4% versus 35.3%; RR 1.45, 95% CI 0.97 to 2.17; Lipozencic 2002; Analysis 4.1).

Adverse events

Five studies reported on adverse events (Deng 2011; Friedlander 2002; Hamm 1999; Haroon 1996; Talarico Filho 1998), including one study added to this update (Deng 2011).

Deng 2011 reported that none of the terbinafine treated patients experienced adverse events.

Talarico Filho 1998 reported the following adverse events: mild itching and mild constipation in the one-week arm; mild headache and nausea in the two-week arm; mild urticaria, swelling of the lips (labial oedema), mild constipation, moderate loss of appetite, mild diarrhoea, mild nausea and moderate or partial loss of taste (recovered within eight weeks) in the four-week arm.

Hamm 1999 reported: abdominal pain (mild to moderate), epistaxis (nose bleed), lack of appetite, headache, severe facial swelling, coughing and fever (mild to moderate) in the one-week arm; abdominal pain, fatigue, nausea, dyspepsia, headache and fever in the two-week arm. One additional participant had lack of appetite and gastroenteritis only during the additional four-week treatment period.

In Friedlander 2002, around 44% of the participants experienced mild to moderate adverse events, which were probably not related to treatment. The most frequent adverse events were "upper respiratory tract infections, gastrointestinal upsets and other events common in this patient population". Authors did not report relevant data but stated that the frequency of adverse events was similar between groups.

Haroon 1996 compared three different regimens (at one, two and four weeks), reporting a few adverse events: headache, raised hepatic enzymes, raised triglycerides, eosinophilia and leucocytosis in the one-week arm; raised hepatic enzymes and eosinophilia in the two-week arm and raised hepatic enzymes, raised triglycerides, eosinophilia and leucocytosis in the four-week arm.

Secondary outcomes

None of the studies reported recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period.

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Four studies reported on the proportion of participants achieving a clinical cure only, all of which were also included in the original review (Friedlander 2002; Haroon 1996; Lipozencic 2002; Talarico Filho 1998).

One to two weeks versus four weeks

Meta-analysis of three included studies showed that a four-week treatment duration of terbinafine seemed to be better than one-to two-week treatment duration, but the difference was not statistically significant (75.1% versus 63.9%; RR 0.84, 95% 0.67

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright 0 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

to 1.06; Friedlander 2002; Haroon 1996; Talarico Filho 1998; Analysis 4.2).

Medium term (6 to 8 weeks) versus long-term (10 to 12 weeks)

Data from Lipozencic 2002 showed that medium-term (6 to 8 weeks) treatment duration of terbinafine appeared to be better than long-term (10 to 12 weeks), but the difference was also not statistically significant (65.7% versus 55.4%; RR 1.19, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.56; Analysis 4.2).

Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Two studies reported drop-outs as a surrogate for adherence (Deng 2011; Friedlander 2002), including one new study added to this update (Deng 2011).

Deng 2011 reported there were no drop-outs in the two-week or four-week terbinafine groups.

In Friedlander 2002, the percentage of drop-outs in the one-, twoand four-week arms were reported as 25% (14/56), 25.4%(15/59) and 19.3% (12/62), respectively.

Time taken to cure

One study, also included in the original review, reported on time taken to cure (Hamm 1999). The time taken to cure was about two weeks if the causative organism was a *Trichophyton*. Participants infected with *Microsporum* only responded to an additional fourweek treatment course of terbinafine, i.e. two to three weeks after an initial course of one or two weeks.

5. Terbinafine standard dose versus double dose in Microsporum infections; 20 weeks follow-up

This update did not identify any new studies addressing the outcomes for this comparison. Likewise, we did not find any studies reporting on our primary outcome of adverse events or the secondary outcomes of proportion of participants with clinical cure only; measurement of recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period; or percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.

Primary outcomes

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Ungpakorn 2004 reported on complete cure and assessed the efficacy of the standard dose of terbinafine compared to double doses of terbinafine after 20 weeks of follow-up. Both treatments were given in a pulsed protocol (one week on, three weeks off) for the treatment of tinea capitis caused by *Microsporum* species. The proportion with complete cure for the standard dose group reached 60.8% (14/23) and was similar to 68.4% (13/19) in the double dose group (RR 1.12, 95% CI 0.72 to 1.76; Analysis 5.1).

Secondary outcomes

Time taken to cure

Ungpakorn 2004 also reported time taken to cure: at week 20 all participants were cured with the exception of one who at the beginning had moderately severe tinea capitis.

6. Itraconazole (six and two weeks) versus griseofulvin (six weeks) in Trichophyton and Microsporum infections

This update did not identify any new studies addressing the outcomes for this comparison.

Primary outcomes

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Two studies reported complete cure (Gupta 2001; López-Gómez 1994).

Gupta 2001 compared six weeks of griseofulvin versus two to three weeks of itraconazole in 100 people, with the dose given according to the participant's weight. This study showed complete cure at 82% (41/50) for the itraconazole group and 92% (46/50) for the griseofulvin group (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.76 to 1.04; Analysis 6.1). The main causative fungi were *T. tonsurans* and *T. violaceum*, although investigators did not report the exact percentages. According to this trial, when *Trichophyton* species are the infecting fungi, both griseofulvin and itraconazole reach high complete cure percentages, although griseofulvin tends to be more effective. However the disadvantage was that griseofulvin was administered for six weeks treatment, while itraconazole was administered only for two to three weeks.

In another study involving 34 participants, in whom *M. canis* was the most common fungi, complete cure was the same for both drugs at 88% (15/17 and 15/17) (López-Gómez 1994). This study compared six weeks of treatment with ultra microsize griseofulvin 500 mg/d or itraconazole 100 mg/d with a follow-up of 14 weeks. According to this trial, in tinea capitis involving *Microsporum* species, both itraconazole and griseofulvin reached high complete cure percentages within a treatment period of six weeks (RR 1.00, 95% CI 0.78 to 1.28; Analysis 6.1).

We did not see a significant statistical difference between the different doses of itraconazole employed in the two studies and griseofulvin in the pooled analysis (83.6% versus 91.0%; RR 0.92,

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

95% CI 0.81 to 1.05; N = 134; very low quality evidence; Analysis **Primary outcomes** 6.1; Summary of findings 2).

Adverse events

Two studies reported adverse events (Gupta 2001; López-Gómez 1994).

Authors did not report adverse events in the itraconazole group of either of the trials. In those treated with griseofulvin, two participants experienced nausea and intense stomach ache with severe vomiting at weeks two and four of treatment, requiring discontinuation of therapy (López-Gómez 1994). Gupta 2001 reported three gastric problems and three cases of nausea in the griseofulvin group. One of the participants who experienced nausea dropped out of the study.

Secondary outcomes

None of the studies under this comparison reported recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period or the time taken to cure.

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Only one study reported this outcome (Gupta 2001). The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at the end of treatment reported in the study were 44% (22/50) and 70% (35/50) in the itraconazole and in the griseofulvin groups, respectively (RR 0.63, 95% CI 0.44 to 0.90; Analysis 6.2).

Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Two studies reported on drop-outs (Gupta 2001; López-Gómez 1994).

In Gupta 2001, the percentage of drop-outs was the same for both treatment groups (8% versus 8%; RR 1.00, 95% CI 0.26 to 3.78; Analysis 6.3). In López-Gómez 1994 the percentage of drop-outs was 5.5% (1/18) in the itraconazole group and 11.7% (2/17) in the griseofulvin group (RR 0.47, 95% CI 0.05 to 4.74; Analysis 6.3).

7. Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both two weeks) in Trichophyton infections

This update did not identify any new studies addressing the outcomes for this comparison.

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Gupta 2001 and Jahangir 1998 reported on complete cure.

Jahangir 1998 had 60 participants and compared a two-week course of itraconazole (50 to 200 mg/d based on weight) with two weeks of terbinafine. *T. violaceum* was the causative fungus in 82% to 89% of the participants. Twelve weeks after the start of treatment, 53% (16/30) and 60% (18/30) of participants were completely cured in the terbinafine and itraconazole groups, respectively (RR 1.13, 95% CI 0.72 to 1.75; Analysis 7.1). Gupta 2001, where *Trichophyton* was the species of fungus, compared itraconazole and terbinafine with a two- to three-week course of therapy. At 12 weeks, 94% (47/50) in the terbinafine group had a complete cure, compared to 82% (41/50) in the itraconazole group (RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.01; Analysis 7.1).

In the pooled analyses, there was very little difference in the proportion of participants achieving complete cure with itraconazole and terbinafine (as treatment of *Trichophyton* species) when used for periods of two to three weeks (73.8% versus 78.8%; RR 0.93, 95% CI 0.72 to 1.19; N = 160; low quality evidence; Analysis 7.1; Summary of findings 3).

Adverse events

Only Jahangir 1998 reported adverse events. Two participants reported urticaria in the itraconazole group. In the terbinafine group, one participant experienced fever, body aches and vertigo, but no participant showed any significant haematological or biochemical change.

Secondary outcomes

No studies for this comparison reported recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period or the time taken to cure.

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Only Gupta 2001 reported on the proportion of participants achieving clinical cure at the end of the four-week treatment, with similar results in both terbinafine and itraconazole treatment groups: 40% (20/50) and 44% (22/50), respectively (RR 1.10, 95% CI 0.69 to 1.75; Analysis 7.2).

Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Gupta 2001 reported that the percentage of drop-outs was 8% (4/ 50) for the itraconazole group and 4% (2/50) for the terbinafine group (RR 2.00, 95% CI 0.38 to 10.43, Analysis 7.3).

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

8. Ketoconazole versus griseofulvin (12 to 26 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 to 26weeks follow-up

This update did not identify any new studies addressing the outcomes for this comparison.

Primary outcomes

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Two studies reported complete cure, but because of the differences in treatment durations between them, we did not pool the results (Gan 1987; Tanz 1988).

Gan 1987 was an open study in 80 participants where *Trichophy*ton species predominated; investigators compared once-daily ketoconazole 5 mg/kg/d with once-daily griseofulvin 15 mg/kg/d. The children were examined every two weeks while they were receiving therapy (and at least one follow-up after the end of therapy). Treatment was stopped when there was either complete cure or after six months had passed. At the end of 12 weeks of therapy, 73.5% (25/34) of participants treated with ketoconazole had complete cure of their infection, compared with 96.4% (27/28) of the participants given griseofulvin (RR 0.76, 95% CI 0.62 to 0.94; N = 62; low quality evidence; Analysis 8.1; Summary of findings 4).

Those who did not achieve a complete clinical cure within 12 weeks continued to take therapy and were assessed between 12 and 26 weeks of therapy, until they exhibited complete resolution of clinical disease and negative hair sample cultures. During this period, the one remaining griseofulvin participant and six of the ketoconazole participants with continuing disease had complete clearance of clinical and mycological disease.

Thus, by the end of 26 weeks, all of the participants in the griseofulvin group were completely cured, and only three ketoconazoletreated patients remained with persistent clinical disease and positive mycological cultures (i.e. 91.2% (31/34) participants receiving ketoconazole compared with 100% (28/28) in the griseofulvin group (RR 0.95, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.07; N = 62; low quality evidence; Analysis 8.1; Summary of findings 4).

In Tanz 1988, participants randomly received ketoconazole or griseofulvin for 12 weeks. The proportion of participants with complete cure was similar at 48% (16/33) in the ketoconazole group and 54% (25/46) in the griseofulvin group (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.57 to 1.39; N = 79; low quality evidence; Analysis 8.1; Summary of findings 4).

Adverse events

Four studies reported adverse events (Gan 1987; Martínez-Roig 1988; Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988). Despite reports of liver disease (Lewis 1984), we did not find any studies reporting this adverse effect. Ketoconazole use was associated with two cases of abdominal pain and one case of urticaria (Tanz 1985). Only one participant from the ketoconazole group withdrew from the study and reported to have nausea. Other than this, there were no serious adverse reactions in any of the two groups (Tanz 1988). No adverse events were reported in the ketoconazole group (Gan 1987; Martínez-Roig 1988). One griseofulvin-treated participant showed a two-fold increase in serum alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase after three weeks of treatment, but values returned to normal at the following weekly clinic visits (Martínez-Roig 1988).

Secondary outcomes

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Only one study reported this outcome (Martínez-Roig 1988). The proportion of participants with clinical cure evaluated at the end of treatment were 100% (8/8) and 80% (4/5) in the ketoconazole and griseofulvin groups, respectively (RR 1.26, 95% CI 0.77 to 2.05; Analysis 8.2).

Proportion of participants with recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period

Gan 1987 reported (page 48) that "three patients (two treated with ketoconazole and one treated with griseofulvin) had a recurrence of tinea capitis at four weeks (two patients) and at four months (one patient) following discontinuation of therapy".

Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Two studies reported this outcome (Tanz 1985; Tanz 1988).

In Tanz 1985, the percentage of drop-outs was 30% (3/10) and 41.6% (5/12) in the ketoconazole and griseofulvin groups, respectively (RR 0.72, 95% CI 0.23 to 2.30, Analysis 8.3).

In Tanz 1988, the percentage of drop-outs was 66.6% (22/33) and 56.5% (26/46) in the ketoconazole and griseofulvin groups, respectively (RR 1.18, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.67; Analysis 8.3).

Time taken to cure

Two studies reported this outcome (Gan 1987; Martínez-Roig 1988).

In Gan 1987, the time needed to improve was 60 days and 108 days in the ketoconazole and griseofulvin groups, respectively. Hair sample cultures took significantly longer to become negative (sterile) in the ketoconazole group (median eight weeks) than in the griseofulvin group (four weeks).

Martínez-Roig 1988 reported the mean time to clinical cure in weeks: 4.2 weeks in the griseofulvin group and 5.0 weeks in the

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

ketoconazole group. They also reported the mean time needed to achieve negative cultures in weeks: 3.6 and 4.7 weeks in the griseofulvin and ketoconazole groups, respectively.

9. Fluconazole (2 to 6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up

The study by Foster 2005 was new to this update.

Primary outcomes

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Three studies reported this outcome (Dastghaib 2005; Foster 2005; Gupta 2001).

Dastghaib 2005 assessed 40 participants: 16 were infected with *T. violaceum*, 16 with *T. verrucosum* and 8 with *M. canis*. The children were treated with 5 mg/kg/d of fluconazole or 15 mg/kg/d griseofulvin for four and six weeks, respectively. Complete cure was reported for 79% (15/19) of the fluconazole arm and 76% (16/21) of the griseofulvin arm (RR 1.04, 95% CI 0.74 to 1.45; Analysis 9.1).

Foster 2005 included 880 participants: 86% were infected with *T. tonsurans* and 11% with *M. canis*; 721 of them were included in the analyses: 245 participants on short-term fluconazole, 246 participants on the medium-term fluconazole and 230 participants in the griseofulvin group. As we stated in the 'Methods' section, for RCTs with multiple intervention groups, we split the shared griseofulvin group (N = 230) in two (N = 115 each) to avoid double-counting.

The children were randomly assigned to three groups and treated with a short-term course of fluconazole (6 mg/kg/d for three weeks; N = 245); medium-term use of fluconazole (6 mg/kg/d for six weeks; 230), respectively. Complete cure was not significantly different between the short-term fluconazole group and the griseofulvin group (30.2% versus 31.3%; RR 0.96, 95% CI 0.69 to 1.34; Analysis 9.1).

Gupta 2001 assessed 100 participants who were infected with *T. tonsurans* and/or *T. violaceum* (the exact percentages were not reported). They were treated with either fluconazole 6 mg/kg/d for two to three weeks or with microsize griseofulvin 20 mg/kg/d for six weeks. The proportion of participants with complete cure were 82% (41/50) and 92% (46/50), respectively (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.76 to 1.04; Analysis 9.1).

Short-term (2-4 weeks) fluconazole

Meta-analysis of the three studies failed to show any significant difference between short-term use of fluconazole and griseofulvin for proportions of participants with complete cure i.e. clinical and mycological cure (41.4% versus 52.7%; RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.05; N = 615; moderate quality evidence; Analysis 9.1; Dastghaib 2005; Foster 2005; Gupta 2001; Summary of findings 5).

Medium-term (6 weeks) fluconazole

There is a single trial in this subgroup (N = 361; Foster 2005). There was no clear difference between between the medium-term fluconazole group and the griseofulvin group (34.1% versus 32.1%; RR 1.06, 95% CI 0.77 to 1.46; N = 361; low quality evidence; Analysis 9.1; Summary of findings 5).

Adverse events

Three studies reported this outcome (Dastghaib 2005; Foster 2005; Gupta 2001).

Foster 2005 included 1063 patients for safety evaluation and reported that the most frequent treatment-related adverse events were abdominal pain (1.3%) and diarrhoea (0.7%) in the short-term fluconazole group; headache (0.9%) and rash (0.6%) in the medium-term fluconazole group; and headache (1.7%), abdominal pain (1.4%) and dyspepsia (1.0%) in the griseofulvin group. There were no significant differences between the three groups with regard to all causality and treatment-related adverse events. Two studies reported nausea as an adverse effect in the griseofulvin group (Dastghaib 2005; Gupta 2001).

Secondary outcomes

None of the studies in this comparison reported on recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period or the time taken to cure.

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Two studies reported this outcome (Foster 2005; Gupta 2001). Foster 2005 reported that the proportions of participants with clinical cure only at week 10 were 40% (98/245), 46% (112/246), and 40% (92/230) in the short-term fluconazole, medium-term fluconazole, and griseofulvin groups, respectively.

Gupta 2001 reported the proportions of participants with clinical cure only at the end of treatment (week 4 for fluconazole and week 6 for griseofulvin) were 26% (13/50) and 70% (35/50) in the fluconazole and griseofulvin groups, respectively (RR 0.37, 95% CI 0.22 to 0.61; Analysis 9.2).

Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Two studies reported this outcome (Foster 2005; Gupta 2001). Foster 2005 reported that the percentages of drop-outs were 12% (37/302), 7% (21/286), and 8% (24/292) in the short-term fluconazole, medium-term fluconazole and griseofulvin groups, respectively.

The same percentage of drop-outs was reported for both groups in Gupta 2001 (8% versus 8%, RR 1.00, 95% CI 0.26 to 3.78; Analysis 9.3).

Fluconazole (2 to 3 weeks) versus terbinafine (2 to 3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 weeks followup

This update did not identify any new studies addressing the outcomes for this comparison. Moreover, none of the trials evaluating this comparison reported on adverse events, recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period or the time taken to cure.

Primary outcome

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Only one study reported this outcome (Gupta 2001). The efficacy of fluconazole for two to three weeks was compared with terbinafine, dosed according to weight for two to three weeks in *Trichophyton* infections. The proportions of participants with complete cure were 82% (41/50) for the fluconazole arm and 94% (47/50) for the terbinafine arm (RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.01; N = 100; low quality evidence; Analysis 10.1; Summary of findings 6).

Secondary outcomes

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Only one study reported this outcome (Gupta 2001). The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at the end of treatment (week 4 for terbinafine and fluconazole) was not significantly different in the terbinafine group compared with the fluconazole group ((40% versus 26%; RR 1.54, 95% CI 0.86 to 2.74).

Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Only one study reported this outcome (Gupta 2001). The percentage of drop-outs was 4% (2/50) and 8% (4/50) in the terbinafine and fluconazole groups, respectively (RR 0.50, 95% CI 0.10 to 2.61).

11. Fluconazole (2 to 3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2 to 3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 weeks follow-up

This update did not identify any new studies addressing the outcomes for this comparison. Moreover, none of the trials evaluating this comparison reported on adverse events, recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period or the time taken to cure.

Primary outcome

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Only one study reported this outcome (Gupta 2001). When fluconazole treatment was compared with itraconazole in participants with *Trichophyton* tinea capitis, in doses of 5 mg/kg/d daily for two to three weeks, the proportion of participants with complete cure was 82% (41/50 and 41/50) for both groups (RR 1.00, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.20; N = 100; low quality evidence; Analysis 11.1; Summary of findings 7).

Secondary outcome:

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Only one study reported this outcome (Gupta 2001). The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at the end of treatment (week four in itraconazole and fluconazole groups) was nearly double in the itraconazole group: 44% (22/50) compared with 26% (13/50) in the fluconazole group, but the difference was not statistically significant (RR 1.69, 95% CI 0.96 to 2.97; Analysis 11.2).

Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Only one study reported this outcome (Gupta 2001). The same percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence was reported in both treatment groups (8%, 4/50; RR 1.00, 95% CI 0.26 to 3.78; Analysis 11.3).

12. Fluconazole low dose versus higher dose (1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 mg/kg/d) in Trichophyton infections; 4 months follow-up

This update did not identify any new studies addressing the outcomes for this comparison. In fact, we found a single study for this comparison, and it only reported on one primary outcome (complete cure) and not on any of our secondary outcomes (Solomon 1997). We categorised data into three subgroups comprising 1.5 mg versus 3.0 mg; 1.5 mg versus 6.0 mg; and 3.0 mg versus 6.0 mg.

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Primary outcome

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Solomon 1997 compared different doses of fluconazole: 1.5 mg/kg/d, 3.0 mg/kg/d, and 6.0 mg/kg/d, for 20 days in a group of 41 participants with tinea capitis caused by the *Trichophyton* species. Authors reported efficacy in only 27 participants and did not provide details on drop-outs by group. However, they reported the total missing participants (34%) in the study. Thus, we assumed that the same percentage was applied for the missing participants randomly assigned in the 1.5 mg/kg/d, 3.0 mg/kg/d and 6.0 mg/kg/d groups, respectively. Intention-to-treat efficacy rates in the 1.5 mg/kg/d, 3.0 mg/kg/d and 6.0 mg/kg/d groups were 17% (2/12), 40% (6/15) and 57% (8/14), respectively.

Although higher doses resulted in more cures than lower doses, none of the comparisons reached statistical significance (3.0 mg versus 1.5 mg: RR 2.40, 95% CI 0.59 to 9.82; Analysis 12.1; 6.0 mg versus 1.5 mg: RR 3.43, 95% CI 0.89 to 13.15; Analysis 12.1; 6.0 mg versus 3.0 mg: RR 1.43, 95% CI 0.66 to 3.08; Analysis 12.1).

13. Treatment durations of fluconazole (3 weeks versus 6 weeks); 10 weeks follow-up

One new study added to this update evaluated this comparison, but it did not report on adverse events, recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period or the time taken to cure (Foster 2005).

Primary outcome

Complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Foster 2005 compared different treatment duration of fluconazole: short-term use of fluconazole (6 mg/kg/d for three weeks) and medium-term use of fluconazole (6 mg/kg/d for six weeks). At week 10, there was no significant difference with regard to the proportion of participants with complete cure for the short-term and medium-term use of fluconazole in children infected with *T. tonsurans* and *M. canis* (30.2%, 74/245 versus 34.1%, 84/246; RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.68 to 1.14; N = 491; low quality evidence; Analysis 13.1; Summary of findings 8).

Secondary outcomes

Proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Foster 2005 reported that short-term use of fluconazole and medium-term use of fluconazole had similar effects on clinical cure (RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.72 to 1.08).

Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Foster 2005 reported the percentage of drop-outs was 12% (37/302) and 7% (21/286) in the short-term and medium-term fluconazole groups, respectively (RR 1.67, 95% CI 1.00 to 2.78).

ADDITIONAL SUMMARY OF FINDINGS [Explanation]

Itraconazole versus griseofulvin for children infected with Trichophyton and Microsporum

Patient or population: children infected with *Trichophyton* and *Microsporum* Intervention: itraconazole (2-6 weeks duration) Comparison: griseofulvin (6 weeks duration)

Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% Cl)	No of participants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)
	Assumed risk Corresponding risk				
	Griseofulvin Itraconazole				
Proportion of participants with complete cure	910 per 1000	838 per 1000 (737 to 956)	RR 0.92 (0.81 to 1.05)	134 (2 studies)	$\oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$ Very low ^{a,b,c}

*The basis for the **assumed risk** (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The **corresponding risk** (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the **relative effect** of the intervention (and its 95% Cl). **Cl**: confidence interval; **RR**: risk ratio.

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.

Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate.

Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate.

Very low quality: We are very uncertain about the estimate.

^aDowngraded one level because both studies were at unclear risk of bias.

^bDowngraded one level because the treatment duration of itraconazole was significantly heterogenous between the two included studies.

^cDowngraded one level because total number of events was less than 300.

tifungal therany f	Patient or population: childr Intervention: itraconazole (2	actinatione versus terbinatione in children infected with <i>Trichophyton</i> attent or population: children infected with <i>Trichophyton</i> tervention: itraconazole (2 weeks duration) comparison: terbinafine (2 weeks duration)						
or tinea ca	Outcomes	Illustrative comparation	ve risks* (95% Cl)	Relative effect (95% Cl)	No of participants Quality of the evidence (studies) (GRADE)			
bitis in		Assumed risk	Corresponding risk					
childre		Terbinafine	Itraconazole					
n (Review)	Proportion of participants with complete cure	788 per 1000	732 per 1000 (567 to 937)	RR 0.93 (0.72 to 1.19)	160 (2 studies)	$\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$ Low a,b		

*The basis for the **assumed risk** (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The **corresponding risk** (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the **relative effect** of the intervention (and its 95% Cl). **Cl**: confidence interval; **RR**: risk ratio.

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.

Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate.

Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate.

Very low quality: We are very uncertain about the estimate.

^aDowngraded one level because both studies were at unclear risk to bias.

Itraconazole versus terbinafine in children infected with Trichathytan

 $^b\mbox{Downgraded}$ one level because total number of events was less than 300.

Ketoconazole versus griseofulvin in children infected with Trichophyton										
	Patient or population: children infected with <i>Trichophyton</i> Intervention: ketoconazole (12-26 weeks duration) Comparison: griseofulvin (12-26 weeks duration)									
	Outcomes	Illustrative compara	ative risks* (95% CI)	Relative effectNo of participants(95% Cl)(studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments				
		Assumed risk	Corresponding risk	_						
		Griseofulvin	Ketoconazole							
i	Proportion of partic- ipants with complete cure Follow-up: 12 weeks	964 per 1000	733 per 1000 (598 to 906)	RR 0.76 (0.62 to 0.94)	62 (1 study)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low ^{a,b}	Ketocona- zole (12 weeks) versus griseofulvin (12 weeks)			
	Proportion of partic- ipants with complete cure Follow-up: 26 weeks		920 per 1000 (810 to 1000)	RR 0.92 (0.81 to 1.03)	62 (1 study)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low ^{a,b}	Ketoconazole (up to 26 weeks) versus griseo- fulvin (up to 26 weeks)			
	Proportion of partic- ipants with complete cure Follow-up: 12 weeks		484 per 1000 (310 to 755)	RR 0.89 (0.57 to 1.39)	79 (1 study)	$\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$ Low ^{a,b}	Ketocona- zole (12 weeks) versus griseofulvin (12 weeks)			

*The basis for the assumed risk (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The corresponding risk (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (and its 95% Cl). CI: confidence interval; RR: risk ratio.

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.

Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate.

Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate.

Very low quality: We are very uncertain about the estimate.

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ü

^aDowngraded one level because the study was at high risk of bias. ^bDowngraded one level because total number of events was less than 300.

Fluconazole versus griseofulvin in children with tinea capitis

Patient or population: children with tinea capitis

Intervention: fluconazole (for the first outcome: 2-4 weeks duration; for the second outcome: 6 weeks duration)

Comparison: griseofulvin (6 weeks duration)

Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% Cl)	No of participants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)	
	Assumed risk Corresponding risk					
	Griseofulvin Fluconazole					
Proportion of participants with complete cure Follow-up: 2-4 weeks	449 per 1000	413 per 1000 (368 to 466)	RR 0.92 (0.81 to 1.05)	615 (3 studies)	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \bigcirc$ Moderate ^{<i>a</i>}	
Proportion of participants with complete cure Follow-up: 8-12 weeks	322 per 1000	341 per 1000 (248 to 470)	RR 1.06 (0.77 to 1.46)	361 (1 study)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low ^{b,c}	

*The basis for the **assumed risk** (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The **corresponding risk** (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the **relative effect** of the intervention (and its 95% Cl). **Cl**: confidence interval; **RR**: risk ratio.

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.

Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate.

Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate.

Very low quality: We are very uncertain about the estimate.

^aDowngraded one level because one of the three studies was at high risk of bias, the other two were at unclear risk of bias.

^bDowngraded one level because the study was at unclear risk of bias.

^cDowngraded one level because total number of events was less than 300.
Patient or population: children infected with <i>Trichophyton</i> Intervention: fluconazole (2-3 weeks duration) Comparison: terbinafine (2-3 weeks duration)					
Outcomes	Illustrative comparative ris	ks* (95% CI)	Relative effect (95% Cl)	No of participants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk			
	Terbinafine	Fluconazole			
The proportion of partici- pants with complete cure Follow-up: 12 weeks	940 per 1000	818 per 1000 (705 to 949)	RR 0.87 (0.75 to 1.01)	100 (1 study)	$\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$ Low ^{a,b}

*The basis for the **assumed risk** (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The **corresponding risk** (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the **relative effect** of the intervention (and its 95% Cl). **Cl**: confidence interval; **RR**: risk ratio.

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.

Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate.

Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate.

Very low quality: We are very uncertain about the estimate.

^a Downgraded one level because the study was at unclear risk of bias.

Fluconazole versus terbinafine for children infected with Trichophyton

^bDowngraded one level because total number of events was less than 300.

Fluconazole versus itraconazole in children infected with Trichophyton Patient or population: children infected with Trichophyton Intervention: fluconazole (2-3 weeks duration) Comparison: itraconazole (2-3 weeks duration)					
Outcomes	Illustrative comparati	ve risks* (95% CI)	Relative effect (95% Cl)	No of participants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk			
	Itraconazole	Fluconazole			
Proportion of participants with complete cure Follow-up:12 weeks	820 per 1000	820 per 1000 (681 to 984)	RR 1.00 (0.83 to 1.20)	100 (1 study)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low ^{a,b}
	n the comparison grou	control group risk across stud p and the relative effect of the			(and its 95% confidence interval) is

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.

Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate.

Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate.

Very low quality: We are very uncertain about the estimate.

^a Downgraded one level because the study was at unclear risk of bias.

^bDowngraded one level because total number of events was less than 300.

Patient or population: childr Intervention: fluconazole (3 Comparison: fluconazole (6	,	nd <i>M. canis</i>			
Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% Cl)	No of participants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk			
	Fluconazole (6 weeks du- ration)	Fluconazole (3 weeks du- ration)			
Proportion of participants with complete cure Follow-up: 8-12 weeks	341 per 1000	300 per 1000 (232 to 389)	RR 0.88 (0.68 to 1.14)	491 (1 study)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low ^{a,b}
	n the comparison group and t				and its 95% confidence interval)
Moderate quality: Further re Low quality: Further researc	ch is very unlikely to change o search is likely to have an imj	portant impact on our confide ortant impact on our confide	ence in the estimate o	f effect and may change the e effect and is likely to change	
	use the study was at unclear	riak of high			

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

In this updated review, we included 25 studies (comprising of 4449 participants), including 4 new studies (2637 participants) added to this update. The data from the included studies produced 13 main comparisons of interventions.

Terbinafine versus griseofulvin

In our meta-analyses of terbinafine for 4 weeks versus griseofulvin for 8 weeks assessed at 12 to 24 weeks of follow-up, the result favoured neither terbinafine nor griseofulvin for *Trichophyton* infections (RR 1.06, 95% CI 0.98 to 1.15; N = 328, 3 RCTs; low quality evidence; Summary of findings for the main comparison) for our primary outcome of complete cure. This was also the case for mixed *Trichophyton* and *Microsporum* infections in two studies and in a single study analysis of *Microsporum* infections.

New evidence from Elewski 2008 indicated that terbinafine (at standard doses according to the participant's weight for six weeks) achieved a similar proportion with complete cure as griseofulvin (at standard doses according to the participant's weight for six weeks) in children infected with *Trichophyton*, when followed up for 10 weeks (RR 1.18, 95% CI 0.74 to 1.88; N = 1006; 1 RCT; low quality evidence, Summary of findings for the main comparison). Sub-group analysis assessing response to treatment in children infected with *T. tonsurans* revealed that terbinafine is better than griseofulvin. This new evidence resulted in a change in the conclusions of this review. However, both of the two regimens had similar effects in children with *T. violaceum*.

There is moderate quality evidence that griseofulvin (6 to 12 weeks) is better than medium-term (6 to 8 weeks) use of terbinafine with respect to the proportion of participants achieving complete cure (RR 0.68, 95% CI 0.53 to 0.86; N = 334; 2 RCTs; Summary of findings for the main comparison). This evidence in favour of the efficacy of griseofulvin in *Microsporum* infection was newly added to this update (Elewski 2008).

Moderate quality evidence also confirmed that the adverse events and severe adverse events are comparable between terbinafine and griseofulvin, the adverse events being mild and reversible in most cases (RR 1.11, 95% CI 0.79 to 1.57; N = 1549; 1 RCT; Summary of findings for the main comparison).

Different dose regimens of terbinafine

We investigated a possible relationship between dose, duration and response for terbinafine. A meta-analysis of four studies indicated that a four-week treatment duration of terbinafine was significantly better than one or two weeks of treatment with respect to complete cure of *Trichophyton* and *Microsporum* infections (RR 0.73, 95% CI 0.62 to 0.86; N = 552; 4 RCTs). There were no differences in the proportion of participants who were completely cured, or cured clinically, when comparing medium-term (6 to 8 weeks) versus long-term (10 to 12 weeks) terbinafine in a singlestudy analysis. Comparisons of adverse events between the different terms of treatment showed that the adverse events were mild and comparable between the groups. A single-study comparison of the standard dose of terbinafine compared to a double dose in one study of *Microsporum* infections showed that the effectiveness in completely curing the infection was comparable between regimens when assessed at 20 weeks follow-up.

Itraconazole versus griseofulvin

A meta-analysis of two studies found no significant difference between itraconazole and griseofulvin for achieving a complete cure in children with *Trichophyton* and *Microsporum* (RR 0.92, CI 0.81 to 1.05; N = 134; 2 RCTs; very low quality evidence; Summary of findings 2).

Itraconazole versus terbinafine

A meta-analysis of two studies indicated that there was no significant difference between itraconazole and griseofulvin for achieving a complete cure in children infected with *Trichophyton* (RR 0.93, CI 0.72 to 1.19; N = 160; 2 RCTs; low quality evidence; Summary of findings 3).

Ketoconazole versus griseofulvin

Current evidence regarding ketoconazole versus griseofulvin was limited. One study favoured griseofulvin, because ketoconazole (for 12 weeks) appeared to be less effective in terms of complete cure than griseofulvin for the same period (RR 0.76; 95% CI 0.62 to 0.94; Gan 1987). However, by the end of the study, when the treatment duration was extended up to a maximum of 26 weeks in those who had not achieved a cure by 12 weeks, their effects appeared to be similar (RR 0.95, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.07). Another study indicated that the proportion with a complete cure was similar in the ketoconazole (for 12 weeks) and griseofulvin (for 12 weeks) groups (RR 0.89, 95% CI 0.57 to 1.39; Summary of findings 4).

Fluconazole versus other therapies (griseofulvin or terbinafine or fluconazole)

A meta-analysis of three studies indicated that fluconazole and griseofulvin had similar effects for achieving complete cure either in the short term of two to four weeks (RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.81 to 1.05; N = 500; 3 RCTs moderate quality evidence) or in the medium term of six weeks (RR 1.06, 95% CI 0.77 to 1.46; N = 361; 1 RCT low quality evidence, Summary of findings 5).

A single study analysis of one small trial showed no differences between either of the two interventions for the outcome of complete cure when fluconazole was compared with terbinafine, both

administered for two to three weeks (RR 0.87 CI 0.75 to 1.01; N = 100; 1 RCT; low quality evidence; Summary of findings 6), or when fluconazole was compared to itraconazole each administered for two to three weeks, for *Trichophyton* infections (RR 1.00 CI 0.83 to 1.20; N = 100, 1 RCT low quality evidence, Summary of findings 7).

Different dosages of fluconazole

The dosage of fluconazole was compared in one small single study analysis, that is, 1.5, 3.0, and 6.0 mg/k/d in *Trichophyton* infections, with no significant differences between the groups, although higher doses resulted in more cures in each comparison when followed up at 4 months.

Different treatment duration of fluconazole

A further single study analysis of treatment duration of fluconazole treatment comparing short-term (3-week) versus mediumterm (6-week) treatment at 10 weeks follow-up, showed no significant differences between the groups for children infected with *T. tonsurans* and *M. canis*.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

This review may help physicians worldwide weigh the advantages and disadvantages of systemic antifungal agents and the options when treating children with tinea capitis. It draws on detailed information derived from clinical trials assessing the efficacy of treatments for tinea capitis. However, caution is warranted when interpreting the data, because the 25 included studies published between 1987 to 2013 were conducted in different countries and included people of different ethnicities. Furthermore, fungal types varied from one trial to another. This means that our results may not be directly clinically applicable to individual participants and their specific situations.

Quality of the evidence

The quality of evidence in this review for each outcome, as presented in the 'Summary of findings' tables, was very low to moderate. The main reasons for downgrading the quality of the evidence for these outcomes were imprecision due to low sample sizes and risk of bias in the included studies.

Limitations in study design, execution, and reporting

The studies included in this review had several methodological limitations: only four studies adequately described the method of randomisation, and only two described adequate allocation concealment. Blinding of participants and personnel and blinding of outcome assessors was not adequate in any of the studies. Ten studies were at high risk of bias from incomplete reporting of outcome data (attrition bias), and although we judged that none was at high risk of selective reporting bias, we did not actually have access to the study protocols for comparison.

We detected other sources of bias, including failure to report disease severity or baseline comparability, but the extent to which these factors may have introduced bias was unclear. It is therefore important to emphasise that any conclusions that we have drawn are reliant on primary studies with varying degrees of bias. Readers should consider risk of bias when interpreting these results (Figure 3) and exercise caution with findings derived from studies with high or unclear risk of bias.

Inconsistency of the results

Inconsistency refers to an unexplained heterogeneity of the results across studies.

In this review, most of the comparisons were assessed in single studies, so assessment of consistency of the results across studies was not necessary. In outcomes for which the data were pooled, inconsistency of effects was only identified for one outcome (complete cure, terbinafine versus griseofulvin, Summary of findings for the main comparison). In this outcome, we downgraded one level because I² of the pooled outcome was 85%, which indicated substantial heterogeneity. One source of heterogeneity in this analysis of *Trichophyton* infections may be that the analysis included both *T. tonsurans and T. violaceum* infections; however, the extent to which this clinical heterogeneity contributed to the observed statistical heterogeneity is unclear.

Imprecision of the results

Results are considered imprecise when studies include relatively few patients and few effects. In this review, imprecision was identified in some comparisons, and the reason for imprecision was that total number of effects was less than 300 as recommended by the GRADE handbook (Schünemann 2013).

Indirectness of the evidence

The majority of the 4449 participants with fungal infections in the 25 included studies were aged 2 to 16 years, so the evidence we found directly relates to the disease population of interest. In this review, patient-reported outcomes (PROs), such as quality of life, were rarely reported in the included studies. PROs are important for evidence-based clinical decision making and need to be addressed in future studies.

Publication bias

It was impossible to perform a funnel plot analysis to assess potential publication bias for any of our outcomes because of the

limited number of trials; there were only one to three studies for each comparison.

Potential biases in the review process

Our assessment of the included studies was based on the published manuscripts; therefore, the results were inevitably influenced by the reporting quality of these studies. Undoubtedly, poor reporting quality influences the accuracy of the assessments, and we were unable to obtain further information from the trial investigators we contacted. Pather 2006 was a conference paper that appeared to meet the inclusion criteria, but as we could not obtain further information, we could not include or exclude it. This may be a source of potential bias, as the conclusions of the review could change once that study has been assessed. We attempted to conduct a comprehensive search for studies, but theoretically, there might be some missing studies because we did not search all local medical databases around the world.

In addition, clinical heterogeneity between included studies is inevitable because each study had participants with different ethnicities, types of fungal infection, severity of disease, dosages of drugs, and durations of treatment and follow-up. Clinical heterogeneity could introduce bias when we combined the results of different studies by meta-analysis.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

Griseofulvin

In this review, griseofulvin was employed as a standard therapy for the evaluation of any newer treatments for tinea capitis.

An earlier meta-analysis found that griseofulvin was an effective therapy for tinea capitis (Gupta 2008). This conclusion is supported by the findings of our review: in our meta-analyses of griseofulvin versus terbinafine (two to four weeks), griseofulvin (six to eight weeks) was at least as effective as terbinafine for *Trichophyton*, *Microsporum* and mixed *Trichophyton* and *Microsporum* infections for our primary outcome of complete cure.

Tey 2011, another meta-analysis, concluded that "griseofulvin is more efficacious than terbinafine in treating tinea capitis caused by *Microsporum* species". Additionally, Gupta 2013 performed a further meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials and found no differences in the overall efficacy of the two drugs at the doses specified, but differences were observed based on the infectious species, i.e. griseofulvin was superior for *Microsporum* spp., whereas terbinafine was superior for *Trichophyton* spp. The recent guideline from the British Association of Dermatologists (BAD) also recommended griseofulvin as the first-line treatment for tinea capitis in children, especially in those infected with *Microsporum* spp. (Fuller 2014). This update of the review also provides new, moderate quality evidence that for *Microsporum* infections, griseofulvin is better than terbinafine with respect to the proportion of participants achieving complete cure (Summary of findings for the main comparison), which is in agreement with previous reviews and guidelines.

In our other comparisons of griseofulvin with triazole antifungal agents (itraconazole, fluconazole and ketoconazole) we found no evidence that griseofulvin was superior in efficacy for the outcome of complete cure, but these were small trials, and the quality of the evidence was moderate at best.

We found only limited evidence about the most suitable doses, duration and formulations of griseofulvin. Dosage recommendations for griseofulvin vary due to different formulations (Higgins 2000), and taking griseofulvin with fatty food improves its absorption and bioavailability. Some trials recommended higher doses for microsized griseofulvin but not for ultra-microsized griseofulvin, although up to 25 mg/kg may be necessary (Higgins 2000). We found no evidence that directly compared different formulations of griseofulvin.

The main disadvantage of griseofulvin is perceived to be long duration of treatment required, which may lead to reduced adherence. The European Society for Pediatric Dermatology (ESPD) recommended, "The treatment decision between griseofulvin and newer antifungal agents for children with *Trichophyton* spp. for tinea capitis can be based on an individual patient on the balance between duration of treatment adherence and economic considerations" (Kakourou 2010). It is still unclear if there is a difference in terms of adherence between four weeks of terbinafine versus eight weeks of griseofulvin, as in this review we did not find any evidence to support the hypothesis that adherence improves with shorter courses of treatment. It could be argued, though, that long courses of griseofulvin versus shorter courses of terbinafine for example, already incorporate any reduced adherence simply because of the longer duration of the former.

We included two studies that reported data on duration of treatment for participants infected with *Microsporum* (Elewski 2008; Lipozencic 2002). A lower proportion of participants treated with six to eight weeks of terbinafine in *M. canis and M. audouini* infections achieved complete cure compared to those treated with griseofulvin (not statistically significant). Long-term duration of treatment (10 or 12 weeks) resulted in a higher proportion of participants achieving complete cure in the griseofulvin group than in the terbinafine group (Summary of findings for the main comparison). However, in the absence of further direct comparisons of duration or formulations, we cannot comment further on the optimal regimens for treating tinea capitis in children with griseofulvin.

Griseofulvin is reported to be a safe drug, although it commonly causes side effects such as headaches and gastrointestinal upsets (Bennassar 2010). Despite the assumption that gastrointestinal disturbance is a major drawback of the older drugs like griseofulvin, we did not find reports of gastrointestinal disturbance as-

sociated with use of griseofulvin in our included studies. We acknowledge that while RCTs may not always provide a platform for reporting rare side effects, they are a reasonable method of detecting common ones. We included common adverse events as an outcome in our review; however, the included studies registered some infrequent adverse events that may or may not be related to griseofulvin treatment. We did find evidence that when they occur, severe adverse events are comparable between terbinafine and griseofulvin. In most cases, though, adverse events were mild and reversible. These included elevated serum liver enzymes, triglycerides and uric acid; anaemia, eosinophilia; leucocytosis and granulocytopenia. Although few observed adverse events were labelled as severe, periodic monitoring every month of organ system functions, including hepatic, renal and haematopoietic (blood) systems is advisable in those taking griseofulvin for more than eight weeks (Möhrenschlager 2005).

Griseofulvin has traditionally been the most widely used systemic treatment for tinea capitis, and its advantages are that it is inexpensive, there is extensive experience of its use, the suspension dosage form allows for accurate dosing in children, and it is licensed in most countries. However, griseofulvin is no longer available in New Zealand and other countries including Canada (Bortolussi 2016), as it has been superseded by newer antifungal drugs.

Terbinafine

The original version of this review found that terbinafine was at least as effective as griseofulvin for the treatment of *Trichophytom* infections of the scalp. In this update, we added some new evidence to support this finding. We found that for *T. tonsurans*, terbinafine is better than griseofulvin, while the two regimens had similar effects in children with *T. violaceum*. This finding also agrees with that of a previous meta-analysis comparing terbinafine against griseofulvin (Fleece 2004).

The efficacy of terbinafine treatment may vary according to the fungal species isolated. New evidence in this update shows that terbinafine has a poorer effect on complete cure in participants with *Microsporum* infections. This finding correlates with the 2014 BAD guideline (Fuller 2014), which concluded that terbinafine was more effective against *Trichophyton* species; whereas griseofulvin was more effective against *Microsporum* species.

We found no evidence about formulations of terbinafine. While tablets may be preferred by some children (age five years and older perhaps), they may not allow for dosage individualisation (generally calculated by body weight, therefore smaller doses may be required than that provided by tablet formations). Drops or syrups are preferable to tablets for dosage individualisation in children, and there is a granule formation of terbinafine to be sprinkled on food (Fuller 2014).

The duration of terbinafine therapy may be important. Limited evidence from observational studies suggests that longer therapeutic regimens of terbinafine may improve complete cure for those infected with *Microsporum* species (Aste 2004; Commens 2003;

Devliotou 2004). In our meta-analysis of four studies that directly compared two weeks versus four weeks duration of terbinafine, a longer treatment duration was significantly better than a short duration for a complete cure.

Itraconazole

Itraconazole is currently the preferred agent in most European countries, although it is not licensed in some countries (e.g. the United Kingdom) for treating tinea capitis in children aged 12 years or younger (Fuller 2014). However, in this review, we only identified limited evidence based on small trials suggesting that oral itraconazole at weight-adjusted doses was effective and safe for tinea capitis caused by *T. violaceum* (two weeks of treatment) and *M. canis* (six weeks of treatment). More well-designed RCTs with large sample sizes are needed to confirm the safety, efficacy and optimal treatment regimens of itraconazole for paediatric tinea capitis patients.

Fluconazole

In this update, we included a large RCT that compared shortterm use of fluconazole (6 mg/kg/d for three weeks) with mediumterm use of fluconazole (6 mg/kg/d for six weeks) (Foster 2005). According to this study, short-term and medium-term use of fluconazole had a similar effect on complete cure. In the 2014 BAD guideline (Fuller 2014), fluconazole was recommended as an alternative to terbinafine for tinea capitis in children. However, the optimal regimen of fluconazole for treating paediatric tinea capitis remains unclear. Based on Fuller 2014 and the findings of this review, short-term duration of fluconazole may be a useful treatment regimen.

Ketoconazole

This review identified low quality evidence that indicated that ketoconazole appeared to have similar efficacy with griseofulvin for tinea capitis in children, although it appears to be less effective than griseofulvin for children with tinea capitis caused by *Trichophyton* species (Gan 1987). However, ketoconazole is not recommended for use in children because of potential adverse events, especially hepatotoxicity (Elewski 2000), and oral ketoconazole was withdrawn from use in the United Kingdom and Europe in 2013 (Fuller 2014).

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

There is very low to moderate quality evidence to support the use of griseofulvin to treat tinea capitis in children, caused by *T. tonsurans, M. canis, T. mentagrophytes* and *T. violaceum*. Overall

griseofulvin is considered to be safe in children. On the basis of the studies described, the recommended dosage regimen for children is continuous therapy for six to eight weeks with tablets or suspension including microsized and ultra-microsized preparations, adjusted according to the child's weight.

This review supports the idea that although griseofulvin will continue to remain the first-line choice in tinea capitis, terbinafine may constitute another first-line drug that is well tolerated and has few side effects. Long-term (more than six weeks) terbinafine therapy cannot be recommended on the basis of this review. However, new evidence of moderate quality in this update indicates that terbinafine (at standard doses for six weeks) may be a better choice than griseofulvin (at standard doses for six weeks) in children infected with *T. tonsurans*. However, the two regimens have similar effects in children with *T. violaceum*. In addition, in the case of *M. canis*, griseofulvin may be a better choice.

We included trials on various other drugs. Limited evidence indicates that terbinafine, itraconazole and fluconazole may have similar effects for children with tinea capitis caused by *Trichophyton* species. Ketoconazole appears to be less effective for children infected with *Trichophyton* species, but limited data prevents us from making any firm conclusions about their relative efficacy.

Some evidence based on a few studies shows that oral itraconazole at doses according to the child's weight for two to six weeks is effective and safe for tinea capitis caused by *T. violaceum* (two weeks of treatment) and *M. canis* (six weeks of treatment). In addition, evidence of moderate quality shows that two to four weeks of fluconazole are comparable to six weeks of griseofulvin, especially with tinea capitis caused by *Trichophyton* species.

The adverse events of terbinafine, griseofulvin, itraconazole, ketoconazole, and fluconazole were all mild and reversible, and the adverse events and severe adverse events are comparable between terbinafine and griseofulvin.

Implications for research

The majority of the literature about systemic antifungal treatment for tinea capitis is on griseofulvin. There need to be more studies on any advantages of the newer and relatively expensive antifungals such as ketoconazole,terbinafine, itraconazole and fluconazole, both in comparison to each other and to griseofulvin.

Any studies would need to be of adequate sample size, involving different treatment doses and duration of treatment to determine the clinical effectiveness and any adverse events. Importantly, further research is also required regarding the impact on mode of administration and adherence to treatment (which may be needed over several weeks) in children. Patient-reported outcomes such as quality of life are important for evidence-based clinical decisions and need to be addressed in future studies.

In order to ensure the reporting quality of any clinical trials undertaken, they must conform to the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) 2010 statement (Schulz 2010).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We acknowledge the authors of the original review: Terry Seaton; George Bergus; Jim Jacobson; and Cecilia Martínez-Monzón.

The original version of this review was funded by the Cochrane Child Health Field, Alberta Research Centre for Child Health Evidence, University of Alberta, Canada; The Spanish Society of Dermato-Epidemiology and Evidence-based dermatology (SEDE-DBE) and the Clínica Plató, Fundació Privada of Barcelona.

The Cochrane Skin Group editorial base wishes to thank Hywel Williams, who was the Dermatology Editor for this review; Ben Carter who was the Statistical Editor; Esther van Zuuren, who was Methods Editor; the clinical referee, Rachael Morris-Jones; another clinical referee who wishes to remain anonymous; and the consumer referee, Audrey Pellicano.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Cáceres-Ríos 2000 {published data only}

* Cáceres-Ríos H, Rueda M, Ballona R, Bustamante B. Comparison of terbinafine and griseofulvin in the treatment of tinea capitis. *Journal of the American Academy* of *Dermatology* 2000;**42**(1 Pt 1):80–4. [MEDLINE: 10607324] Cáceres-Ríos H, Rueda M, Ballona R, Mostajo F,

Kumakawa H, Bustamante B. Comparison of terbinafine and griseofulvin in the treatment of tinea capitis. [Abstract 015]. *Annales de Dermatologie et de Venereologie* 1998;**125** (Suppl 1):1s21.

Dastghaib 2005 {published data only}

* Dastghaib L, Azizzadeh M, Jafari P. Therapeutic options for the treatment of tinea capitis: griseofulvin versus fluconazole. *Journal of Dermatological Treatment* 2005;**16** (1):43–6. [MEDLINE: 15897167]

Deng 2011 {published data only}

Deng S, Hu H, Abliz P, Wan Z, Wang A, Cheng W, et al. A random comparative study of terbinafine versus griseofulvin in patients with tinea capitis in Western China. *Mycopathologia* 2011;**172**(5):365–72. [MEDLINE: 21701791]

Elewski 2008 {published data only}

Elewski BE, Caceres HW, DeLeon L, El Shimy S, Hunter JA, Korotkiy N, et al. Terbinafine hydrochloride oral granules versus oral griseofulvin suspension in children with tinea capitis: results of two randomized, investigatorblinded, multicenter, international, controlled trials. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 2008;**59**(1):41–54. [MEDLINE: 18378354]

Foster 2005 {published data only}

Foster KW, Friedlander SF, Panzer H, Ghannoum MA, Elewski BE. A randomized controlled trial assessing the efficacy of fluconazole in the treatment of pediatric tinea capitis. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 2005;**53**(5):798–809. [MEDLINE: 16243128]

Friedlander 2002 {published data only}

* Friedlander SF, Aly R, Krafchik B, Blumer J, Honig P, Stewart D, et al. Terbinafine in the treatment of *Trichophyton* tinea capitis: a randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, duration-finding study. *Pediatrics* 2002;**109** (4):602–7. [MEDLINE: 11927703]

Fuller 2001 {published data only}

* Fuller LC, Smith CH, Cerio R, Marsden RA, Midgley G, Beard AL, et al. A randomized comparison of 4 weeks of terbinafine vs. 8 weeks of griseofulvin for the treatment of tinea capitis. *British Journal of Dermatology* 2001;**144**(2): 321–7. [MEDLINE: 11251566]

Gan 1987 {published data only}

* Gan VN, Petruska M, Ginsburg CM. Epidemiology and treatment of tinea capitis: ketoconazole vs. griseofulvin. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1987;**6**(1):46–9. [MEDLINE: 3822616]

Gupta 2001 {published data only}

* Gupta AK, Adam P, Dlova N, Lynde CW, Hofstader S, Morar N, et al. Therapeutic options for the treatment of tinea capitis caused by trichophyton species: griseofulvin versus the new oral antifungal agents, terbinafine, itraconazole, and fluconazole. *Pediatric Dermatology* 2001; **18**(5):433–8. [MEDLINE: 11737692]

Hamm 1999 {published data only}

* Hamm H, Schwinn A, Bräutigam M, Weidinger G. Short duration treatment with terbinafine for tinea capitis caused by *Trichophyton* or *Microsporum* species. The Study Group. *British Journal of Dermatology* 1999;**140**(3):480–2. [MEDLINE: 10233270]

Schwinn A, Hamm H, Bräutigam M, Weidinger G, Williams T. What is the best approach to tinea capitis with terbinafine? [Abstract P147]. *Annales de Dermatologie et de Venereologie* 1998;**125**(Suppl 1):1s133–1s134.

Schwinn A, Hamm H, Bräutigam M, Weidinger G,

Williams T. What is the best approach to tinea capitis with terbinafine? [Abstract P199]. The 7th Congress of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology; 7-11 Oct 1998; Nice. *Journal of the European Academy of*

Dermatology & Venereology 1998;11(Suppl 2):s232.

Haroon 1995 {published data only}

Alvi KH, Iqbal N, Khan KA, Haroon TS, Hussain I, Aman S, et al. A randomized, double blind trial of the efficacy and tolerability of terbinafine once daily compared to griseofulvin once daily in the treatment of tinea capitis. In: Shuster S, Jafary MH editor(s). *Royal Society of Medicine Services International Congress Series.* Vol. **205**, London: Royal Society of Medicine Press Ltd, 1992:35–40. Haroon TS, Hussain I, Aman S, Jahangir M, Kazmi AH, Sami AR, et al. Randomized double-blind multicentre study of efficacy and tolerability of terbinafine for 1, 2, and 4 weeks in the treatment of tinea capitis. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology & Venereology* 1995;**5** (Suppl 1):s79–s80.

* Haroon TS, Hussain I, Aman S, Nagi AH, Ahmad I, Zahid M, et al. A randomized double-blind comparative study of terbinafine and griseofulvin in tinea capitis. *Journal* of *Dermatological Treatment* 1995;6(3):167–9. [DOI: 10.3109/09546639509097176; EMBASE: 1995319728]

Haroon 1996 {published data only}

* Haroon TS, Hussain I, Aman S, Jahangir M, Kazmi AH, Sami AR, et al. A randomized double-blind comparative study of terbinafine for 1, 2, and 4 weeks in tinea capitis. *British Journal of Dermatology* 1996;**135**(1):86–8. [MEDLINE: 8776365]

Jahangir 1998 {published data only}

* Jahangir M, Hussain I, Ul Hassan M, Haroon TS. A double-blind, randomized, comparative trial of itraconazole versus terbinafine for 2 weeks in tinea capitis. *British Journal of Dermatology* 1998;**139**(4):672–4. [MEDLINE: 9892912]

Khan 2011 {published data only}

Khan SU, Khan AR, Wazir SM. Efficacy of terbinafine vs. griseofulvin in tinea capitis in the northern areas of Pakistan. *Journal of Pakistan Association of Dermatologists* 2011;**21**(4): 281–4.

Kullavanijaya 1997 {published data only}

* Kullavanijaya P, Reangchainam S, Ungpakorn R. Randomized single-blind study of efficacy and tolerability of terbinafine in the treatment of tinea capitis. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 1997;**37**(2 Pt 1): 272-3. Comment in Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology 1998; 39(1):136. [MEDLINE: 9270519]

Lipozencic 2002 {published data only}

* Lipozencic J, Skerlev M, Orofino-Costa R, Zaitz VC, Horvath A, Chouela E, et al. A randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, duration-finding study of oral terbinafine and open-label, high-dose griseofulvin in children with tinea capitis due to *Microsporum* species. *British Journal of Dermatology* 2002;**146**(5):816–23. [MEDLINE: 12000378]

López-Gómez 1994 {published data only}

* López-Gómez S, Del Palacio A, Van Cutsem J, Soledad Cuétara M, Iglesias L, Ródriguez-Noriega A. Itraconazole versus griseofulvin in the treatment of tinea capitis: a double-blind randomized study in children. *International*

Journal of Dermatology 1994;**33**(10):743-7. Comment in the International Journal of Dermatology 1994;33(10):701. [MEDLINE: 8002149]

Martínez-Roig 1988 {published data only}

* Martínez-Roig A, Torres-Rodríguez JM, Bartlett-Coma A. Double blind study of ketoconazole and griseofulvin in dermatophytoses. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1988;7(1):37–40. [MEDLINE: 3277154]

Memisoglu 1999 {published data only}

* Memisoglu HR, Erboz S, Akkaya S, Akan T, Aksungur VL, Ünal I, et al. Comparative study of the efficacy and tolerability of 4 weeks of terbinafine therapy with 8 weeks of griseofulvin therapy in children with tinea capitis. *Journal of Dermatological Treatment* 1999;**10**(3):189–93. [DOI: 10.3109/09546639909056027]

Rademaker 1998 {published data only}

* Rademaker M, Havill S. Griseofulvin and terbinafine in the treatment of tinea capitis in children. *New Zealand Medical Journal* 1998;**111**(1060):55–7. [MEDLINE: 9539918]

Solomon 1997 {published data only}

* Solomon BA, Collins R, Sharma R, Silverberg N, Jain AR, Sedgh J, et al. Fluconazole for the treatment of tinea capitis in children. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 1997;**37**(2 Pt 1):274–5. [MEDLINE: 9270520]

Talarico Filho 1998 {published data only}

* Filho ST, Cucé LC, Foss NT, Marques SA, Santamaria JR. Efficacy, safety and tolerability of terbinafine for tinea capitis in children: Brazilian multicentric study with daily oral tablets for 1, 2 and 4 weeks. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology & Venereology* 1998;**11**(2):141–6. [MEDLINE: 9784040]

Tanz 1985 {published data only}

* Tanz RR, Stagl S, Esterly NB. Comparison of ketoconazole and griseofulvin for treatment of tinea capitis in childhood: a preliminary study. *Pediatric Emergency Care* 1985;**1**(1): 16–8. [MEDLINE: 3916457]

Tanz 1988 {published data only}

* Tanz RR, Hebert AA, Esterly NB. Treating tinea capitis: Should ketoconazole replace griseofulvin?. *Journal of Pedriatics* 1988;**112**(6):987–91. [MEDLINE: 3373408]

Ungpakorn 2004 {published data only}

* Ungpakorn R, Ayutyanont T, Reangchainam S, Supanya S. Treatment of Microsporum spp. tinea capitis with pulsed oral terbinafine. *Clinical and Experimental Dermatology* 2004;**29**(3):300–3. [MEDLINE: 15115516]

References to studies excluded from this review

Ginsburg 1987 {published data only}

Ginsburg C, Ghan NV, Petruska M. Randomized controlled trial of intralesional corticosteroid and griseofulvin vs. griseofulvin alone for treatment of kerion. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1987;**6**(12):1084–7. [MEDLINE: 3324039]

Honig 1994 {published data only}

Honig PJ, Caputo GL, Leyden JJ, McGinley K, Selbst SM, McGravey AR. Treatment of kerions. *Pediatric Dermatology* 1994;**11**(1):69–71. [MEDLINE: 8170855]

Hussain 1999 {published data only}

Hussain I, Muzaffar F, Rashid T, Ahmad TJ, Jahangir M, Haroon TS. A randomized, comparative trial of treatment of kerion celsi with griseofulvin plus oral prednisolone vs. griseofulvin alone. *Medical Mycology* 1999;**37**(2):97–9. [MEDLINE: 10361264]

Koumantaki-Mathioudaki 2005 {published data only}

Koumantaki-Mathioudaki E, Devliotou-Panagiotidou D, Rallis E, Athanassopoulou V, Koussidou-Eremondi T, Katsambas A, et al. Is itraconazole the treatment of choice in Microsporum canis tinea capitis?. *Drugs Under Experimental & Clinical Research* 2005;**31**(Suppl):11–5. [MEDLINE: 16444907]

Shemer 2013 {published data only}

Shemer A, Plotnik IB, Davidovici B, Grunwald MH, Magun R, Amichai B. Treatment of tinea capitis griseofulvin versus fluconazole - a comparative study. Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft [Journal of the German Society of Dermatology] 2013;11(8):737–41. [MEDLINE: 23575220]

References to studies awaiting assessment

Pather 2006 {unpublished data only}

Pather S. A prospective, randomized, single-blinded trial to determine the efficacy of single and weekly dose regimens of oral griseofulvin versus 6 weeks of daily dosing in the treatment of tinea capitis in children. British Society for Paediatric Dermatology: Summaries of Papers [PA-6]. *British Journal of Dermatology* 2006;**155**(Suppl 1):108–109. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2006.07258[•]1.x]

Additional references

Abdel-Rahman 2005

Abdel-Rahman SM, Herron J, Fallon-Friedlander S, Hauffe S, Horowitz A, Riviere GJ. Pharmacokinetics of terbinafine in young children treated for tinea capitis. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 2005;**24**:886–91.

Aly 1999

Aly R. Ecology, epidemiology and diagnosis of tinea capitis. *The Pediatric Infectious Diseases Journal* 1999;**18**(2):180–5. [MEDLINE: 10048699]

Aste 2004

Aste N, Pau M. Tinea capitis caused by *Microsporum canis* treated with terbinafine. *Mycoses* 2004;**47**(9-10):428–30. [MEDLINE: 15504128]

Bennassar 2010

Bennassar A, Grimalt R. Management of tinea capitis in childhood. *Clinical, Cosmetic & Investigational Dermatology: CCID* 2010;**3**:89–98.

Bennett 2000

Bennett ML, Fleischer AB, Loveless JW, Feldman SR. Oral griseofulvin remains the treatment of choice for tinea capitis

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

in children. *Pediatric Dermatology* 2000;**17**(4):304–9. [MEDLINE: 10990583]

Blumer 1999

Blumer JL. Pharmacologic basis for the treatment of tinea capitis. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1999;**18**(2): 191–9. [MEDLINE: 10048701]

Bortolussi 2016

Bortolussi R, Martin S, Canadian Paediatric Society. Antifungal agents for common outpatient paediatric infections. http://www.cps.ca/documents/position/ antifungal-agents-common-infections (accessed 26 February 2016).

Chan 2004

Chan YC, Friedlander SF. Therapeutic options in the treatment of tinea capitis. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy* 2004;**5**(2):219–27. [MEDLINE: 14996619]

Commens 2003

Commens C. Which drug is most effective in treating childhood tinea capitis caused by *Microsporum* species? . *The Medical Journal of Australia* 2003;**178**(11):577–8. [MEDLINE: 12765508]

Devliotou 2004

Devliotou-Panagiotidou D, Koussidou-Eremondi TH. Efficacy and tolerability of 8 weeks' treatment with terbinafine in children with tinea capitis caused by *Microsporum canis*: a comparison of three doses. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology & Venereology* 2004; **18**(2):155–9. [MEDLINE: 15009293]

Elewski 2000

Elewski BE. Tinea capitis: a current perspective. *Journal* of the American Academy of Dermatology 2000;**42**(1 Pt 1): 1–24. [MEDLINE: 10607315]

Fleece 2004

Fleece D, Gaughan JP, Aronoff SC. Griseofulvin versus terbinafine in the treatment of tinea capitis: a meta-analysis of randomized, clinical trials. *Pediatrics* 2004;**114**(5): 1312–5. [MEDLINE: 15520113]

Friedlander 2000

Friedlander SF. The optimal therapy for tinea capitis. *Pediatric Dermatology* 2000;**17**(4):325–6. [MEDLINE: 10990588]

Fuller 2003

Fuller LC, Child FJ, Midgley G, Higgins EM. Diagnosis and management of scalp ringworm. *BMJ* 2003;**326**(7388): 539–41. [MEDLINE: 12623917]

Fuller 2014

Fuller LC, Barton RC, Mohd Mustapa MF, Proudfoot LE, Punjabi SP, Higgins EM. British Association of Dermatologists' guidelines for the management of tinea capitis 2014. *Br J Dermatol* 2014;**171**:454–63.

Ginter-Hanselmayer 2007

Ginter-Hanselmayer G, Weger W, Ilkit M, Smolle J. Epidemiology of tinea capitis in Europe: current state and changing patterns. *Mycoses* 2007;**50**(Suppl 2):6–13. [MEDLINE: 17681048]

Gupta 1999

Gupta AK, Hofstader SLR, Adam P. Tinea capitis: an overview with emphasis on management. *Pediatric Dermatology* 1999;**16**(3):171–89. [MEDLINE: 10383772]

Gupta 2008

Gupta AK, Cooper EA, Bowen JE. Meta-analysis: griseofulvin efficacy in the treatment of tinea capitis. *Journal* of Drugs in Dermatology 2008;7(4):369–72. [PUBMED: 18459518]

Gupta 2013

Gupta AK, Drummond-Main C. Meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials comparing particular doses of griseofulvin and terbinafine for the treatment of tinea capitis. *Pediatric Dermatology* 2013;**30**(1):1–6. [PUBMED: 22994156]

Havlickova 2008

Havlickova B, Czaika VA, Friedrich M. Epidemiological trends in skin mycoses worldwide. *Mycoses* 2008;**51**(Suppl 4):2–15. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-0507.2008.01606.x; MEDLINE: 18783559]

Hay 2006

Hay R, Bendeck SE, Chen S, Estrada R, Haddix A, McLeod T, et al. Chapter 37 Skin Diseases. In: Jamison DT, Breman JG, Measham AR, et al. editor(s). *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries*. 2nd Edition. Washington (DC): World Bank, 2006:online. [www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK11733/]

Higgins 2000

Higgins EM, Fuller LC, Smith CH. Guidelines for the management of tinea capitis. *British Journal of Dermatology* 2000;**143**(1):53–8. [MEDLINE: 10886135]

Higgins 2011

Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.

Kakourou 2010

Kakourou T, Uksal U, European Society for Pediatric Dermatology. Guidelines for the management of tinea capitis in children. *Pediatric Dermatology* 2010;**27**(3): 226–8. [PUBMED: 20609140]

Lewis 1984

Lewis James H, Zimmerman HYMAN J, Benson Gordon D, Ishak Kamal G. Hepatic injury associated with ketoconazole therapy. *Analysis of* 1984;**33**:503–13.

Pomeranz 1999

Pomeranz AJ, Sabnis SS, McGrath GJ, Esterly NB. Asymptomatic dermatophyte carriers in the households of children with tinea capitis. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine* 1999;**153**(5):483–6. [MEDLINE: 10323628]

Revman 2014 [Computer program]

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager (RevMan). Version 5.3. Copenhagen:

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Schulz 2010

Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D, CONSORT Group. CONSORT 2010 Statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMJ* 2010;**340**: c332. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.c332]

Schünemann 2013

Schünemann H, Broż ek J, Guyatt G, Oxman A (editors). GRADE Handbook for Grading Quality of Evidence and Strength of Recommendations [updated October 2013]. gdt.guidelinedevelopment.org/central`prod/`design/client/ handbook/handbook.html (accessed 23 March 2016). [Available from guidelinedevelopment.org/handbook.]

Tey 2011

Tey HL, Tan AS, Chan YC. Meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials comparing griseofulvin and terbinafine in the treatment of tinea capitis. *Journal of the American*

Academy of Dermatology 2011;**64**(4):663–70. [PUBMED: 21334096]

Yu 2005

Yu J, Li R, Bulmer G. Current topics of tinea capitis in China. *Japanese Journal of Medical Mycology* 2005;**46**(2): 61–6. [MEDLINE: 15864248]

Zonios 2008

Zonios DI, Bennett JE. Update on azole antifungals. Seminars in Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2008;**29**: 198–210.

References to other published versions of this review

Gonzalez 2007

Gonzalez U, Seaton T, Bergus G, Jacobson J, Martinez-Monzon C. Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 4. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004685.pub2]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Cáceres-Ríos 2000

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 12	2 weeks	
Participants	capitis; weight > 10 kg; normal baseline count, erythrocyte sedimentation rate,	cologic diagnosis of non-inflammatory tinea e laboratory evaluation (complete blood cell liver function tests and urinalysis) erapy during the month before consultation; s or unknown intolerance or allergy to	
Interventions	 Group 1: griseofulvin (microsize) tablet, 10-20 kg: 125 mg/d; 20-40 kg: 250 mg/d; > 40 kg: 500 mg/d, for 8 weeks (N = 25) Group 2: terbinafine tablet, 10-20 kg: 62.5 mg/d; 20-40 kg: 125 mg/d; > 40 kg: 250 mg/d, once a day for 4 weeks plus 4 weeks of placebo (N = 25) No co-treatment 		
Outcomes	The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeksThe frequency and type of adverse eventsThe proportion of participants with clinical cure only at 12 weeks		
Notes	Funding: not mentioned		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment	
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated	
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding	

Cáceres-Ríos 2000 (Continued)

All outcomes		was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: There was only one drop-out (2%, 1/50). Although which group this drop-out belonged to was unclear and ITT analysis was not performed, the proportion of missing outcomes compared with the observed event risk seemed to be not enough to have a clinically relevant impact on the intervention effect estimate
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: griseofulvin group: black dot 32% (8/25); white-greyish hair 68% (17/25); terbinafine group: black dot 8% (2/25); white-greyish hair 92% (23/25) Age: griseofulvin group: 6.72; terbinafine group: 6.84 Sex: griseofulvin group: males: 10; females: 15; terbinafine group: males: 13; females: 12 Duration of complaint: from 1 week to 4 years

Dastghaib 2005

Methods	Single-blind, parallel group RCT for 8 weeks
Participants	 Iran N = 40 Aged between from 1 to 16; 80% were boys and 20% girls Inclusion criteria: clinical and mycologic diagnosis of non-inflammatory tinea capitis Exclusion criteria: a history of allergy to imidazoles; use of oral antifungals within 8 weeks or use of topical antifungals within 4 weeks before screening; a history of congenital or acquired immunodeficiency or disorders affecting kidney or liver function; concurrent therapy with other drugs; and systemic illness Fungi isolated <i>T. verrucosum</i>: fluconazole: 26.3%; griseofulvin: 52.4%; total: 40%

Dastghaib 2005 (Continued)

	 <i>T. violaceum</i>: fluconazole: 52.6 <i>M. canis</i>: fluconazole: 21.1%; 	%; griseofulvin: 28.6%; total: 40% griseofulvin: 19%; total: 20%	
Interventions	 Group 1: griseofulvin 15 mg/kg/d for 6 weeks (N = 21) Group 2: fluconazole 5 mg/kg/d for 4 weeks (N = 19) 		
Outcomes	The proportion of participants with complete cure after 8 weeksThe frequency and type of adverse eventsMycologic cure at the end of treatment		
Notes	Funding: not mentioned		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment	
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: Participants were not blinded.	
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Investigators were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated	
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: 5 participants (12.5%, 5/40) were lost to follow-up. It was unclear which group these drop-outs belonged to. ITT analysis was not performed. The reason for drop-outs was not clear	
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section	
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: not mentioned Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability: Mean age: griseofulvin (8.66); fluconazole (7.71) 	

Dastghaib 2005 (Continued)

• Sex: griseofulvin (males: 17;
females: 4), fluconazole (males: 15;
females: 4)
 Mean weight (kg): griseofulvin
(23.61); fluconazole (21.60)
• Severity of disease: similar in
both groups at first examination

Deng 2011

Methods	3-arm, parallel group RCT for 1 year
Participants	 China (Kashgar) N = 88 Aged 2-14 years old. The mean ages were 8.42, 7.69, and 9.13 in the 3 groups, respectively. 78.3% males Inclusion criteria: "Children with age older than two years old, weight more than 10 kg, no apparent other diseases, not using any steroids, not taking antifungal drugs for 4 weeks, and renal functions were normal." Exlcusion criteria: "Children who did not return for observation on time, those who took other antifungal drugs locally and/or orally during treatment, and those who discontinued treatment due to side effects." Fungi isolated <i>T. violaceum</i>: 55.1% <i>A. vanbreuseghemi</i>: 30.6% <i>T. tonsurans</i>: 14.3%
Interventions	 Group 1: griseofulvin, doses of 20mg/kg/d, for 4 consecutive weeks (N = 19) Group 2: terbinafine, doses depend on weight:< 20 kg, 62.5 mg/d; 20-40 kg, 125 mg/d; and > 40 kg, 250 mg/d, for 2 consecutive weeks (N = 27) Group 3: terbinafine, doses depend on weight:< 20 kg, 62.5 mg/d; 20-40 kg, 125 mg/d; and > 40 kg, 250 mg/d, for 4 consecutive weeks (N = 23) No co-treatment
Outcomes	 Clinical cure rates at 2, 4, 8 weeks, and 1 year after therapy Clinical effectiveness rates at 2, 4, 8 weeks, and 1 year after therapy Mycological cure rates at 2, 4, 8 weeks, and 1 year after therapy The frequency and type of adverse events Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence One of the primary outcomes of interest in this review (complete cure rate) was not reported in this study
Notes	 The enrolled: 88 participants were randomised, 70 participants were evaluated for adverse events, 69 participants were evaluated for clinical results Funding: Novartis Pharmaceutica

Risk of bias

Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment	
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Whether the participants and per- sonnel were blinded was not stated	
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: Investigators were not blinded.	
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: 12.5% (11/88) participants lost to follow-up. It was unclear which group these drop-outs belonged to. ITT analysis was not performed	
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported findings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section	
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability: yes, there were no significant differences regarding to gender, weight, age, and severity of signs and symptoms 	

Elewski 2008

Methods	Multicentre, single-blind, parallel group RCT for 10 weeks
Participants	 USA, Peru, UK, Egypt, Russia, and Sourth Africa N = 1549 The mean age was 6.8 years (ranged from 4-12 years). 62.2% males. Inclusion criteria: "Children were included if they were between 4 and 12 years of age and had a clinical diagnosis of tinea capitis confirmed by positive potassium hydroxide (KOH) microscopy at baseline." Exclusion criteria: "Patients with protocol-defined clinically significant biochemistry and hematologic abnormalities were excluded from the study as were those with kerions requiring immediate treatment or treatment with systemic

Elewski 2008 (Continued)

	 corticosteroids and/or systemic antibiotics, those with a condition or treatment that could interfere with evaluation of drug effect, or those with current or past liver disease. Other criteria for exclusion from study were presence of serious gastrointestinal disease, hypersensitivity to study agents, and history of systemic lupus erythematosus. Patients with systemic antifungal treatment or history of use of any other investigational agent within 2 months before screening; use of immunosuppressant, cytostatic, or radiation therapy within 1 month before screening; or topical treatment of the scalp within 1 week before baseline visit were also excluded from study participation." Fungi isolated <i>T. tonsurans</i> 49.3% <i>T. violaceum</i> 15.6% <i>M. canis</i> 15.1% <i>M. vanbreuseghemi</i> 0.3% <i>T. mentagrophytes</i> 0.2% <i>T. rubrum</i> 0.2% <i>M. gypseum</i> 0.1% Other 6.5% Negative 17.0%
Interventions	 Group 1: terbinafine, doses of 5-8 mg/kg for 6 weeks (N = 1040) Group 2: griseofulvin, doses of 10-20 mg/kg for 6 weeks (N = 509) No co-treatment
Outcomes	 Complete cure rate at 10 weeks Clinical cure rate at 10 weeks Mycologic cure rate at 10 weeks The frequency and severity of adverse events
Notes	This article included 2 RCTs, but the results of the 2 RCTs were reported together Funding: Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote (page 43): "Eligible patients were randomized in a 2:1 ratio to terbinafine and griseofulvin treatment arms, respec- tively (Fig 1). Patients were randomized to the lowest available randomization number at each site based on treatment allocation cards received by a pharmacist or designee at the site after they had fulfilled the inclu- sion/exclusion criteria" Comment: Standared randomisation method was applied

Elewski 2008 (Continued)

Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote (page 43): "Randomization data were accessible only to the dispenser of medication and were kept confidential un- til database lock." Comment: The method for allocation con- cealment seemed to be adequate
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Quote (page 45): "Investigators and others performing assessments, recording data, or analysing data were blinded to treatment identity from the time of randomisation until database lock." Comment: The method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Quote (page 45): "Investigators and others performing assessments, recording data, or analysing data were blinded to treatment identity from the time of randomisation until database lock." Comment: The method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: 3.6% (56/1549) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 40 partic- ipants were in the terbinafine group and 16 participants in the griseofulvin group. ITT analyses were performed. The propor- tion of missing outcomes compared with the observed event risk didn't seem to be enough to have a clinically relevant impact on the intervention effect estimate
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: yes Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability: yes, there were no significant differences with regard to baseline demographic and disease characteristics, including infection severity

Foster 2	2005
----------	------

Methods	Multicentre, single-blind, parallel group RCT for 10 weeks
Participants	 USA, Guatemala, Chile, Costa Rica and India N = 880 Most participants (71%, 72%, and 73% in the 3 groups, respectively) were black Aged 3-12 years old. Inclusion criteria: "male or female between the ages of 3 and 12 years, a potassium hydroxide preparation positive for fungal elements on direct microscopy, a clinical diagnosis of tinea capitis, a guardian capable of providing informed consent who was able to be actively involved in the care and evaluation of the subject, a negative baseline urine pregnancy test if applicable, and otherwise healthy." Exclusion criteria: participants with any of the following conditions were excluded: "a negative baseline potassium hydroxide preparation; a kerion requiring immediate treatment with systemic corticosteroids or antibiotics; previous treatment with topical or systemic antifungal therapy within the past 48 hours or 30 days, respectively; elevations in the blood levels of alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, alkaline phosphatase,g-glutamyl transferase, or total bilirubin higher than two times the upper limit of normal; history of active liver disease; previous treatment with any other investigational agent within eight weeks before enrolment in this study; a disease or condition that could impair absorption from the gastrointestina tract; underlying liver, kidney, or other organ disease that could result in abnormalities in the absorption or metabolism of griseofulvin, fluconazole, or their emetabolites; allergies to the aforementioned drugs, pregnant females or those at risk of becoming such; those currently taking any substance known to inhibit cytochrome P-450; those with concurrent skin disease that could obscure the diagnosis and treatment of tinea capitis; an immunocompromised state; or an enrolled family member." Fungi isolated <i>T.tonsurans</i> 86% <i>M. canis</i> 11%
Interventions	 Group 1: fluconazole, dose of 6 mg/kg for 3 weeks followed by 3 weeks of placebo (N = 302) Group 2: fluconazole, dose of 6 mg/kg for 6 weeks (N = 286) Group 3: griseofulvin, dose of 11 mg/kg for 6 weeks (N = 292) No co-treatment
Outcomes	 Clinical outcomes Clinical cure rate at 3, 6, and 10 weeks Clinical improvement rate at 3, 6, and 10 weeks Clinical failure rate at 3, 6, and 10 weeks Combined outcomes Success rate at 3, 6, and 10 weeks Partial success rate at 3, 6, and 10 weeks Failure rate at 3, 6, and 10 weeks Failure rate at 3, 6, and 10 weeks Mycological outcome The percentage of participants with negative cultures Safety outcomes The incidence of all causality and treatment-related adverse events The frequency and type of adverse event

Foster 2005 (Continued)

	One of the primary outcomes of interest in this review (complete cure rate) was not reported in this study
Notes	Main data of this article were from 2 identical studies. The safety data from this article were from 3 studies. Overall, 90% of participants were from USA Funding: Prifzer, Inc.

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote (page 799): "Sealed envelopes con- taining randomly assigned treatments" were applied Comment: A standard method of location concealment was done.
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Whether the participants and personnel were blinded was not reported
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Investigators were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: 9.3% (82/880) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 37 participants were in the fluconazole 3 weeks group; 24 participants were in the fluconazole 6 weeks group; and 21 participants were in the griseofulvin group. ITT analyses were performed
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: yes Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability: yes. There was no significant difference between groups regarding age, gender, weight or height. However, baseline information

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 12 weeks	
Participants	 Age was 4 years or older (98 old), only 3 adults Inclusion criteria: male and clinically diagnosed tinea capitis of Exclusion criteria: any systemenrolment. Kerions that required dermatitis, or other scalp condition dermatitis. Immunocompromisecy years. Chronic or active liver disent to terbinafine or placebo. Treatment previous 8 weeks. Pregnancy or late Fungi isolated T. tonsurans: 98.74% T. soudanense: 0.63% T. verrucosum: 0.63% 	 N = 177 (78% were black; 57.2% males) Age was 4 years or older (98% participants < 18 years old; mean age, 7.4 years old), only 3 adults Inclusion criteria: male and female participants aged 4 years or older, with clinically diagnosed tinea capitis caused by <i>Trichophyton</i> spp. Exclusion criteria: any systemic treatment for tinea capitis in the month before enrolment. Kerions that required immediate treatment, concurrent seborrhoeic dermatitis, or other scalp conditions such as scabies, head lice, psoriasis, or atopic dermatitis. Immunocompromised participants or a history of malignancy within 5 years. Chronic or active liver disease. Serious gastrointestinal disease. Hypersensibility to terbinafine or placebo. Treatment with any other investigative agent within the previous 8 weeks. Pregnancy or lactation. Fungi isolated <i>T. tonsurans</i>: 98.74% <i>T. soudanense</i>: 0.63% Adherence assessed by asking participants to return unused medication at each 	
Interventions	 Group 2: oral terbinafine 3- Group 3: oral terbinafine 3- Followed by placebo to complete 	 Group 1: oral terbinafine 3-6 mg/kg/d for 1 week (N = 56) Group 2: oral terbinafine 3-6 mg/kg/d for 2 weeks (N = 59) Group 3: oral terbinafine 3-6 mg/kg/d for 4 weeks (N = 62) Followed by placebo to complete 4 weeks when needed Co-treatment: non-medicated shampoo twice weekly 	
Outcomes	 The frequency and type of a The proportion of participal Percentage of drop-outs as a The time taken to cure 	 The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeks The frequency and type of adverse events The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at 12 weeks Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence The time taken to cure Mycological cure at 12 weeks 	
Notes	Funding: not mentioned		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	

Random sequence generation (selection	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on
bias)		the method of randomisation

Friedlander 2002 (Continued)

Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: 23.2% (41/177) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 14 patents were in the terbinafine for 1 week group; 15 participants were in the terbinafine for 2 weeks group; 12 participants were in the terbinafine for 4 weeks group. ITT analyses were performed
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: not stated Age: terbinafine for 1 week: 7.1 years; terbinafine for 2 weeks: 8.5 years; terbinafine for 4 weeks: 6.6 years Sex: terbinafine for 1 week (males 28, females 28); terbinafine for 2 weeks: (males 32, females 27); terbinafine for 4 weeks: (males 31, females 31)

Fuller 2001

Methods	Open-label, parallel group RCT for 24 weeks
Participants	 UK N = 210 Aged 2-16 years Inclusion criteria: children aged 2-16 years old with clinical diagnosis of tinea capitis Exclusion criteria: immunocompromised children and those receiving any topical antifungal agents within 7 days or systematic antifungal agents within 6 weeks prior to

	the start of the treatment
	 Fungi isolated
	• Microsporum audouini: 13% (13/103) in the terbinafine group and 11.4%
	(12/107) in the griseofulvin group
	$\circ~$ <i>M. canis</i> : 1.3% (1/103) in the terbinafine group and 1.4% (2/107) in the
	griseofulvin group
	o M.rivalieri: 0% in the terbinafine group and 1.4% (2/107) in the
	griseofulvin group
	o Trichophyton tonsurans: 64.9% (67/103) in the terbinafine group and 72.9%
	(78/107) in the griseofulvin group
	• T. soudanense: 10.4% (11/103) in the terbinafine group and 4.3% (5/107) in
	the griseofulvin group
	• <i>T. violaceum</i> : 2.6% (3/103) in the terbinafine group and 0% in the
	griseofulvin group
	• Trichophyton species unknown: 2.6% (3/103) in the terbinafine group and
	0% in the griseofulvin group
	• Adherence assessed by direct questioning.
Interventions	 Group 1: griseofulvin suspension, 10 mg/kg/d, for 8 weeks (N = 107) Group 2: terbinafine tablet, < 20 kg: 62.5 mg/d; 20-40 kg: 125 mg/d; > 40 kg: 250 mg/d, for 4 weeks (N = 103) Co-treatment: selenium sulphide shampoo, twice weekly for the first 2 weeks of treatment
Outcomes	 Proportion of participants with complete cure at 24 weeks Frequency and type of adverse events Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence: terbinafine group Mycological cure at 24 weeks
Notes	Funding: Novartis Pharmaceuticals UK Ltd (Terbinafine). The report of the study stated that " <i>T. tonsurans</i> accounted for 77% of the terbinafine group and 88% of the griseofulvin group. Microsporum species accounted for 14% of both groups" (i.e. 88% plus 14% = 102%). We used the data from this paper's tables (which seemed to be reliable)

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote (page 323): "Computer generated", "participants randomised in blocks of four" Comment: standard methods of randomi- sation performed
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: no blinding

Fuller 2001 (Continued)

Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: no blinding
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: 54.8% (115/210) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 62 par- ticipants were in the terbinafine group; 53 participants were in the griseofulvin group. ITT analyses were performed
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: yes Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: not reported Age: group terbinafine: 5.6; group griseofulvin: 6 Sex: group terbinafine: males: 69%, females: 31%; group griseofulvin: males:64%, females: 36% Duration of complaint: unknown

Gan 1987

Methods	Open-label, parallel group RCT for 26 weeks
Participants	 USA (Dallas) N = 80 Age 2.1-11.0 years (mean age 5.2 years). The remaining children after the drop-outs were 63; 55% were female Inclusion criteria: children with tinea capitis were eligible for the study Exclusion criteria: presence of kerion; if their parents were unable to make a commitment for follow-up visits, or if there was a history of hepatocellular dysfunction or finally if they had received a systemic antifungal agent in the preceding 6 weeks Fungi isolates (94% of the participants had positive fungal cultures) <i>T. tonsurans</i>: 70%. <i>M. canis</i>: 11.6%. <i>T. mentagrophytes</i>: 1.6%. Uncertain classification: 15%.

Gan 1987 (Continued)

	• Adherence assessed by history and by quantifying the amount of residual medication brought in by the parents.
Interventions	 Group 1: griseofulvin tablet or suspension, 15 mg/kg/d, single daily dose; 2 to 12-26 weeks (depending on the participant's clinical response to therapy) (N = 40) Group 2: ketoconazole tablet or crushed tablets suspended in sucrose syrup, 5 mg/kg/d, single daily dose 2-26 weeks depending on the participant's clinical response to the therapy (N = 40) No co-treatment
Outcomes	 The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 and 26 weeks Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence The time taken to cure (scalp clearing) One of the primary outcomes of interest in the review (adverse events) was not reported in this study
Notes	Funding: not mentioned

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote (page 47): "Table of random num- bers" was used. Comment: A standard method of randomi- sation was performed.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: no blinding
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: no blinding
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: 21.3% (17/80) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 11 participants were in the griseofulvin group, whereas 6 were in the ketoconazole group. ITT anal- ysis was not performed
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: publication reported findings on all outcomes listed in the Methods sec- tion

ketoconazole group (5.8)	Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria : yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: not reported Age (in months): griseofulvin group (63); ketoconazole group (62) Sex: griseofulvin group (males: 13, females: 15); ketoconazole group (males: 16, females: 20) Duration of complaint (in weeks): griseofulvin group (5.6); ketoconazole group (5.8)
--------------------------	------------	--------------	---

Gupta 2001

Methods	Multicentre, double-blind, parallel group RCT for 12 weeks
Participants	 Canada and South Africa N = 200 Inclusion criteria: children aged 6 months or older, with clinical signs and symptoms of tinea capitis with mycology that was positive for <i>Trichophyton</i> spp. Exclusion criteria: those who had been or were on topical or oral antifungal agents for 2 or 4 weeks, respectively, prior to the starting therapy Fungi isolated griseofulvin group: <i>T. tonsurans</i>: 39/50 and <i>T. violaceum</i>: 11/50 terbinafine group: <i>T. tonsurans</i>: 37/50 and <i>T. violaceum</i>: 13/50 itraconazole group: <i>T. tonsurans</i>: 44/50 and <i>T. violaceum</i>: 6/50 No mention of adherence assessment
Interventions	 Group 1: microsize griseofulvin 20 mg/kg/d for 6 weeks (N = 50) Group 2: terbinafine < 20 kg: 62.5 mg; 20-40 kg: 125 mg; > 40 kg: 250 mg for 2-3 weeks (N = 50) Group 3: itraconazole 5 mg/kg/d for 2-3 weeks (N = 50) Group 4: gluconazole 6 mg/kg/d for 2-3 weeks. (N = 50)
Outcomes	 The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeks The frequency and type of adverse events The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at the end of treatment Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence Mycologic cure at 12 weeks Effective therapy (mycologic cure with clinical cure or few residual symptoms) at 12 weeks

Gupta 2001 (Continued)

Notes	Funding: not mentioned	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: 7% (14/200) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 4 were in the griseofulvin group, 2 were in the terbinafine group, 4 were in the itraconazole group, 4 were in the fluconazole group. ITT analy- sis was not performed. The proportion of missing outcomes compared with the ob- served event risk seemed to be not enough to have a clinically relevant impact on the intervention effect estimate
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes (only culture positive) Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection Mild: griseofulvin group: 18; terbinafine group: 20; itraconazole group: 9; fluconazole group: 9 Moderate: griseofulvin group: 28; terbinafine group: 27; itraconazole group:

Gupta 2001 (Continued)

	28
	♦ Severe: griseofulvin group:
	4; terbinafine group: 2; itraconazole
	group: 4; fluconazole group: 11
	♦ Kerion: griseofulvin
	group: 0; terbinafine group: 1:
	itraconazole group: 1; fluconazole group:
	2
	 Age: griseofulvin group: 5.9;
	terbinafine group: 5.6; itraconazole group:
	5.2; fluconazole group: 5.9
	 Sex: griseofulvin group: males:
	38, females: 12; terbinafine group: males:
	37, females: 13; itraconazole group: males:
	27, females: 23; fluconazole group: males:
	32, females: 18
	 Duration of complaint: not
	mentioned

Hamm 1999

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 12 weeks
Participants	 Germany N = 35 (16 males and 19 females) The mean age was 9.3 years for males and 7.8 for females Inclusion criteria: mycologically proven scalp infection Fungi isolated <i>M. canis</i>: terbinafine for 1 week: 43.7%; terbinafine for 2 weeks: 26.3% <i>T. tonsurans</i>: terbinafine for 1 week: 37.5%; terbinafine for 2 weeks: 31.5% <i>T. violaceum</i>: terbinafine for 1 week: 6.25%; terbinafine for 2 weeks: 26.3% <i>T. mentagrophytes</i>: terbinafine for 1 week: 12.5%; terbinafine for 2 weeks: 5.3% No mention of adherence assessment
Interventions	 Group 1: terbinafine 10-20 kg: 62.5 mg/d; 20-40 kg: 125 mg/d; > 40 kg: 250 mg/d once daily for 1 week (N = 16) Group 2: terbinafine same dose for 2 weeks (N = 19) No co-treatment
Outcomes	The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeksThe frequency and type of adverse eventsThe time taken to cure
Notes	Participants were observed for 12 weeks. After 4 weeks, non-responders were offered an additional 4 weeks of treatment followed by a second observation period Funding: Novartis (terbinafine)

Risk of bias

Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: no drop-outs reported
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: no Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: not stated Age: we are unaware of the mean age for each group Sex: we are unaware of the number of females and males in each group Duration of complaint: not

Haroon 1995

Methods	Parallel group RCT for 12 weeks
Participants	 Pakistan N = 105 (49 males, 56 females) Aged 2-65; 94 were < 12 years Inclusion criteria: clinical evidence of dermatophytosis of the scalp; participant of any age that weighed more than 10 kg

Haroon 1995 (Continued)

	 Exclusion criteria: concomitant treatment with systemic or X-ray therapy; topical antifungal therapy within 2 weeks or oral antifungal within 4 weeks of entering the study Fungi isolated included <i>T. violaceum</i>: 87.6% (92/105) <i>T. tonsurans</i>: 38% (4/105) <i>T. rubrum</i>: 0.95% (1/105) <i>T. verrucosum</i>: 6.6% (7/105) <i>M. audouinii</i>: 0.95% (1/105) No mention of adherence assessment
Interventions	 Group 1: terbinafine 62.5-250 mg for 4 weeks, plus 4 weeks of placebo (N = 56) Group 2; griseofulvin 125-500 mg for 8 weeks (N = 49)
Outcomes	 Proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeks Frequency and type of adverse events Mycological cure at 12 weeks
Notes	Funding: Sandoz

Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: insufficient information although stated to be a "double-blind comparative study of terbinafine and griseofulvin in tinea capitis"
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: insufficient information although stated to be a "double-blind comparative study of terbinafine and griseofulvin in tinea capitis"
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: no drop-outs
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported findings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability

Haroon 1995 (Continued)

 Severity of infection: not known
• Age: terbinafine: 8.6; griseofulvin: 9.1
• Sex: terbinafine: male: 24, female: 32;
griseofulvin: male: 25, female: 24
 Duration of complaint: not known

Haroon 1996

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 12 weeks	
Participants	 Pakistan N = 161 (90 males, 71 females; 156 were children below 12) Aged 3-13 Inclusion criteria: clinical and mycological evidence of dermatophytosis of the scalp; participants of any age that weighed more than 10 kg Exclusion criteria: concomitant treatment with systemic or X-ray therapy; topical antifungal therapy within 2 weeks or oral antifungal within 4 weeks of entering the study Fungi isolated <i>T. violaceum</i>: 71.5% <i>T. tonsurans</i>: 14.9% <i>M. audouinii</i>: 4.3% <i>M. canis</i>: 2.5% <i>T. schoenleinii</i>: 1.9% <i>T. mentagrophytes</i>: 0.6% 	
Interventions	 Group 1: terbinafine, 10-20 kg: 62.5 mg/d; 20-40 kg: 125 mg/d; > 40 kg: 250 mg/d, once daily for 1 week plus 3 weeks of placebo (N = 53) Group 2: terbinafine same dose for 2 weeks plus 2 weeks of placebo (N = 51) Group 3: terbinafine same dose for 4 weeks (N = 57) No co-treatment 	
Outcomes	 The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeks The frequency and type of adverse events The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at 12 weeks 	
Notes	Funding: Sandoz (terbinafine)	
Notes Risk of bias	Funding: Sandoz (terbinafine)	

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation

Haroon 1996 (Continued)

Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: no drop-outs reported
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: not mentioned Age: we are unaware of the mean age in each group Sex: we are unaware of the number of females and males in each group, only the total stated Duration of complaint: not

Jahangir 1998

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 12 weeks
Participants	 Pakistan N = 55 Inclusion criteria: subjects of either sex or any age, weighing 10 kg or more and suffering from mycologically confirmed tinea capitis Exclusion criteria: history of allergy to imidazoles or allylamines, use of oral antifungals within 8 weeks or topical antifungals within 4 weeks before screening, concurrent therapy with rifampicin, phenytoin, digoxin, oral anticoagulants, cyclosporin, astemizole and terfenadine, psoriasis of the scalp, history of any systemic illness or abnormal liver and renal function tests Fungi isolated

Jahangir 1998 (Continued)

	 <i>T. violaceum</i>: itraconazole group: 82.1%; terbinafine group: 88.9% <i>T. tonsurans</i>: itraconazole group: 7.1%; terbinafine group: 3.7% <i>T. mentagrophytes</i>: itraconazole group: 7.1%; terbinafine group:3.7% <i>T. verrucosum</i>: itraconazole group: 3.7%; terbinafine group: 3.7% No mention of adherence assessment
Interventions	 Group 1: itraconazole: < 20 kg: 50 mg; 20-40 kg: 100 mg; > 40 kg: 200 mg - supposed daily - for 2 weeks (N = 28) Group 2: terbinafine: < 20 kg: 62.5 mg; 20-40 kg: 125 mg; > 40 kg: 200-250 mg - supposed daily - for 2 weeks (N = 27) No co-treatment
Outcomes	The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeksThe frequency and type of adverse eventsMycological cure at 12 weeks
Notes	Funding: not mentioned

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: no drop-outs
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: not

Jahangir 1998 (Continued)

declared
• Age: itraconazole group: 7.9 ±
4.58; terbinafine group: 7.8 ± 4.58 .
• Sex: male to female ratio
itraconazole group: 1:1; terbinafine group:
1:1.3
• Duration of complaint: not
stated

Khan 2011

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 6 weeks (although the author stated this was a "third party blind" study in the abstract, it was unclear whether they applied blinding method or not)
Participants	 Peshawar (Pakistan) N = 120 Aged 3-12 years 75% participants were males Inclusion criteria: "Males and females between the ages of 3 and 12 years with potassium hydroxide preparation positive for fungal elements on direct microscopy were included in the study." Exclusion criteria: "Patients with negative baseline KOH preparation, patients having kerion and those having treatment with topical antifungal agents within past 2 weeks or systemic antifungal agents within past 30 days"; "patients with elevated liver enzymes and history of active liver disease" Fungi isolated <i>T. tonsurans</i> 75% <i>M. canis</i> 22%
Interventions	 Group 1: terbinafine, <20 kg 62.5 mg; 20-40 kg 125 mg, for 4 weeks (N = 60) Group 2: griseofulvin, 15 mg/kg, for 4 weeks (N = 60) Co-treatment: not mentioned
Outcomes	 Clinical cure rate at 2, 4, and 6 weeks Mycological cure rate at 2, 4, and 6 weeks The type of adverse events
Notes	Funding: not mentioned
Risk of bias	

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment

Khan 2011 (Continued)

Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: unclear, although the author stated this was a "third party blind" study in the abstract
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: unclear, although the author stated this was a "third party blind" study in the abstract
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: no drop-outs
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: yes Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability: not mentioned

Kullavanijaya 1997

Methods	Single-blind, parallel group RCT for 20 weeks
Participants	 Bangkok (Thailand) N = 82 All participants were children 7 years or older, except for 3 adults, all living in an orphanage Fungi isolated: <i>T. tonsurans</i> and <i>M. ferrugineum</i>; proportions not stated No mention of adherence assessment
Interventions	 Group 1: terbinafine 62.5-250 mg according to body weight - supposed once daily - for 1 week. N = 27 completed the study Group 2: terbinafine same dose for 2 weeks. N = 28 completed the study Group 3: terbinafine same dose for 4 weeks. N = 27 completed the study
Outcomes	• The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeks One of the primary outcomes of interest in this review (adverse events) was not reported in this study
Notes	The proportions and percentages were done including the adults, because we are unaware which group they belonged to Funding: Sandoz (terbinafine)
Risk of bias	
Kullavanijaya 1997 (Continued)

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: study was described as "single blind and open trial study" but no mention of which one (participant or observers), and the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: study was described as "single blind and open trial study" but no mention of which one (participant or observers), and the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: 8.5% (7/82) participants lost to follow-up. It was unclear which group these lost participants belonged to. ITT analysis was not performed. The propor- tion of missing outcomes compared with the observed event risk seemed insufficient to have a clinically relevant impact on the intervention effect estimate
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: very poor Exclusion criteria: not mentioned Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability: yes, though no statistical differences were noted either reported, among the 3 groups with regard to age, weight and sex ratio

Lipozencic 2002

Methods	Multicentre, triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 16 weeks
Participants	 Europe and South America (22 centres) N = 165 The majority of participants were white (77%); 63% were males and the mean

Lipozencic 2002 (Continued)

	 age was 7.7 years, only 3 adults were enrolled in the study; 67% weighed between 20 and 40 kg. Inclusion criteria: male or female aged ≥ 4, with tinea capitis confirmed by positive culture of <i>Microsporum</i> spp., who were otherwise healthy outpatients and able to swallow the study drug tablets Exclusion criteria: participants with conditions that could interfere with gastrointestinal absorption of terbinafine, with confirmed liver or renal impairment, with kerion or any severe concurrent disease of the scalp. Those using any antifungal therapy, radiotherapy, systemic therapy with cytostatic or immunosuppressive drugs within 1 month prior to the start of the study, and known intolerance or allergy to drugs used in the study In addition, participants receiving griseofulvin treatment in this study were subject to exclusion according to the label instruction of that drug Fungi isolated M. canis: 98.5% Only 2 participants were infected with <i>M. audouinii</i>
Interventions	 Group 1: terbinafine tablets < 20 kg: 62.5 mg/d; 20-40 kg: 125 mg/d; > 40 kg: 250 mg/d for 6 weeks, followed by placebo to complete the 12 week double-blind treatment phase (N = 36) Group 2: terbinafine same dose for 8 weeks, followed by placebo to complete the 12 week double-blind treatment phase (N = 34) Group 3: terbinafine same dose for 10 weeks, followed by placebo to complete the 12 week double-blind treatment phase (N = 33) Group 4: terbinafine same dose for 12 weeks, followed by placebo to complete the 12 week double-blind treatment phase (N = 33) Group 5: griseofulvin oral suspension 20 mg/kg/d for 12 weeks (open label) (N = 30) Participants were provided with baby-shampoo to clean the scalp
Outcomes	 The proportion of participants with complete cure at 16 weeks The frequency and type of adverse events The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at 16 weeks Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence The time taken to cure Mycological cure at 16 weeks
Notes	Funding: Novartis Pharma AG

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment

Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Quote: "Participants, clinicians and out- come assessors blinded, except for the arm taking griseofulvin, where both partici- pants and investigators were informed from day 1" Comment: The method of blinding was not stated.
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Quote: "Participants, clinicians and out- come assessors blinded, except for the arm taking griseofulvin, where both partici- pants and investigators were informed from day 1" Comment: The method of blinding was not stated.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: 21.8% (36/165) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 7 were in the terbinafine for 6 weeks group, 4 were in the terbinafine for 8 weeks group, 6 were in the terbinafine for 10 weeks group, 12 were in the terbinafine for 12 weeks group, 7 were in the griseofulvin group. ITT anal- yses were performed
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: yes Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: not reported Age: terbinafine for 6 weeks: 9. 5; terbinafine for 8 weeks: 7; terbinafine for 10 weeks: 6.8; terbinafine for 12 weeks: 8.8; griseofulvin group: 6.3 Sex: % of males: terbinafine for 6 weeks: 66%; terbinafine for 8 weeks: 73%; terbinafine for 10 weeks: 53%; griseofulvin group: 50%

López-Gómez	1994
-------------	------

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 12 weeks
Participants	 Madrid (Spain) N = 35 (23 males and 12 females) All participants were children younger than 12 years old, except for 1 adult who was 60 years old Inclusion criteria: the presence of dermatophytes Fungi isolated <i>T. tonsurans</i>: itraconazole group: 5.5% <i>M. canis</i>: itraconazole group: 88.8%; griseofulvin group: 94.1% <i>T. mentagrophytes</i>: itraconazole group: 5.5% <i>T. violaceum</i>: griseofulvin group: 5.9% No mention of adherence assessment
Interventions	 Group 1: itraconazole 100 mg/d for 6 weeks (N = 18, including 1 adult) Group 2: griseofulvin (ultra microsize) 500 mg/d for 6 weeks (N = 17) No co-treatment
Outcomes	 The proportion of participants with complete cure at 14 weeks The frequency and type of adverse events The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at 14 weeks Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence
Notes	Funding: Janssen (itraconazole)

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: 8.6% (3/35) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 1 was in the itraconazole group, 2 were in the griseoful- vin group. ITT analysis was not performed. The proportion of missing outcomes com- pared with the observed event risk seemed

López-Gómez 1994 (Continued)

		to be not enough to have a clinically rele- vant impact on the intervention effect esti- mate
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: not mentioned Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: not reported Age: itraconazole group: 2 to 11; griseofulvin group: 2 to 10 Sex: itraconazole group: males: 12, females: 6; griseofulvin group: males: 11, females: 6 Duration of complaint: not

Martínez-Roig 1988

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 6 weeks
Participants	 Barcelona (Spain) N = 13 Children aged 2-16 Sex distribution not reported Inclusion criteria: children suffering from dermatophytic lesions Exclusion criteria: not to have received previous antifungal therapy Fungi isolated: <i>T. mentagrophytes</i>, <i>M. canis</i> and <i>Epidermophyton floccosum</i> Adherence assessed
Interventions	 Group 1: ketoconazole tablet, 100 mg/d at 12-hourly intervals for 6 weeks (N = 8) Group 2: griseofulvin tablet, 350 mg/d, at 12-hourly intervals for 6 weeks (N = 5) Co-treatment: manual depilation in cases of inflammatory tinea capitis
Outcomes	 The frequency and type of adverse events The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at the end of treatment Measurement of recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period The time taken to cure One of the primary outcomes of interest in this review (complete cure rate) was not reported in this study

Martínez-Roig 1988 (Continued)

Notes	Tinea corporis and tinea capitis study, information poorly stated	
	It needs to be taken into account that the study talks about 47 participants, which is the	
	total, tinea capitis and tinea corporis participants, but for the purpose of our review we	
	have only used the results of the 13 tinea capitis participants	
	Funding: Laboratories Dr Esteve (ketoconazole)	

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote (page 38): "Computer generated random number table" Comment: A standard method of randomi- sation was done.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: no drop-outs
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability: not reported

Memisoglu 1999

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 12 weeks
Participants	 Turkey N = 78 Children aged 2-13 years Inclusion criteria: participants with clinically suspected tinea capitis, provisionally

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Risk of bias		
Notes	At the beginning there were 39 participants in each group, after the drop-outs there were 32 and 35 left, and so the percentages do not match: • <i>T. violaceum</i> : 13.4% • <i>T. rubrum</i> : 19.4% • <i>M. canis</i> : 47.7% • <i>T. tonsurans</i> : 5.9% • <i>T. mentagrophytes</i> :4.5% • <i>T. verrucosum</i> : 4.5% • <i>M. audouinii</i> : 1.5% • Unidentified: 3% These fungi percentages are the total over 67, not over 78 participants Funding: not mentioned.	
Outcomes	 The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeks The frequency and type of adverse events The proportion of participants with clinical cure only was scored at 12 weeks Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence Mycological cure at 12 weeks 	
Interventions	 Group 1: microsize griseofulvin 20 mg/kg/d for 6 weeks (N = 50) Group 2: terbinafine < 20 kg: 62.5 mg; 20 to 40 kg: 125 mg; > 40 kg: 250 mg for 2-3 weeks (N = 50) Group 3: itraconazole 5 mg/kg/d for 2-3 weeks (N = 50) Group 4: gluconazole 6 mg/kg/d for 2-3 weeks (N = 50) 	
	 (5/32) <i>T. rubrum</i>: griseofulvin group: 22 <i>M. canis</i>: griseofulvin group: 48. <i>T. tonsurans</i>: griseofulvin group: <i>T. tonsurans</i>: griseofulvin group: <i>T. mentagrophytes</i>: griseofulvin group: (1/32) 	nitant candida or bacterial infection 11.4% (4/35); terbinafine group: 15.6% 2.8% (8/35); terbinafine group: 15.6%(5/ 5% (17/35); terbinafine group: 46.8%(15/ 5.7% (2/35); terbinafine group: 6.25% (2/ roup: 5.7% (2/35); terbinafine group: 3.1% p: 5.7% (2/35); terbinafine group: 3.1% (1/ 3.1% (1/32)

Memisoglu 1999 (Continued)

Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: 14.1% (11/78) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 7 were in the griseofulvin group, whereas 4 were in the terbinafine group. ITT analysis was not performed
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: not stated Age: griseofulvin group: 6.6; terbinafine group: 7 Sex: griseofulvin group: males 26, females 9 ; terbinafine group: males 21, females 11 Duration of complaint: not

Rademaker 1998

Methods	Open-label, parallel group RCT for 12 weeks
Participants	 New Zealand N = 24 16 male and 8 female Age ranged between 2 and 15 years old Inclusion criteria: paediatric participants under 16 years old with culture positive tinea capitis

Rademaker 1998 (Continued)

	 Fungi isolated <i>M. canis</i> 71% <i>T. verrucosum</i> 29% No mention of adherence assessment
Interventions	 Group 1: griseofulvin 10 mg/kg/d for 8 weeks (N = 14) Group 2: terbinafine < 20 kg: 62.5 mg/d; 20 to 40 kg: 125 mg/d; > 40 kg: 250 mg/d for 4 weeks (N = 10) Co-treatment: ketoconazole shampoo twice a week and econazole cream nightly was recommended
Outcomes	 The frequency and type of adverse events The proportion of participants with clinical cure only Measurement of recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period One of the primary outcomes of interest in this review (complete cure rate) was not reported in this study
Notes	Funding: not mentioned

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: no blinding
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: no blinding
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: not mentioned
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: no Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes

Rademaker 1998 (Continued)

	 Baseline comparability Severity of infection: only total
	stated
	• Age: only total stated
	• Sex: only total stated
	• Duration of complaint: not
	stated

Solomon 1997

Methods	Double-blind, parallel group RCT for 16 weeks
Participants	 New York (USA) N = 27 15 females and 13 males aged 2-15 years Inclusion criteria: mycologic confirmation of infection before initiation of therapy; children from 2 to 15 years of age; normal complete blood cell count with differential, liver function test, and SMA-7; and parental consent Exclusion criteria: participants who had received antimycotic therapy within 2 weeks of initial visit; a history of kidney or liver disease; participants with history of hypersensitivity reaction to any of the ingredients of fluconazole; participants receiving interactive medications within preceding 30 days; participants with coexisting immunosuppressive disease; and participants with inflammatory tinea capitis Fungi isolated: <i>T. tonsurans</i> 100% No mention of adherence assessment
Interventions	 Group 1: fluconazole tablets or suspension 1.5 mg/kg/d for 20 days, N = 8 completed the study Group 2: fluconazole tablets or suspension 3 mg/kg/d for 20 days, N = 10 completed the study Group 3: fluconazole tablets or suspension 6 mg/kg/d for 20 days, N = 9 completed the study No co-treatment
Outcomes	 Proportion of participants with complete cure at 6 to 16 weeks Proportion of participants with clinical cure only Measurement of recurrence of the condition after the end of the intervention period One of the primary outcomes of interest in this review (adverse events) was not reported in this study
Notes	Funding: not mentioned
Risk of bias	

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation

Solomon 1997 (Continued)

Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants were not blinded, but the outcomes were unlikely to be in- fluenced; clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: 51.8% (14/27) participants lost to follow-up. It was unclear which group these lost participants belonged to. ITT analysis was not performed
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: not reported Age: not reported Sex: not reported Duration of complaint: not

Talarico Filho 1998

Methods	Single-blind, parallel group RCT for 12 weeks
Participants	 Brazil N = 132 (63 females and 69 males) Aged 1-14 years Inclusion criteria: children of both sexes with tinea capitis, aged 1-14 years, weighing ≥ 20 kg Exclusion criteria: use of any systemic antifungal therapy within 1 month or topical antifungal therapy within 2 weeks prior to the start of the study or both; conditions that could interfere with gastrointestinal absorption of terbinafine; confirmed liver/renal impairment, haematological disorders; radiotherapy, systemic therapy with cytostatic or immunosuppressive drugs, or therapy with antibacterial,

Talarico Filho 1998 (Continued)

	 antiviral or antihelmintic drugs, either currently or during the 2 weeks preceding the beginning of the study Fungi isolated <i>T. tonsurans</i>: terbinafine for 1 week: 88.6% (3/35); terbinafine for 2 weeks: 18.5% (7/38); terbinafine for 4 weeks: 26.5% (9/34) <i>T. mentagrophytes</i>: terbinafine for 1 week: 2.8% (1/35); terbinafine for 4 weeks: 5.9% (2/34) <i>M. canis</i>: terbinafine for 1 week: 77.1% (27/35); terbinafine for 2 weeks: 73. 3% (28/38); terbinafine for 4 weeks: 55.9% (19/34) <i>T. rubrum</i>: terbinafine for 1 week: 8.6% (3/35); terbinafine for 2 weeks: 7. 9% (3/38); terbinafine for 4 weeks: 5.9% (2/34) <i>T. schoenleini</i>: terbinafine for 1 week: 2.8% (1/35); terbinafine for 4 weeks: 2.9% (1/34) <i>M. gypseum</i>: terbinafine for 4 weeks: 2.9% (1/34)
Interventions	 Group 1: terbinafine 10 to 20 kg: 62.5 mg/d; 20 to 40 kg: 125 mg/d; > 40 kg: 250 mg/d once daily for 1 week plus 3 weeks of placebo (N = 42) Group 2: terbinafine same dose for 2 weeks plus 2 weeks of placebo (N = 44) Group 3: terbinafine same dose for 4 weeks same dose (N = 46) No co-treatment
Outcomes	 The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeks The frequency and type of adverse events The proportion of participants with clinical cure only at 12 weeks Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence
Notes	Funding: Sandoz (terbinafine)

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: Only participants blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated. The outcomes were likely to be influenced if the clinicians were not blinded
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were not blinded.

Talarico Filho 1998 (Continued)

Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: 18.2% (24/132) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 6 were in the terbinafine for 1 week group, 6 were in the terbinafine for 2 weeks group, and 12 were in the terbinafine for 4 weeks group. ITT analyses were performed. The reasons for drop-outs were not clear
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability Severity of infection: studied but not shown Age: terbinafine for 1 week: 6.5 years; terbinafine for 2 weeks: 6.5 years; terbinafine for 4 weeks: 6.1 years Sex: terbinafine for 1 week: males 26, females 16; terbinafine for 2 weeks: males 17, females 27; terbinafine for 4 weeks: males 26, females 20 Duration of complaint: studied

Tanz 1985

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 6 weeks
Participants	 Chicago (USA) N = 22 Inclusion criteria: children 2-16 years old were eligible if they had clinically diagnosed or mycologically proven tinea capitis Exclusion criteria: those that had received systemic antimycotic therapy within 1 month of enrolment, if griseofulvin therapy was contraindicated; if they had a serious concurrent disease or a history of hepatitis; if they were taking warfarin-like anticoagulants or barbiturates, or if they were pregnant Fungi isolated <i>T. tonsurans</i>: 50% (11/22) <i>Scopulariopsis</i> spp. : 4.5% (1/22) Unidentified fungus: 4.5% (1/22)

Tanz 1985 (Continued)

Interventions	 Group 1: griseofulvin tablet, 500 mg/d, plus 'ketoconazole' placebo tablet (participants < 40 kg: half tablet) for 6 weeks (N = 12) Group 2: ketoconazole tablet, 200 mg/d, plus 'griseofulvin' placebo tablet (participants weighing < 40 kg: half tablet) for 6 weeks (N = 10) Co-treatment: antiseborrhoeic shampoo 	
Outcomes	 The frequency and type of adverse events Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence Mycological cure at 12 weeks One of the primary outcomes of interest in this review (complete cure rate) was not reported in this study 	
Notes	Funding: Janssen (ketoconazole)	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: 36.4% (8/22) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 3 were in the griseofulvin group, whereas 5 were in the ketoconazole group. ITT analysis was not performed
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability

• Severity of infection:	
(minimum score = 0, maximum score =	:
21): griseofulvin group: 9.3; ketoconazo	ole
group: 8.3	
• Age: griseofulvin group: 6.4;	
ketoconazole group: 5.7	
• Sex: (male: female): griseoful	vin
group: 0:7; ketoconazole group: 2:5	
• Duration of complaint: (wee	ks)
: griseofulvin group: 16.5; ketoconazole	2
group: 24	

Tanz 1988

Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 12 weeks
Participants	 Chicago (USA) N = 79 (65% female) 92% black Inclusion criteria: children aged 2-16 years old, with tinea capitis or mycologic evidence of dermatophyte infection of the scalp Exclusion criteria: participants receiving systemic antimycotic therapy within 30 days of the initial visit; if they had a history of porphyria, liver disease, or immunodeficiency; if they were pregnant or if they were receiving warfarin-like anticoagulants or barbiturates Fungi isolated <i>T. tonsurans</i>: 64% of the enrolled participants and 74% of the evaluable participants <i>M. canis</i>: 12% of the enrolled participants and 13% of evaluable participants
Interventions	 Group 1: griseofulvin (microsize) 250 mg tablet (10 to 20 mg/kg/d) plus 'ketoconazole' placebo tablet, single daily dose, for 12 weeks (N = 46) Group 2: ketoconazole 200 mg tablet (3.3 to 6.6 mg/kg/d) plus 'griseofulvin' placebo tablet in a single daily dose for 12 weeks (N = 33) Co-treatment: antiseborrhoeic shampoos
Outcomes	 The proportion of participants with complete cure at 12 weeks The frequency and type of adverse events The proportion of participants with clinical cure at 12 weeks Percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence Mycological cure at 12 weeks
Notes	Not much information given apart from the total cured results The enrolled : 79 were randomised, 46 were evaluable Funding: Janssen (ketoconazole)
Risk of bias	

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Comment: 39.2% (31/79) participants lost to follow-up. Among them, 20 were in the griseofulvin group, whereas 11 were in the ketoconazole group. ITT analysis was not performed
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: no Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability: taken into account but not reported There were no statistically significant differences between the groups in terms of age, sex, weight or duration of infection

Ungpakorn 2004

Participants • Thailand • N = 42	Methods	Triple-blind, parallel group RCT for 20 weeks
 Inclusion criteria: not to have received any topical or systemic antifungal therapy in the preceding 2 or 4 weeks, respectively Fungi isolated: <i>Microsporum</i> spp.: <i>M. ferrugineum</i> 50% (21/42) <i>M. canis</i> 47.6% (20/42) 	Participants	 N = 42 Inclusion criteria: not to have received any topical or systemic antifungal therapy in the preceding 2 or 4 weeks, respectively Fungi isolated: <i>Microsporum</i> spp.: <i>M. ferrugineum</i> 50% (21/42)

Ungpakorn 2004 (Continued)

	• M. gypseum 2.3% (81/42)
Interventions	 Group 1: oral terbinafine 10 to 20 kg: 62.5 mg/d; 20 to 40 kg: 125 mg/d; over 40 kg: 250 mg/d, in a pulsed regimen (N = 23) Group 2: oral terbinafine at double dose, in a similar pulsed regimen (N = 19)
Outcomes	 Proportion of participants with complete cure at 20 weeks Mycological cure at 20 weeks. One of the primary outcomes of interest in this review (adverse events) was not reported in this study
Notes	Funding: Institute of Dermatology Research Funds and Novartis (Thailand)

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: There was no information on the method of allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Participants and clinicians were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: Outcome assessors were blinded, but the method of blinding was not stated
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Comment: no drop-outs
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Comment: The publication reported find- ings on all outcomes listed in the Methods section
Other bias	Unclear risk	 Sample size calculation declared: yes Inclusion criteria: yes Exclusion criteria: yes Reporting of type of fungi involved: yes Baseline comparability: not mentioned

ITT: intention-to-treat; KOH: potassium hydroxide; RCT: randomised controlled trial.

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Ginsburg 1987	Excluded because this study evaluated the therapy for inflammatory lesions caused by tinea capitis. The main aim of this study was to analyse the treatment of kerions in tinea capitis, combining the tinea capitis treatment of griseofulvin plus intralesional corticosteroid to try to reduce the inflammation
Honig 1994	Excluded because this study evaluated the therapy for inflammatory lesions caused by tinea capitis. It combined griseofulvin for the tinea capitis with steroids to modulate the immune-mediated inflammation, hasten resolution of kerions and minimise scar formation
Hussain 1999	Excluded because this study evaluated the therapy for inflammatory lesions caused by tinea capitis. It combined griseofulvin treatment and griseofulvin treatment plus prednisolone, a glucocorticoid
Koumantaki-Mathioudaki 2005	Excluded because this study was not a RCT
Shemer 2013	Excluded because this study was not a RCT

RCT: randomised controlled trial.

Characteristics of studies awaiting assessment [ordered by study ID]

Pather 2006

Methods	Single-blinded, randomised controlled trial
Participants	64 children with tinea capitis aged 4-12 years randomised to 3 treatment groups. 5 participants lost to follow-up
Interventions	 Group 1: griseofulvin (10 mg/kg; daily dose for 6 weeks) Group 2: griseofulvin (50 mg/kg; 2 doses 1 month apart) Group 3: griseofulvin (50 mg/kg; weekly dose for 6 weeks)
Outcomes	Primary outcome: mycological cure rate at week 6 Secondary outcomes: clinical improvement according to clinical symptom score; mycological cure rate at month 6; the type and frequency of adverse events
Notes	-

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological	5	477	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.08 [0.94, 1.24]
cure				
1.1 Trichophyton infections	3	328	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.06 [0.98, 1.15]
1.2 Microsporum infections	1	21	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.45 [0.15, 1.35]
1.3 Mixed	2	128	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.24 [0.64, 2.42]
Trichophyton/Microsporum infections				
2 Primary outcome: adverse events	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2.1 Drug-related adverse events	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
3 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only	3		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
3.1 2-week terbinafine	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
3.2 4-week terbinafine	3		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
4 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence	4		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Comparison 2. Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in *Trichophyton* infections; medium treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological	1	1006	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.18 [0.74, 1.88]
cure 1.1 <i>T. tonsurans</i> infections	1	764	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.47 [1.22, 1.77]
	1	,		
1.2 T. violaceum infections	1	242	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.91 [0.68, 1.24]
2 Primary outcome: drug-related adverse events	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
3 Primary outcome: severe adverse events	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
4 Secondary outcomes: proportion of participants with clinical cure only	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
4.1 T. tonsurans infections	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Comparison 3. Terbinafine, medium- (6-8 weeks) and long-term (10-12 weeks) treatment versus griseofulvin in *Microsporum* infections; 10-16 weeks follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure	2		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.1 Medium terbinafine treatment duration (6-8 weeks)	2	334	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.68 [0.53, 0.86]
1.2 Long terbinafine treatment duration (10-12 weeks)	1	95	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.51 [0.34, 0.76]
2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only	2		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
2.1 Medium terbinafine treatment duration (6-8 weeks)	2	334	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.76 [0.63, 0.91]
2.2 Long terbinafine treatment duration (10-12 weeks)	1	95	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.69 [0.52, 0.92]

Comparison 4. Terbinafine, short-term versus long-term for treating *Trichophyton* and *Microsporum* infections; 12-20 weeks follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological	5		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
cure 1.1 1-2 weeks versus 4 weeks	4	552	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.73 [0.62, 0.86]
1.2 Medium term (6-8 weeks) versus long term (10-12 weeks)	1	135	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.45 [0.97, 2.17]
2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only	4		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
2.1 1-2 weeks versus 4 weeks	3	470	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.84 [0.67, 1.06]
2.2 Medium term (6-8 weeks) versus long term (10-12 weeks)	1	135	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.19 [0.90, 1.56]

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Comparison 5. Terbinafine standard dose versus double dose in Microsporum infections; 20 weeks follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Comparison 6. Itraconazole (6 and 2 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in *Trichophyton* and *Microsporum* infections

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure	2	134	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.92 [0.81, 1.05]
2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence	2		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Comparison 7. Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both 2 weeks) in Trichophyton infections

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure	2	160	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.93 [0.72, 1.19]
2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Comparison 8. Ketoconazole (2-26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (2 to 26 weeks) in *Trichophyton* infections; 12-26 weeks follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological	2		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
cure 1.1 Ketoconazole (12 weeks) versus griseofulvin (12 weeks) assessed at 12 weeks	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
1.2 Ketoconazole (up to 26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (up to 26 weeks) assessed at 26 weeks	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
1.3 Ketoconazole (12 weeks) versus griseofulvin (12 weeks)	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence	2		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Comparison 9. Fluconazole (2-6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological	3		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
cure 1.1 Short-term (2-4 weeks)	3	500	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.92 [0.81, 1.05]
fluconazole	5	300	Kisk Katio (IVI-F1, Kandolii, 55% CI)	0.92 [0.81, 1.09]
1.2 Medium-term (6 weeks) fluconazole	1	361	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.06 [0.77, 1.46]
2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Comparison 10. Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus terbinafine (2-3 weeks) in *Trichophyton* infections; 12 weeks follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
cure				

Comparison 11. Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2-3 weeks) in *Trichophyton* infections; 12 weeks follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Comparison 12. Fluconazole low dose versus higher dose (1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 mg/kg/d) in *Trichophyton* infections; 4 months follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
cure				
1.1 1.5 mg versus 3.0 mg	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
1.2 1.5 mg versus 6.0 mg	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
1.3 3.0 mg versus 6.0 mg	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.0 [0.0, 0.0]

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Comparison 13. Fluconazole 3 weeks versus 6 weeks; 10 weeks follow-up

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Analysis 1.1. Comparison I Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks follow-up, Outcome I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: I Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Weight	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl		H,Random,95 Cl
Trichophyton infections					
Haroon 1995	52/56	39/49	-	29.3 %	1.17 [0.99, 1.37]
Fuller 200 I	45/65	39/58	+	19.3 %	1.03 [0.81, 1.31]
Gupta 2001	47/50	46/50	-	37.5 %	1.02 [0.92, 1.14]
Subtotal (95% CI)	171	157	•	86.1 %	1.06 [0.98, 1.15]
Total events: 144 (Terbinafine), 124 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$; Ch	hi ² = 1.95, df = 2 (P =	= 0.38); l ² =0.0%			
Test for overall effect: Z = 1.3	88 (P = 0.17)				
2 <i>Microsporum</i> infections					
Fuller 200 I	3/11	6/10		1.5 %	0.45 [0.15, 1.35]
Subtotal (95% CI)	11	10		1.5 %	0.45 [0.15, 1.35]
Total events: 3 (Terbinafine), 6	6 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: not applicable					
Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.4$	12 (P = 0.16)				
3 Mixed Trichophyton/Mi	crosporum infections	5			
Memisoglu 1999	15/39	17/39		5.8 %	0.88 [0.52, 1.50]
C ceres-R os 2000	19/25	11/25		6.6 %	1.73 [1.05, 2.83]
Subtotal (95% CI)	64	64	-	12.4 %	1.24 [0.64, 2.42]
Total events: 34 (Terbinafine),	28 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.16$; C	$Chi^2 = 3.33, df = 1 (P$	= 0.07); l ² =70%			
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10		
			Favours griseofulvin Favours terbinafine		

(Continued . . .)

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine n/N	Griseofulvin n/N			Ratio M- m,95% CI		Weight	(Continued) Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95%
Test for overall effect: Z = 0.		1013			Ci.			<u> </u>
Total (95% CI)	246	231		•			100.0 %	1.08 [0.94, 1.24]
Total events: 181 (Terbinafin	e), 158 (Griseofulvin)							
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.01$;	Chi ² = 8.43, df = 5 (P	= 0.13); 12 = 41%						
Test for overall effect: $Z = I$.	.09 (P = 0.28)							
Test for subgroup differences	s: Chi ² = 2.54, df = 2 (I	$P = 0.28$), $ ^2 = 21\%$						
			0.1 0.2	0.5 I	2 5	10		
			Favours grised	ofulvin F	avours ter	binafine		

Analysis I.2. Comparison I Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Primary outcome: adverse events.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: I Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 2 Primary outcome: adverse events

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine n/N	Griseofulvin n/N	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl
Drug-related adverse events Fuller 2001	26/77	17/70		1.39 [0.83, 2.34]
			0.01 0.1 I I0 I00 Favours terbinafine Favours griseofulvin	

Analysis 1.3. Comparison I Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks follow-up, Outcome 3 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: I Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 3 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl	H,Random,95% Cl
I 2-week terbinafine				
Deng 2011	23/27	16/19	+	1.01 [0.79, 1.30]
2 4-week terbinafine				
Deng 2011	18/23	16/19	+	0.93 [0.70, 1.24]
Gupta 2001	20/50	35/50	-	0.57 [0.39, 0.84]
Khan 2011	42/60	33/60	+	1.27 [0.96, 1.69]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100	

Favours griseofulvin Favours terbinafine

Analysis I.4. Comparison I Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks follow-up, Outcome 4 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: I Terbinafine (2-4 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6-8 weeks); short treatment duration; 6-24 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 4 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl	H,Random,95% Cl
Deng 2011	0/50	1/19		0.13 [0.01, 3.08]
Fuller 200 I	37/103	26/107	+	1.48 [0.97, 2.26]
Gupta 2001	2/50	4/50		0.50 [0.10, 2.61]
Memisoglu 1999	4/39	7/39		0.57 [0.18, 1.80]
			0.005 0.1 1 10 200	

Favours terbinafine Favours griseofulvin

Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Weight	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl		H,Random,95% Cl
T. tonsurans infections					
Elewski 2008	264/507	91/257	-	53.3 %	1.47 [1.22, 1.77]
Subtotal (95% CI)	507	257	•	53.3 %	1.47 [1.22, 1.77]
Total events: 264 (Terbinafine), 91 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: not applicable					
Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.0$	08 (P = 0.000044)				
2 T. violaceum infections					
Elewski 2008	66/160	37/82	•	46.7 %	0.91 [0.68, 1.24]
Subtotal (95% CI)	160	82	+	46. 7 %	0.91 [0.68, 1.24]
Total events: 66 (Terbinafine),	37 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: not applicable					
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.5$	58 (P = 0.56)				
Total (95% CI)	667	339	+	100.0 %	1.18 [0.74, 1.88]
Total events: 330 (Terbinafine), 128 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.10$; (Chi ² = 6.95, df = 1 (P	= 0.01); I ² =86%			
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.6$	59 (P = 0.49)				
Test for subgroup differences:	$Chi^2 = 6.92, df = 1$ (P = 0.01), I ² =86%			

0.02 0.1 1 10 50

Favours griseofulvin Favours terbinafine

Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Primary outcome: drug-related adverse events.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 2 Primary outcome: drug-related adverse events

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine n/N	Griseofulvin n/N	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl
Elewski 2008	96/1042	42/507	+	1.11 [0.79, 1.57]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100	
			Favours terbinafine Favours griseofulvin	

Analysis 2.3. Comparison 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up, Outcome 3 Primary outcome: severe adverse events.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 3 Primary outcome: severe adverse events

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95%	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95%
	n/N	n/N	Cl	Cl
Elewski 2008	6/1042	3/507		0.97 [0.24, 3.88]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100	

Favours terbinafine Favours griseofulvin

Analysis 2.4. Comparison 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up, Outcome 4 Secondary outcomes: proportion of participants with clinical cure only.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 2 Terbinafine (6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; medium treatment duration; 10 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 4 Secondary outcomes: proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl	H,Random,95% Cl
T. tonsurans infections				
Elewski 2008	355/507	147/257	*	1.22 [1.09, 1.38]
2 T. <i>violaceum</i> infections				
Elewski 2008	104/160	53/82	-	1.01 [0.83, 1.22]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100	

Favours griseofulvin Favours terbinafine

Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Terbinafine, medium- (6-8 weeks) and long-term (10-12 weeks) treatment versus griseofulvin in Microsporum infections; 10-16 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 3 Terbinafine, medium- (6-8 weeks) and long-term (10-12 weeks) treatment versus griseofulvin in Microsporum infections; 10-16 weeks follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Weight	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl		H,Random,95% Cl
I Medium terbinafine treatm	ent duration (6-8 weel	<s)< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td></s)<>			
Elewski 2008	41/152	36/82		45.4 %	0.61 [0.43, 0.88]
Lipozencic 2002	36/70	21/30	-	54.6 %	0.73 [0.53, 1.02]
Subtotal (95% CI)	222	112	•	100.0 %	0.68 [0.53, 0.86]
Total events: 77 (Terbinafine)	, 57 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0; C	$hi^2 = 0.56, df = 1 (P =$	= 0.45); l ² =0.0%			
Test for overall effect: $Z = 3$.	16 (P = 0.0016)				
2 Long terbinafine treatment	duration (10-12 week	s)			
Lipozencic 2002	23/65	21/30		100.0 %	0.51 [0.34, 0.76]
Subtotal (95% CI)	65	30	•	100.0 %	0.51 [0.34, 0.76]
Total events: 23 (Terbinafine)	, 21 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: not applicable	2				
Test for overall effect: $Z = 3.2$	31 (P = 0.00092)				

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10

Favours griseofulvin Favours terbinafine

Analysis 3.2. Comparison 3 Terbinafine, medium- (6-8 weeks) and long-term (10-12 weeks) treatment versus griseofulvin in Microsporum infections; 10-16 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 3 Terbinafine, medium- (6-8 weeks) and long-term (10-12 weeks) treatment versus griseofulvin in Microsporum infections; 10-16 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only

Study or subgroup	Terbinafine	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Weight	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl		H,Random,95% Cl
I Medium terbinafine treatm	ent duration (6-8 weel	<s)< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td></s)<>			
Elewski 2008	60/152	47/82	-	45.2 %	0.69 [0.53, 0.90]
Lipozencic 2002	46/70	24/30	-	54.8 %	0.82 [0.64, 1.05]
Subtotal (95% CI)	222	112	•	100.0 %	0.76 [0.63, 0.91]
Total events: 106 (Terbinafine	e), 71 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$; C	$Chi^2 = 1.00, df = 1 (P = 1)$	= 0.32); I ² =0.0%			
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2$.	97 (P = 0.0030)				
2 Long terbinafine treatment	duration (10-12 week	s)			
Lipozencic 2002	36/65	24/30		100.0 %	0.69 [0.52, 0.92]
Subtotal (95% CI)	65	30	•	100.0 %	0.69 [0.52, 0.92]
Total events: 36 (Terbinafine)), 24 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: not applicable	e				
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2$.					

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10

Favours griseofulvin Favours terbinafine

Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Terbinafine, short-term versus long-term for treating Trichophyton and Microsporum infections; 12-20 weeks follow-up, Outcome I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 4 Terbinafine, short-term versus long-term for treating *Trichophyton* and *Microsporum* infections; 12-20 weeks follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	Shorter terbinafine	Longer terbinafine	Risk Ratio M-	Weight	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl		H,Random,95% Cl
-2 weeks versus 4 week	s				
Haroon 1996	57/104	38/57	-	31.1 %	0.82 [0.64, 1.06]
Kullavanijaya 1997	28/55	21/27		20.3 %	0.65 [0.47, 0.91]
Talarico Filho 1998	42/86	36/46	-	29.0 %	0.62 [0.48, 0.81]
Friedlander 2002	48/115	30/62		19.6 %	0.86 [0.62, 1.21]
Subtotal (95% CI)	360	192	•	100.0 %	0.73 [0.62, 0.86]
Total events: 175 (Shorter	terbinafine), 125 (Longer te	rbinafine)			
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.00$); Chi ² = 3.64, df = 3 (P = 0	0.30); I ² = I 8%			
Test for overall effect: Z =	3.83 (P = 0.00013)				
2 Medium term (6-8 weeks	s) versus long term (10-12 v	weeks)			
Lipozencic 2002	36/70	23/65		100.0 %	1.45 [0.97, 2.17]
Subtotal (95% CI)	70	65	•	100.0 %	1.45 [0.97, 2.17]
Total events: 36 (Shorter te	erbinafine), 23 (Longer terbi	nafine)			
Heterogeneity: not applicat	ble				
Test for overall effect: Z =	I.83 (P = 0.067)				
			<u> </u>		

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10 Favours longer Favours shorter

Analysis 4.2. Comparison 4 Terbinafine, short-term versus long-term for treating Trichophyton and Microsporum infections; 12-20 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 4 Terbinafine, short-term versus long-term for treating *Trichophyton* and *Microsporum* infections; 12-20 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only

Study or subgroup	shorter terbinafine	longer terbinafine	Risk Ratio M-	Weight	Risk Ratio M-	
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl		H,Random,95% Cl	
-2 weeks versus 4 week	s					
Haroon 1996	87/104	49/57	•	39.8 %	0.97 [0.85, .]	
Talarico Filho 1998	50/86	39/46	-	32.7 %	0.69 [0.55, 0.85]	
Friedlander 2002	58/115	36/62	-	27.6 %	0.87 [0.66, 1.15]	
Subtotal (95% CI)	305	165	•	100.0 %	0.84 [0.67, 1.06]	
,	terbinafine), 124 (longer terb 3; Chi ² = 7.58, df = 2 (P = 0 1.47 (P = 0.14)	,				
2 Medium term (6-8 weeks	s) versus long term (10-12 v	veeks)				
Lipozencic 2002	46/70	36/65		100.0 %	1.19 [0.90, 1.56]	
Subtotal (95% CI)	70	65	•	100.0 %	1.19 [0.90, 1.56]	
Total events: 46 (shorter te	erbinafine), 36 (longer terbin	afine)				
Heterogeneity: not applicab	ble					
Test for overall effect: $Z =$	1.21 (P = 0.22)					
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10			

Favours longer Favours shorter

Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5 Terbinafine standard dose versus double dose in Microsporum infections; 20 weeks follow-up, Outcome I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 5 Terbinafine standard dose versus double dose in *Microsporum* infections; 20 weeks follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	double dose n/N	standard dose n/N	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl
Ungpakorn 2004	13/19	4/23	+	1.12 [0.72, 1.76]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100	
			Favours standard Favours double	

Analysis 6.1. Comparison 6 Itraconazole (6 and 2 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton and Microsporum infections, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 6 Itraconazole (6 and 2 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton and Microsporum infections

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	itraconazole	griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95%	Weight	Risk Ratio M- H.Random,95%
	n/N	n/N	Cl		Cl
Gupta 2001	41/50	46/50	=	71.9 %	0.89 [0.76, 1.04]
L pez-G mez 1994	15/17	15/17	+	28.1 %	1.00 [0.78, 1.28]
Total (95% CI)	67	67	•	100.0 %	0.92 [0.81, 1.05]
Total events: 56 (itraconazol	e), 61 (griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$; ($Chi^2 = 0.6I, df = I (P =$	0.44); l ² =0.0%			
Test for overall effect: $Z = I$.25 (P = 0.21)				
Test for subgroup difference	s: Not applicable				
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10		

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10 Favours griseofulvin Favours itraconazole

Analysis 6.2. Comparison 6 Itraconazole (6 and 2 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton and Microsporum infections, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 6 Itraconazole (6 and 2 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton and Microsporum infections

Outcome: 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only



Analysis 6.3. Comparison 6 Itraconazole (6 and 2 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton and Microsporum infections, Outcome 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 6 Itraconazole (6 and 2 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks) in Trichophyton and Microsporum infections

Outcome: 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Study or subgroup	itraconazole	griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl	H,Random,95% Cl
Gupta 2001	4/50	4/50		1.00 [0.26, 3.78]
L pez-G mez 1994	1/18	2/17		0.47 [0.05, 4.74]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100	
			Favours itraconazole Favours griseofulv	in
Analysis 7.1. Comparison 7 Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both 2 weeks) in Trichophyton infections, Outcome | Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 7 Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both 2 weeks) in Trichophyton infections

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	itraconazole	terbinafine	Risk Ratio M-	Weight	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl		H,Random,95% Cl
Jahangir 1998	18/30	16/30	-	24.0 %	1.13 [0.72, 1.75]
Gupta 2001	41/50	47/50	-	76.0 %	0.87 [0.75, 1.01]
Total (95% CI)	80	80	+	100.0 %	0.93 [0.72, 1.19]
Total events: 59 (itracona	zole), 63 (terbinafine)				
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.1$	02; Chi ² = 1.54, df = 1 (P = 0.21); I ² =35%			
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 0.59 (P = 0.55)				
Test for subgroup differer	nces: Not applicable				
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10		

Favours terbinafine Favours itraconazole

Analysis 7.2. Comparison 7 Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both 2 weeks) in Trichophyton infections, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 7 Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both 2 weeks) in *Trichophyton* infections

Outcome: 2 Secondary outcome: clinical cure only

Study or subgroup	itraconazole	terbinafine	Risk Ratio M- H,Random <u>.</u> 95%	Risk Ratio M- H,Random_95%
	n/N	n/N	Cl	Cl
Gupta 2001	22/50	20/50		1.10 [0.69, 1.75]
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10	
			Favours terbinafine Favours itraconazole	

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Analysis 7.3. Comparison 7 Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both 2 weeks) in Trichophyton infections, Outcome 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 7 Itraconazole versus terbinafine (both 2 weeks) in Trichophyton infections

Outcome: 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Study or subgroup	itraconazole n/N	terbinafine n/N	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl
Gupta 2001	4/50	2/50		2.00 [0.38, 10.43]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100	
			Favours itraconazole Favours tervinafine	

Analysis 8.1. Comparison 8 Ketoconazole (2-26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (2 to 26 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12-26 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 8 Ketoconazole (2-26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (2 to 26 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12-26 weeks follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	Ketoconazole	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl	H,Random,95% Cl
Ketoconazole (2 weeks)	versus griseofulvin (12 weeks) a	ssessed at 12 weeks		
Gan 1987	25/34	27/28		0.76 [0.62, 0.94]
2 Ketoconazole (up to 26 v	weeks) versus griseofulvin (up to	26 weeks) assessed at 26 weeks		
Gan 1987	31/34	28/28	-+-	0.92 [0.81, 1.03]
3 Ketoconazole (12 weeks)	versus griseofulvin (12 weeks)			
Tanz 1988	16/33	25/46		0.89 [0.57, 1.39]
			0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2	
			Favours griseofulvin Favours ketoc	onazole

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Analysis 8.2. Comparison 8 Ketoconazole (2-26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (2 to 26 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12-26 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 8 Ketoconazole (2-26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (2 to 26 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12-26 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Study or subgroup	Ketoconazole	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl	H,Random,95% Cl
Mart nez-Roig 1988	8/8	4/5		1.26 [0.77, 2.05]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100	
			Favours griseofulvin Favours ketocona	zole

Analysis 8.3. Comparison 8 Ketoconazole (2-26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (2 to 26 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12-26 weeks follow-up, Outcome 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 8 Ketoconazole (2-26 weeks) versus griseofulvin (2 to 26 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12-26 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Study or subgroup	Ketoconazole	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M- H.Random,95%	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95%
	n/N	n/N	Cl	CI
Tanz 1985	3/10	5/12		0.72 [0.23, 2.30]
Tanz 1988	22/33	26/46	+	1.18 [0.83, 1.67]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours ketoconazole Favours griseofulvin	

Analysis 9.1. Comparison 9 Fluconazole (2-6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 9 Fluconazole (2-6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	Fluconazole	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M-	Weight	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl		H,Random,95% Cl
I Short-term (2-4 weeks) flu	conazole				
Dastghaib 2005	15/19	16/21	-	14.9 %	1.04 [0.74, 1.45]
Foster 2005	74/245	36/115	-	15.1 %	0.96 [0.69, 1.34]
Gupta 2001	41/50	46/50	=	70.1 %	0.89 [0.76, 1.04]
Subtotal (95% CI)	314	186	•	100.0 %	0.92 [0.81, 1.05]
Total events: 130 (Fluconazole	e), 98 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0; Cl	hi ² = 0.86, df = 2 (P =	0.65); l ² =0.0%			
Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.2$	23 (P = 0.22)				
2 Medium-term (6 weeks) flu	uconazole				
Foster 2005	84/246	37/115	+	100.0 %	1.06 [0.77, 1.46]
Subtotal (95% CI)	246	115	+	100.0 %	1.06 [0.77, 1.46]
Total events: 84 (Fluconazole)), 37 (Griseofulvin)				
Heterogeneity: not applicable	2				
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.3$	37 (P = 0.71)				
Test for subgroup differences:	$: Chi^2 = 0.65, df = 1$ (F	$P = 0.42$), $ ^2 = 0.0\%$			
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10		

0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10

Favours griseofulvin Favours fluconazole

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright 0 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Analysis 9.2. Comparison 9 Fluconazole (2-6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 9 Fluconazole (2-6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only

Study or subgroup	Fluconazole n/N	Griseofulvin n/N	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl
Gupta 2001	3/50	35/50		0.37 [0.22, 0.61]
			0.01 0.1 I 10 100 Favours griseofulvin Favours fluconazole	

Analysis 9.3. Comparison 9 Fluconazole (2-6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up, Outcome 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 9 Fluconazole (2-6 weeks) versus griseofulvin (6 weeks); 8-12 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Study or subgroup	Fluconazole	Griseofulvin	Risk Ratio M- H.Random,95%	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95%
	n/N	n/N	CI	Cl
Gupta 2001	4/50	4/50		1.00 [0.26, 3.78]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100	

Favours fluconazole Favours griseofulvin

Analysis 10.1. Comparison 10 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus terbinafine (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 10 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus terbinafine (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 weeks follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	fluconazole	terbinafine	Risk Ratio M- H.Random,95%	Weight	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95%
	n/N	n/N	Cl		CI
Gupta 2001	41/50	47/50			0.87 [0.75, 1.01]
			<u> </u>		
			0.1 0.2 0.5 I 2 5 IO		
			Favours terbinafine Favours fluconazole		

Analysis 11.1. Comparison 11 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 11 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 weeks follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	fluconazole	itraconazole	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95%	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95%
	n/N	n/N	Cl	CI
Gupta 2001	41/50	41/50	-	1.00 [0.83, 1.20]
			0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10	

Favours itraconazole Favours fluconazole

Analysis 11.2. Comparison 11 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 weeks follow-up, Outcome 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: || Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; | 2 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 2 Secondary outcome: proportion of participants with clinical cure only



Analysis 11.3. Comparison 11 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 weeks follow-up, Outcome 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 11 Fluconazole (2-3 weeks) versus itraconazole (2-3 weeks) in Trichophyton infections; 12 weeks follow-up

Outcome: 3 Secondary outcome: percentage of drop-outs as a surrogate for participant adherence

Study or subgroup	fluconazole n/N	itraconazole n/N	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl
Gupta 2001	4/50	4/50	+	1.00 [0.26, 3.78]
			0.01 0.1 I 10 100 Favours fluconazole Favours itraconazole	

Analysis 12.1. Comparison 12 Fluconazole low dose versus higher dose (1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 mg/kg/d) in Trichophyton infections; 4 months follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 12 Fluconazole low dose versus higher dose (1.5, 3.0 and 6.0 mg/kg/d) in Trichophyton infections; 4 months follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	high dose	low dose	Risk Ratio M-	Risk Ratio M-
	n/N	n/N	H,Random,95% Cl	H,Random,95% Cl
I I.5 mg versus 3.0 mg				
Solomon 1997	6/15	2/12		2.40 [0.59, 9.82]
2 1.5 mg versus 6.0 mg				
Solomon 1997	8/14	2/12		3.43 [0.89, 3. 5]
3 3.0 mg versus 6.0 mg				
Solomon 1997	8/14	6/15		1.43 [0.66, 3.08]
			0.005 0.1 1 10 200	
			Favours low dose Favours high dose	

Analysis 13.1. Comparison 13 Fluconazole 3 weeks versus 6 weeks; 10 weeks follow-up, Outcome 1 Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure.

Review: Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children

Comparison: 13 Fluconazole 3 weeks versus 6 weeks; 10 weeks follow-up

Outcome: I Primary outcome: complete cure, i.e. clinical and mycological cure

Study or subgroup	3 weeks	6 weeks n/N	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl	Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl
Foster 2005	74/245	84/246	+	0.88 [0.68, 1.14]
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100	
			Favours 6 weeks regimen Favours 3 weeks regi	imen

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

APPENDICES

Appendix I. Cochrane Skin Group Specialized Register (CRS) search strategy

(tinea and (capitis or tonsurans)) or kerion or (ringworm near (hair or scalp or head))

Appendix 2. CENTRAL (Cochrane Library) search strategy

#1 MeSH descriptor: [Tinea Capitis] explode all trees
#2 tinea tonsurans:ti,ab,kw
#3 (ringworm near/3 (hair or scalp or head))
#4 tinea capitis:ti,ab,kw
#5 herpes tonsurans:ti,ab,kw
#6 kerion:ti,ab,kw
#7 {or #1-#6}
#8 MeSH descriptor: [Antifungal Agents] explode all trees
#9 MeSH descriptor: [Griseofulvin] explode all trees
#10 MeSH descriptor: [Itraconazole] explode all trees
#11 MeSH descriptor: [Fluconazole] explode all trees
#12 (griseofulvin or terbinafine or itraconazole or fluconazole):ti,ab,kw
#14 #7 and #13

Appendix 3. MEDLINE (Ovid) search strategy

1. tinea tonsurans.mp. 2. exp Tinea Capitis/ 3. (ringworm adj3 (hair or scalp or head)).mp. 4. tinea capitis.mp. 5. herpes tonsurans.mp. 6. kerion.mp. 7. or/1-6 8. Antifungal Agents/ 9. Griseofulvin/ 10. Itraconazole/ 11. Fluconazole/ 12. (griseofulvin or terbinafine or itraconazole or fluconazole).mp. 13. or/8-12 14. randomized controlled trial.pt. 15. controlled clinical trial.pt. 16. randomized.ab. 17. placebo.ab. 18. clinical trials as topic.sh. 19. randomly.ab. 20. trial.ti. 21. 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 22. exp animals/ not humans.sh. 23. 21 not 22 24. 7 and 13 and 23 [Lines 14-23: Cochrane Highly Sensitive Search Strategy for identifying randomized trials in MEDLINE: sensitivity- and precisionmaximizing version (2008 revision)]

Appendix 4. Embase (Ovid) search strategy

- 1. tinea capitis/
- 2. tinea tonsurans.mp.
- 3. (ringworm adj3 (head or hair or scalp)).mp.
- 4. tinea capitis.mp.
- 5. herpes tonsurans.mp.
- 6. kerion/
- 7. kerion.mp.
- 8. or/1-7
- 9. antifungal agent/
- 10. griseofulvin/
- 11. itraconazole/
- 12. fluconazole/
- 13. terbinafine/
- 14. (griseofulvin or terbinafine or itraconazole or fluconazole).mp.
- 15. or/9-14
- 16. crossover procedure.sh.
- 17. double-blind procedure.sh.
- 18. single-blind procedure.sh.
- 19. (crossover\$ or cross over\$).tw.
- 20. placebo\$.tw.
- 21. (doubl\$ adj blind\$).tw.
- 22. allocat\$.tw.
- 23. trial.ti.
- 24. randomized controlled trial.sh.
- 25. random\$.tw.
- 26. or/16-25
- 27. exp animal/ or exp invertebrate/ or animal experiment/ or animal model/ or animal tissue/ or animal cell/ or nonhuman/
- 28. human/ or normal human/
- 29. 27 and 28
- 30. 27 not 29
- 31. 26 not 30
- 32. 8 and 15 and 31

Appendix 5. LILACS search strategy

((tinea or tina) and (capitis or tonsurans or tonsurante)) or kerion or querion or (ringworm near (hair or scalp or head)) These terms were combined with the Controlled clinical trials topic-specific query filter in the LILACS database.

Appendix 6. CINAHL (EBSCO) search strategy

S1 TI ((tinea and (capitis or tonsurans)) or kerion or (ringworm near3 (hair or scalp or head))) OR AB ((tinea and (capitis or tonsurans)) or kerion or (ringworm near3 (hair or scalp or head)))
S2 (MH "Clinical Trials+")
S3 PT clinical trial
S4 TX (clinic* n1 trial*)
S5 (MU "Pp l = A finantial")

- S5 (MH "Random Assignment")
- S6 TX random* allocat*
- S7 TX placebo*
- S8 (MH "Placebos")
- S9 (MH "Quantitative Studies")

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright 0 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

S10 TX allocat* random*
S11 "randomi#ed control* trial*"
S12 TX ((singl* n1 blind*) or (singl* n1 mask*)) or TX ((doubl* n1 blind*) or (doubl* n1 mask*)) or TX ((tripl* n1 blind*) or (tripl* n1 mask*))
S13 S2 or S3 or S4 or S5 or S6 or S7 or S8 or S9 or S10 or S11 or S12
S14 S1 AND S13
[Lines S2-S13 are the SIGN filter for RCTs adapted for CINAHL via EBSCO].

Appendix 7. Trials registers search strategy

((tinea or tina) and (capitis or tonsurans or tonsurante)) or kerion or querion or (ringworm and (hair or scalp or head))

WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 23 November 2015.

Date	Event	Description
4 May 2016	New search has been performed	We included 4 new randomised controlled trials in this up- date, which changed some of the main results
4 May 2016	New citation required and conclusions have changed	The conclusions of the previous version of the review have been altered

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 1, 2004 Review first published: Issue 4, 2007

Date	Event	Description
21 July 2008	Amended	Converted to new review format
22 August 2007	New citation required and conclusions have changed	Substantive amendment
30 May 2007	New search has been performed	Minor update

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

XC and XJ are joint first authors as they contributed equally to this review.

MZ was the contact person with the editorial base.

XC, MY, XJ, XH, SX and MZ co-ordinated contributions from the co-authors and wrote the final draft of the review.

XC, MY and XH screened papers against eligibility criteria.

XC, MZ and MY appraised the quality of papers.

XC and MY extracted data for the review and sought additional information about papers.

MY and XC entered data into RevMan.

MY and XC analysed and interpreted data.

UG worked on the 'Methods' sections.

UG, XC, and MY drafted the clinical sections of the background and responded to the clinical comments of the referees.

MY, XC, and MZ responded to the methodology and statistics comments of the referees.

XL was the consumer co-author and checked the review for readability and clarity, as well as ensuring outcomes are relevant to consumers.

MZ is the guarantor of the update.

CB worked with the authors after the first draft was produced and peer reviewed, to produce the final version of the review that was submitted for publication.

Disclaimer

This project was supported by the National Institute for Health Research, via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the Cochrane Skin Group. The views and opinions expressed therein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Systematic Reviews Programme, NIHR, NHS or the Department of Health.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

XC: none known. XJ: none known.

MY: none known.

UG: none known.

XL: none known.

XH: none known.

SX: none known.

MZ: none known.

CB: "I am the proprietor of Systematic Research Ltd and derive an income from my work as a freelance researcher. I was paid for my contributions to this review.

I hold an honorary Chair at Coventry University; this does not constitute a competing interest in my view, but I make this declaration in the interested of transparency."

A clinical referee, who wishes to remain anonymous: "I received honoraries for study participation, as invited speaker, as well as travel grants for congress participation by Janssen."

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review) Copyright 0 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Spanish Society of Dermato-Epidemiology and Evidence-based Dermatology (SEDE-DBE) and Clínica Plató, Barcelona, Spain.

External sources

- Cochrane Child Health Field. Alberta Research Centre for Child Health Evidence, University of Alberta, Canada.
- The National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), UK.

The NIHR, UK, is the largest single funder of the Cochrane Skin Group.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

Background: We updated and revised the text in the 'Description of the intervention and 'How the intervention might work' sections of the Background.

Types of interventions: In the protocol we planned to look at doses of drugs. We omitted this from the review and update because the doses and formulations of drugs varied significantly across studies, and it was impossible and not clinically important to merge the relevant results from different studies.

Types of outcome measures: In the protocol, resolution of hair loss was one of the primary outcome measures of clinical cure. We omitted this from the original review and update, as hair loss is a clinical sign of tinea capitis, and the improvement of hair loss is usually considered a sign of our primary outcome of clinical cure.

We removed the secondary outcome from the protocol, "proportion of participants with partial clinical improvement" in this update because it is hard to define "partial clinical improvement".

Search methods: We changed the databases that we planned to search in the protocol, because of lack of access to some of the databases we originally planned to search and changes to standard search routines. We did not update the adverse events search undertaken in 2005.

Data collection and analysis: We updated the format of the review and used the pre-set subheadings available in Revman 2014. We organised our information about methods into the headings of: Measures of treatment effect; Unit of analysis issues; Dealing with missing data; Assessment of heterogeneity; Assessment of reporting biases; Data synthesis; Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity; and Sensitivity analysis.

Data synthesis: In the original protocol, we failed to specify the acceptable window for the timing of the primary outcome assessment. We decided during the course of the review to combine studies that recorded primary outcomes at between 12 to 20 weeks on the basis that these are the range of time periods that best reflect clinical decision-making in practice.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity: there were too few studies in each comparison or outcome to perform subgroup analysis as planned in the protocol.

Sensitivity analysis: In the protocol we planned to conduct sensitivity analyses but there too few studies in each comparison or outcome to perform sensitivity analyses.

In this update we have produced 'Summary of findings' tables for the primary outcomes/comparisons, which were not a requirement when the protocol and review were published.

In this update, we modified the 'Risk of bias' tables for all included studies based on the new Cochrane 'Risk of bias' assessment tool and included details of how we assessed risk of bias in the 'Methods' section.

We modified our methods for analysing cross-over trials and trials with more than one treatment arm. We did not consider internally controlled trials, such as those with cross-over and within-participant designs, because even with a washout period, they are inappropriate designs for systemic treatment (because effects of antifungal therapy may endure over the washout period as most patients would

Systemic antifungal therapy for tinea capitis in children (Review)

Copyright © 2016 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

experience a cure or at least some improvement in the first period of a cross-over study). For RCTs with multiple intervention groups, we combined groups to a single pair-wise comparison as recommended by Cochrane (Higgins 2011).

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Antifungal Agents [*therapeutic use]; Fluconazole [therapeutic use]; Griseofulvin [therapeutic use]; Itraconazole [therapeutic use]; Naphthalenes [therapeutic use]; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic; Tinea Capitis [*drug therapy]

MeSH check words

Child; Humans